

Adaptation of *Staphylococcus aureus* to host redox environments

by:

Benjamin A.F. Christmas BSc (Hons), MRes

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Sheffield Faculty of Science

Department of Molecular Biology and Biotechnology

Submitted June 2018

Summary

The ability of *Staphylococcus aureus* to survive in the harsh environment of the mammalian host is central to its success as a pathogen. Understanding how *S. aureus* does this so successfully is central to improving treatment options. However, previous work has failed to adequately explore one of the key environmental factors *S. aureus* encounters. The redox potential of the environments *S. aureus* dwells in during an infection vary dramatically and this work set out to investigate how *S. aureus* adapts to these changes.

Continuous culture, transcriptomics, metabolomics and a transposon mutant library were utilised to gain a broad picture of how *S. aureus* responds to low redox potential environments. Furthermore, the role of hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) and sulfur metabolism were explored in detail, in order to improve understanding of how *S. aureus* survives in oxidative stress environments.

This work mapped the response of *S. aureus* to a low redox environment and highlighted the importance of redox as a signalling prompt. This work also upheld H₂S as a defence mechanism against oxidative stress and contributed to better understanding H₂S production, H₂S homeostasis and redox homeostasis in *S. aureus*.

These findings contribute to the understanding of how *S. aureus* is able to readily adapt to host environments. They also establish redox as a central consideration when investigating persistent *S. aureus* infections and they additionally contribute to knowledge of the mechanisms involved in *S. aureus* redox homeostasis.

Presentations and publications resulting from this work

CHRISTMAS, B.A.F., KNAFLER, H., MARU. K. & GREEN, J. 2015 (March). Understanding hydrogen sulfide: a potential mediator of antibiotic and oxidative stress resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. Poster presentation at the Society of General Microbiology (SGM) annual conference, Birmingham, United Kingdom.

CHRISTMAS, B.A.F., KNAFLER, H., MARU. K. & GREEN, J. 2015 (September). Hydrogen sulfide and reductive capacity in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Oral and poster presentation at the Staphylococcal Great Britain and Ireland (StaphGBI) conference, Reading, United Kingdom*.

CHRISTMAS, B.A.F., KNAFLER, H., ROLFE, M. D. & GREEN, J. 2016 (August). Response of intracellular *Staphylococcus aureus* to the redox environment of host cells. *Oral and poster presentation at the International Symposium on Staphylococci and Staphylococcal Infections (ISSSI), Seoul, South Korea.*

CHRISTMAS, B.A.F., ROLFE, M. D., KNAFLER, H., MARU, K. & GREEN, J. 2017. Adaptation of aerobic cultures of *Staphylococcus aureus* USA300 to reductive stress and implications for resistance to antimicrobials. *Manuscript in preparation*.

Acknowledgments

First of all, I would like to thank Jeff Green for all his encouragement and guidance throughout this PhD. He has been a great supervisor and I am very grateful for all the help he has given me over the last four years.

Similarly, I would like to thank everyone else who has aided me with this project including: Matt Rolfe, for being a great teacher who has joyfully shared his knowledge of all things microbiology; Harriet Knafler, Keya Maru and Jessica Sandy, for their contributions during short undergraduate projects; and all those in F10 and across MBB who have given me advice, lent me a hand or let me use their equipment.

I am also grateful for the funding received for this project from The University of Sheffield through the 2022 Futures program and the Florey Institute for Host-Pathogen Interactions.

And finally, I would like to thank my wonderful wife Hannah. Her support over the last few years has been invaluable; without her I am doubtful I would have made it to the end of this project with my sanity intact.

Abbreviations

AIP	Autoinducing peptide
AMP	Antimicrobial peptide
BHI	Brain heart infusion
BLAST	Basic local alignment search tool
bp	Base pair
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CA-MRSA	Community acquired – methicillin resistance <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i>
СС	Clonal complex
CDM	Chemically defined medium
CFU	Colony forming units
CHIPs	Chemotaxis inhibitory protein of staphylococci
Cm	Chloramphenicol
СоА	CoenzymeA
dH₂O	Distilled water
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTPs	Deoxyribonucleoside-5'-phosphate
DTT	Dithiothreitol
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid
Ery	Erythromycin
Fc	Crystallisable fragment domain of immunoglobulin molecules
FLIPr	Formyl peptide receptor-like 1 inhibitors protein
gDNA	Genomic DNA
Gen	Gentamicin
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GIZ	Growth inhibition zone
GSH	Glutathione
HA-MRSA	Hospital acquired – methicillin resistance Staphylococcus aureus
IL	Interleukin
IFN-γ	Interferon gamma
Kan	Kanamycin
LB	Lysogeny broth
Lin	Lincomycin
LMW	Low molecular weight
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
min	Minutes
MIC	Minimum inhibitory concentration
MRSA	Methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus
MSCRAMM	Microbial surface components recognising adhesive matrix molecules
MSSA	Methicillin sensitive Staphylococcus aureus
NARSA	Network on Antimicrobial Resistance in Staphylococcus aureus
NCBI	National Centre for Biotechnology Information
Neo	Neomycin
NETs	Neutrophil extracellular traps
NTML	Nebraska transposon mutant library
OD ₆₀₀	Optical density at 600nm wavelength

PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PBP	Penicillin binding protein
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
psi	pounds per square inch
PSM	Phenol soluble modulin
PVL	Panton-Valentine leukocidin
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
rpm	Revolutions per minute
SCIN	Staphylococcal complement inhibitor
SCVs	Small colony variants
SNPs	Single nucleotide polymorphisms
SSS	Scalded skin syndrome
SSTI	Skin and soft tissue infection
TAE	Tris-acetate EDTA
Tet	Tetracycline
Tn	Transposon
TSA	Tryptic soy agar
TSB	Tryptic soy broth
TSP	trimethylsilyl propanoic acid
TSS	Toxic shock syndrome
TSST-1	Toxic shock syndrome toxin – 1
VISA	Vancomycin intermediate Staphylococcus aureus
VRSA	Vancomycin resistant Staphylococcus aureus
v/v	Volume for volume
WT	Wildtype
w/v	Weight for volume

Contents

Summary	'i
Presentat	ions and publications resulting from this workiii
Acknowle	edgmentsv
Abbreviat	tionsvii
Contents.	ix
List of fig	uresxv
List of tab	ales vvii
Chapter 1	: Introduction1
1.1	The Staphylococci1
1.2	Staphylococcus aureus1
1.3	Clinical significance of <i>S. aureus</i>
1.4	Staphylococcus aureus metabolism and growth requirements
1.4.1	Oxygen
1.4.2	Carbon
1.4.3	Nitrogen
1.4.4	Amino acids5
1.4.5	Sulfur5
1.4.6	Metal ions6
1.4.7	Growth conditions9
1.5	Antibiotic resistant <i>S. aureus</i> 10
1.5.1	Do antibiotics induce bacterial cell death via a common mechanism?
1.6	Staphylococcus aureus infection prevention strategies15
1.6.1	Eradication15
1.6.2	Hand hygiene15
1.6.3	Immunisation15
1.7	Host immune response16
1.7.1	Innate immune response16
1.7.2	Adaptive immune response
1.8	Staphylococcus aureus virulence factors
1.8.1	Surface and pigments

1.8.2	Cytolytic toxins	. 23
1.8.3	Superantigens	. 24
1.8.4	Exoenzymes	. 25
1.8.5	Immune modulatory proteins	. 27
1.8.6	Regulation of virulence factors	. 28
1.9	Staphylococcus aureus immune evasion	. 30
1.9.1	Virulence factors	. 30
1.9.2	Biofilm formation	. 30
1.9.3	Survival in host phagosomes	. 31
1.9.4	Survival in host cytosol	. 32
1.10	Areas of investigation	. 33
Chapter 2	2: Materials and methods	35
2.1	Bacterial media	. 35
2.1.1	Rich media	. 35
2.1.2	Chemically defined medium (CDM)	. 36
2.2	Antibiotics	. 37
2.3	Buffers, solutions and concentrations	. 37
2.3.1	Phage Buffer	. 37
2.3.2	Tris base, acetic acid and EDTA (TAE) Buffer (50x)	. 37
2.3.3	Instagene matrix	. 38
2.3.4	QIAGEN buffers	. 38
2.3.5	Lysis buffer	. 38
2.3.6	Other stock solutions	. 38
2.4	Bacterial strains	. 39
2.4.1	Growth and storage	. 39
2.4.2	Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study	. 39
2.4.3	The Nebraska Transposon Mutant Library (NTML)	. 42
2.5	Bacterial cell density	. 42
2.5.1	Spectrophotometric measurement (OD ₆₀₀)	42
2.5.2	Direct cell counts (CFU ml ⁻¹)	. 42
2.6	DNA purification	43
2.6.1	Genomic DNA purification	43
2.6.2	Plasmid purification	. 44
2.6.3	PCR purification	. 44

2.7	DNA <i>in-vitro</i> manipulation techniques	45
2.7.	1 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	45
2.7.	2 Restriction endonuclease digestion	47
2.7.	3 DNA concentration	47
2.8	Transduction	47
2.8.	1 Preparation of phage lysate using bacteriophage Φ11	47
2.8.	2 Phage transduction using bacteriophage Φ11	47
2.9	Isolation of RNA	48
2.9.	1 Isolation of RNA from stored pellets	48
2.9.	2 RNA concentration	48
2.10	QRT-PCR	48
2.11	Transcriptomics	49
2.11	1.1 Microarray	49
2.11	1.2 Array design	49
2.11	1.3 Direct labelling of RNA	49
2.11	1.4 Hybridisation	50
2.11	1.5 Scanning	50
2.12	Data analysis	51
2.12	2.1 Gene expression	51
2.12	2.2 Significance	51
2.12	2.3 TFinfer	51
2.13	Protein	51
2.13	3.1 Protein isolation from stored pellets	51
2.13	3.2 Protein concentration	52
2.14	Growth curves	52
2.14	4.1 250ml conical flasks	52
2.14	4.2 96-well plates	52
2.15	Hydrogen sulfide (H ₂ S) detection	53
2.15	5.1 Lead acetate paper	53
2.15	5.2 Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) detection of H ₂ S	53
2.16	Growth inhibition zone (GIZ) assay	53
2.17	Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC)	54
2.17	7.1 25ml universals	54
2.17	7.2 96-well plate	54
2.18	Survival curves	55

2.1	19	Small colony variant (SCV) detection	55
	2.19.	1 Solid medium	55
	2.19.	2 Continuous culture	55
	2.19.	3 SCV stability assay	56
2.2	20	Continuous culture	56
	2.20.	1 Culture conditions	56
	2.20.	2 Direct measurements	56
	2.20.	3 Sampling	57
	2.20.	4 Addition of DTT	59
2.2	21	NMR spectroscopy	59
2.2	22	Lactate dehydrogenase assay	60
2.2	23	Oxygen electrode	60
	2.23.	1 Clark-type oxygen electrode	60
	2.23.	2 Sample preparation	60
	2.23.	3 Experimental procedure	61
Chap	oter 3	: Hydrogen sulfide: defence against ROS and antibiotics?	63
3.1	1	Introduction	63
	3.1.1	Hydrogen sulfide as a gasotransmitter	63
	3.1.2	Gasotransmitters and bacteria	63
	3.1.3	Hydrogen sulfide as a defence against oxidative stress in bacteria	64
	3.1.4	Hydrogen sulfide biosynthesis	64
	3.1.5	H ₂ S and cysteine metabolism in <i>S. aureus</i>	65
3.2	2	Aims	65
3.3	3	Results	66
	3.3.1	Effect of excess cysteine on growth and H_2S production	66
	3.3.2	Production of H_2S by <i>S. aureus</i> SH1000 and Je2	66
	3.3.3	Growth and resistance to H_2O_2 and gentamicin when grown in defined medium	
	with	either cysteine or sodium thiosulfate as the sole sulfur source	66
	3.3.4	Resistance to oxidative stress and antibiotics following the addition of sodium	
	hydro	osulfide (NaHS) as an external source of H_2S	69
	3.3.5	Cysteine metabolism mutants and production of H ₂ S	69
	3.3.6	Production of H_2S by <i>cysM</i> mutants measured using Fourier transform infrared	
	spect	roscopy (FT-IR)	73

3.3.7	Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of cysteine metabolism mutants fo	r
H_2O_2 a	nd gentamicin	73
3.3.8	Growth inhibition zone (GIZ) assays for investigating resistance of cysteine	
mutan	ts on solid medium	73
3.4 D	iscussion	79
3.4.1	Future work	81
Chapter 4:	The response of <i>S. aureus</i> to a sudden reduction in redox potentia	I 83
4.1 Ir	ntroduction	83
4.1.1	Intracellular S. aureus	83
4.1.2	The intracellular life style	83
4.1.3	Intracellular S. aureus gene expression	84
4.1.4	Small colony variants	85
4.1.5	Redox potential	85
4.1.6	Continuous culture	86
4.2 A	ims	87
4.3 R	esults	88
4.3.1	Continuous culture and sudden redox shift experiment design	88
4.3.2	Sudden redox shift and respiration	93
4.3.3	Sudden redox shift and SCVs	96
4.3.4	Sudden redox shift and extracellular metabolite production	96
4.3.5	Sudden redox shift transcriptomics and gene regulation	102
4.3.6	Transcriptional regulators (TFinfer)	102
4.3.7	Global transcriptional reprogramming	111
4.4 D	liscussion	114
4.4.1	Future work	118
Chapter 5:	Identification of <i>S. aureus</i> genes related to redox response	121
5.1 Ir	ntroduction	121
5.1.1	Growth in low redox environment	121
5.1.2	Sulfur metabolism	121
5.1.3	Hydrogen sulfide production	121
5.1.4	The Nebraska Transposon Mutant Library (NTML)	122
5.2 A	ims	123
5.3 R	esults	124
5.3.1	H ₂ S production NTML screen	124

5.3.2	Growth in a low redox potential environment - NTML screen	131
5.3.3	Second round screen - DTT MIC	131
5.3.4	Sulfur sources	142
5.3.5	Growth of <i>S. aureus</i> with different sole sulfur sources	145
5.3.6	S-methyl L-cysteine as a sole sulfur source – NTML screen	145
5.3.7	Second round screen – growth curves with S-methyl L-cysteine or L-cys	teine as
the s	ole sulfur source	148
5.4	Discussion	148
5.4.1	The NTML as a tool for researching redox homeostasis	148
5.4.2	Genes related to H_2S production	150
5.4.3	Investigating sulfur metabolism	150
5.4.4	Future work	152
Chapter 6	6: Final discussion	155
Chapter 6 6.1	Final discussion	155 155
Chapter 6 6.1 6.1.1	 Final discussion Discussion A love-hate relationship 	155 155 155
Chapter 6 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2	 Final discussion Discussion A love-hate relationship A changing environment 	155 155 155 155
Chapter 6 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3	 Final discussion Discussion A love-hate relationship A changing environment Oxidative stress 	155 155 155 155 156
Chapter 6 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4	 Final discussion Discussion A love-hate relationship A changing environment Oxidative stress Production of H₂S 	155 155 155 156 156
Chapter 6 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4 6.1.5	 Final discussion Discussion A love-hate relationship A changing environment Oxidative stress Production of H₂S Antibiotic resistance 	155 155 155 156 156 157
Chapter 6 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4 6.1.5 6.1.6	 Final discussion Discussion A love-hate relationship A changing environment Oxidative stress Production of H₂S Antibiotic resistance Persistent infections 	155 155 155 156 156 157 157
Chapter 6 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4 6.1.5 6.1.6 6.1.7	 Final discussion Discussion A love-hate relationship A changing environment Oxidative stress Production of H₂S Antibiotic resistance Persistent infections SCVs 	
Chapter 6 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4 6.1.5 6.1.6 6.1.7 6.2	 Final discussion Discussion A love-hate relationship A changing environment Oxidative stress Production of H₂S Antibiotic resistance Persistent infections SCVs 	
Chapter 6 6.1 6.1.1 6.1.2 6.1.3 6.1.4 6.1.5 6.1.6 6.1.7 6.2 6.3	 Final discussion Discussion A love-hate relationship A changing environment Oxidative stress Production of H₂S Antibiotic resistance Persistent infections SCVs Future directions of study Final considerations 	

List of figures

Figure 1.1 Sulfur metabolism in <i>S. aureus</i> 7
Figure 1.1 Interaction of the complement system and S. aureus derived molecules19
Figure 1.2 The <i>agr</i> system in <i>S. aureus</i> 29
Figure 3.1 Growth and production of H_2S by <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 in the presence of excess
cysteine67
Figure 3.2 Production of H ₂ S by different strains of <i>S. aureus</i> 68
Figure 3.3 H_2S production and survival curves in CDM with cysteine and thiosulfate as
sole sulfur sources70
Figure 3.4 External addition of H_2S has an effect on antibiotic and peroxide resistance
Figure 3.5 Production of H_2S by cysteine metabolism mutants72
Figure 3.6 Production of H_2S by <i>E. coli</i> K12 and <i>cysM</i> mutant measured using FT-IR74
Figure 3.7 H_2O_2 and gentamicin MICs for cysteine metabolism mutants75
Figure 3.8 H_2O_2 and gentamicin GIZ assays for cysteine metabolism mutants76
Figure 3.9 H_2O_2 and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under
Figure 3.9 H ₂ O ₂ and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions
 Figure 3.9 H₂O₂ and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions
 Figure 3.9 H₂O₂ and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions
 Figure 3.9 H₂O₂ and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions
 Figure 3.9 H₂O₂ and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions
 Figure 3.9 H₂O₂ and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions
 Figure 3.9 H₂O₂ and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions
 Figure 3.9 H₂O₂ and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions
 Figure 3.9 H₂O₂ and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions
 Figure 3.9 H₂O₂ and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions
 Figure 3.9 H₂O₂ and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions
 Figure 3.9 H₂O₂ and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions
 Figure 3.9 H₂O₂ and gentamicin GIZ assays for <i>S. aureus</i> Je2 and <i>cysM</i> mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions

Figure 4.9 Example proton-NMR trace for <i>S. aureus</i> continuous culture samples grown
in CDM following the addition of DTT99
Figure 4.10 Measurement of DTT and metabolite concentration following the addition
of DTT to <i>S. aureus</i> continuous culture100
Figure 4.11 Lactate dehydrogenase activity following the addition of DTT to S. aureus
continuous culture101
Figure 4.12 Cluster analysis of transcriptomics data103
Figure 4.13 Relative concentrations of transcription factor proteins following addition
of DTT to <i>S. aureus</i> continuous culture calculated using TFinfer software105
Figure 4.14 Overview of transcriptomics following the addition of DTT to S. aureus
continuous culture106
Figure 4.15 Effect of DTT on expression of genes related to respiration115
Figure 5.1 Nebraska transposon mutant library (NTML) H_2S production screen125
Figure 5.2 Relative production of H_2S – second round screen
Figure 5.3 Growth of mutants identified during the second round H ₂ S production
screen
screen 129 Figure 5.4 Growth of S. aureus in the presence of DTT 132 Figure 5.5 Nebraska transposon mutant library (NTML) DTT resistance screen 133 Figure 5.6 DTT MIC – second round screen 135 Figure 5.7 Growth of mutants identified during the second round DTT screen 138 Figure 5.8 Position of SAUSA300_0432, mccAB and transposon mutants 139 Figure 5.9 Transcription of mccA and mccB in SAUSA300_0432 140 Figure 5.10 Production of H ₂ S by USA300_0432 141 Figure 5.11 Sulfur sources Biolog assay 143
screen129Figure 5.4 Growth of <i>S. aureus</i> in the presence of DTT132Figure 5.5 Nebraska transposon mutant library (NTML) DTT resistance screen133Figure 5.6 DTT MIC – second round screen135Figure 5.7 Growth of mutants identified during the second round DTT screen138Figure 5.8 Position of SAUSA300_0432, <i>mccAB</i> and transposon mutants139Figure 5.9 Transcription of <i>mccA</i> and <i>mccB</i> in SAUSA300_0432140Figure 5.10 Production of H2S by USA300_0432141Figure 5.11 Sulfur sources Biolog assay143Figure 5.12 Growth of <i>S. aureus</i> in CDM with different sole sulfur sources144
screen129Figure 5.4 Growth of S. aureus in the presence of DTT132Figure 5.5 Nebraska transposon mutant library (NTML) DTT resistance screen133Figure 5.6 DTT MIC – second round screen135Figure 5.7 Growth of mutants identified during the second round DTT screen138Figure 5.8 Position of SAUSA300_0432, mccAB and transposon mutants139Figure 5.9 Transcription of mccA and mccB in SAUSA300_0432140Figure 5.10 Production of H2S by USA300_0432141Figure 5.11 Sulfur sources Biolog assay143Figure 5.12 Growth of S. aureus in CDM with different sole sulfur sources144Figure 5.13 Nebraska transposon mutant library (NTML) S-methyl L-cysteine as a sole
screen 129 Figure 5.4 Growth of <i>S. aureus</i> in the presence of DTT. 132 Figure 5.5 Nebraska transposon mutant library (NTML) DTT resistance screen 133 Figure 5.6 DTT MIC – second round screen 135 Figure 5.7 Growth of mutants identified during the second round DTT screen 138 Figure 5.8 Position of SAUSA300_0432, mccAB and transposon mutants 139 Figure 5.9 Transcription of mccA and mccB in SAUSA300_0432 140 Figure 5.10 Production of H ₂ S by USA300_0432 141 Figure 5.11 Sulfur sources Biolog assay 143 Figure 5.12 Growth of S. aureus in CDM with different sole sulfur sources 144 Figure 5.13 Nebraska transposon mutant library (NTML) S-methyl L-cysteine as a sole sulfur source growth screen 146
screen 129 Figure 5.4 Growth of <i>S. aureus</i> in the presence of DTT. 132 Figure 5.5 Nebraska transposon mutant library (NTML) DTT resistance screen 133 Figure 5.6 DTT MIC – second round screen 135 Figure 5.7 Growth of mutants identified during the second round DTT screen 138 Figure 5.8 Position of SAUSA300_0432, mccAB and transposon mutants 139 Figure 5.9 Transcription of mccA and mccB in SAUSA300_0432 140 Figure 5.10 Production of H ₂ S by USA300_0432 141 Figure 5.11 Sulfur sources Biolog assay 143 Figure 5.12 Growth of S. aureus in CDM with different sole sulfur sources 144 Figure 5.13 Nebraska transposon mutant library (NTML) S-methyl L-cysteine as a sole sulfur source growth screen 146 Figure 5.14 Growth of S. aureus mutants with L-cysteine or S-methyl L-cysteine (SMC) 140
screen 129 Figure 5.4 Growth of S. aureus in the presence of DTT 132 Figure 5.5 Nebraska transposon mutant library (NTML) DTT resistance screen 133 Figure 5.6 DTT MIC – second round screen 135 Figure 5.7 Growth of mutants identified during the second round DTT screen 138 Figure 5.8 Position of SAUSA300_0432, mccAB and transposon mutants 139 Figure 5.9 Transcription of mccA and mccB in SAUSA300_0432 140 Figure 5.10 Production of H ₂ S by USA300_0432 141 Figure 5.11 Sulfur sources Biolog assay 143 Figure 5.12 Growth of S. aureus in CDM with different sole sulfur sources 144 Figure 5.13 Nebraska transposon mutant library (NTML) S-methyl L-cysteine as a sole sulfur source growth screen 146 Figure 5.14 Growth of S. aureus mutants with L-cysteine or S-methyl L-cysteine (SMC) as the sole sulfur source - second round screen 149

List of tables

Table 2.1 Chemically defined medium (CDM) recipe	36
Table 2.2 Antibiotic solutions	37
Table 2.3 Stock solutions and concentrations	38
Table 2.4 Staphylococcus aureus strains used in this study	39
Table 2.5 Escherichia coli strains used in this study	41
Table 2.6 Plasmids used in this study	41
Table 2.7 Primers used in this study	45
Table 4.1 TFinfer transcription factors matrix	.104
Table 4.2 Transcripts that were altered in response to the addition of dithiothreitol	to
aerobic respiratory steady-state cultures of <i>S. aureus</i> USA300	.107
Table 5.1 Significant results from H ₂ S screen	.126
Table 5.2 Significant results from the second round H_2S production screen	.128
Table 5.3 Significant results from NTML DTT resistance screen	.134
Table 5.4 Significant results from the second round DTT MIC screen	.136
Table 5.5 Significant results from NTML S-methyl L-cysteine as a sole sulfur source	
growth screen	.147

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 The Staphylococci

Members of the *Staphylococcus* genus are non-motile, non-spore forming Grampositive cocci in the phylum Firmicute and the order Bacillales. They have a diameter of around 0.5 – 1.5 µm and divide across different planes producing a clustered appearance (Tzagoloff and Novick, 1977). They were first described in the late 19th century having being isolated from human abscess pus and were ultimately given the name *Staphylococcus* (from the Greek for grape '*staphylos*' and seed or berry '*kokkos*') (Ogston, 1881, Ogston, 1882). Over 40 species or sub species have now been identified (Kloos and Bannerman, 1994).

Staphylococci are catalase-positive and oxidase-negative, key characteristics in distinguishing them from streptococci, and pathogenic strains are commonly identified by their production of coagulase (Chapman et al., 1934). Coagulase-negative Staphylococcal strains such as *Staphylococcus epidermidis* are common human commensals that tend to only cause disease in immunocompromised patients or through medical device-related infections (Otto, 2012). On the other hand, coagulase-positive strains cause more invasive disease and include the pathogenic *Staphylococcus intermedius* and *Staphylococcus hyicus* that cause disease in a range of animals including pigs, horses and pigeons. *Staphylococcus aureus* is also coagulase positive and is the primary human pathogen of the *Staphylococcus* genus. It generally causes disease in humans but can also cause disease in non-human animals including in cows, chickens and pigs; however, zoonosis of livestock associated strains of *S. aureus* into the human population is rare (Shepheard et al., 2013, Smith, 2015).

1.2 Staphylococcus aureus

Staphylococcus aureus is a common commensal that colonises the human nose. Around 30% of the adult population are colonised at any one time and this reservoir acts as a source for disease (von Eiff et al., 2001, Graham et al., 2006, Weidenmaier et al., 2012). It gets the name 'aureus' (derived from the Latin for gold '*aurum*') from the distinctive golden colour often seen when colonies are grown on solid medium. This pigmentation occasionally earns *S. aureus* the colloquial name 'golden staph' and is caused by the production of carotenoids including staphyloxanthin (Clauditz et al., 2006). The first *S. aureus* whole genome sequence was published in 2001 and it revealed that *S. aureus* has a genome of around 2.8 Mb coding for around 3000 genes (Kuroda et al., 2001).

1.3 Clinical significance of *S. aureus*

Staphylococcus aureus causes a variety of different diseases including superficial skin and soft tissue infections (SSTIs), as well as, more invasive osteomyelitis, endocarditis, necrotising pneumonia and sepsis (Lowy, 1998, Tong et al., 2015). These more severe disease manifestations often result from dissemination via the bloodstream, with bacteraemia mortality rates around 30% (Wyllie et al., 2006, Laupland et al., 2008) and over 10,000 cases reported in the UK each year (PHE, 2016).

Staphylococcus aureus can also cause severe disease through it's production of certain exotoxins: scaled skin syndrome (SSS), toxic shock syndrome (TSS) and severe *S. aureus* enterotoxin related food poisoning are all caused by *S. aureus* produced toxins. These instances of *S. aureus* related disease can induce a sudden onset of severe symptoms and be difficult to treat effectively (Balaban and Rasooly, 2000, Lina et al., 2004, Bukowski et al., 2010).

Staphylococcus aureus also causes infections around the site of implanted medical devices such as catheters, artificial heart valves, prosthetic joints and other orthopaedic implants; although such device-related infections are more commonly caused by *S. epidermidis*, those caused by *S. aureus* are harder to treat (Cunningham et al., 1996, Tong et al., 2015). Biofilm formation plays a crucial role in these device related infections allowing *S. aureus* to attach to surfaces and offering protection from the host immune system and antimicrobials (Archer et al., 2011).

Recurrent *S. aureus* infections are commonly observed, with *S. aureus* able to persist asymptomatically for months or even years following treatment before relapsing to cause a new infection (Greer et al., 1993, Proctor et al., 1995, Kipp et al., 2003). This chronic relapsing disease is most often associated with osteomyelitis but has also been observed during different disease manifestations, particularly SSTIs where around 30-50% of all *S. aureus* SSTIs have a recurrence 6 months after initial treatment (Kim et al., 2012, Fritz et al., 2013, Miller et al., 2015).

Until recently severe *S. aureus* infections were generally restricted to healthcare settings; however, in recent years there has been a shift toward strains able to cause severe disease in formerly healthy patients in the community (Moran et al., 2006, Johnson et al., 2007). This is linked to the rise of certain antibiotic resistant strains known as community acquired methicillin resistant *S. aureus* (CA-MRSA). There are several CA-MRSA lineages found across the world (McDougal et al., 2003, Limbago et al., 2009) with Clonal complex CC80 among the most prevalent in the UK (Elston and Barlow, 2009) and USA300 the most prevalent in the USA (Tenover et al., 2008).

1.4 Staphylococcus aureus metabolism and growth requirements

The principal ecological niche of *S. aureus* is the human nose (Miles, 1941, Weidenmaier et al., 2012). Around 30% of the healthy adult population are infected at any one time (Wertheim et al., 2005, Graham et al., 2006) with 20% of the population persistently infected, 30% intermittently infected and 50% non-carriers (Wertheim et al., 2005). This reservoir acts as a major source of opportunistic *S. aureus* infection (von Eiff et al., 2001). *Staphylococcus aureus* is also able to survive in the wide range of environments it encounters over the course of an infection.

1.4.1 Oxygen

In the aerobic environment of the human nose *S. aureus* can respire aerobically but as a facultative anaerobe it is also able to grow in low oxygen environments such as in the centre of an abscess (Park et al., 1992), inside a biofilm (Lone et al., 2015) or inside host bone marrow (Wilde et al., 2015). In these low oxygen environments *S. aureus* can respire using nitrate and nitrite as terminal electron acceptors or, in their absence, can switch to fermentative metabolism (Burke and Lascelles, 1975, Fuchs et al., 2007). Moreover, oxygen availability has been shown to have important implications for the expression of virulence factors (Yarwood and Schlievert, 2000, Fuchs et al., 2007).

1.4.2 Carbon

As a chemoheterotroph *S. aureus* requires organic carbon in order to maintain it's metabolism and growth. Glucose is the most abundant organic carbon source in human blood (Psychogios et al., 2011) and *S. aureus* has adaptive mechanisms to increase glucose uptake during the course of an infection (Vitko et al., 2016). High concentrations of blood glucose, such as those found in diabetic patients, increase the risk of developing an *S. aureus* infection and decrease the ability to clear it (Pomposelli et al., 1998, Rich and Lee, 2005, Dunyach-Remy et al., 2016). High glucose concentrations result in decreased metabolic carbon use via positive (CcpE) (Hartmann et al., 2013) and negative (CcpA) (Seidl et al., 2009) regulation of the Kreb's cycle and increased expression of virulence factors (Seidl et al., 2006, Ding et al., 2014).

However, there are many niches in which *S. aureus* must grow on a non-preferred carbon source such as when *S. aureus* is in the centre of an abscess contained by host fibrin deposits (Kelly and O'Neill, 2015). In these situations, *S. aureus* can utilise waste products such as lactate or host peptides and free amino acids (Spahich et al., 2016). *Staphylococcus aureus* produces a number of proteases, capable of degrading host proteins (Dubin, 2002), and has many oligopeptide permeases and free amino acid transporters (Yu et al., 2014a). In particular it has been found that glutamate catabolism, particularly resulting from the breakdown of proline, is important for *S. aureus* survival in the absence of glucose, as well as, the utilisation of pyruvate derived from amino acids such as alanine and serine (Halsey et al., 2017).

1.4.3 Nitrogen

Staphylococcus aureus can utilise nitrate or nitrite as electron acceptors (Burke and Lascelles, 1975). Nitrate and nitrate transport and metabolism genes are under the

regulation of the NreABC, with NreC as the response regulator (Kamps et al., 2004). NreC also derepresses the transcription of fermentative metabolism genes such as lactate dehydrogenase (Schlag et al., 2008).

1.4.4 Amino acids

Amino acid transport and biosynthesis are key in facilitating *S. aureus*'s adaptation to different environments and can be determining factors in the intensification or attenuation of an infection (Coulter et al., 1998, Chaffin et al., 2012, Krismer et al., 2014, Valentino et al., 2014). *Staphylococcus aureus* does have the biosynthetic pathways for all amino acids (Kuroda et al., 2001); however, *in vitro* studies have frequently found that various strains of *S. aureus* behave as auxotrophs with proline, arginine, valine and cysteine the most frequently required amino acids (Mah et al., 1967, Taylor and Holland, 1989).

1.4.5 Sulfur

Sulfur compounds are required for the formation of many vital bacterial functions including the production of amino acids and redox homeostasis molecules such as thioredoxin and glutathione, as well as, the formation of any protein containing an iron-sulfur cluster (Zeller and Klug, 2006, Ayala-Castro et al., 2008). Sulfur metabolism has also been linked with bacterial virulence and proposed as a target for novel antimicrobials. This link has been suggested following the observation of: repressed toxin synthesis under high sulfur concentration, the induction of genes related to sulfur metabolism following interaction with host epithelial cells, and the decrease in virulence of sulfur metabolism mutants (Bogdan et al., 2001, Bhave et al., 2007). *Staphylococcus aureus* has also been shown to be able to acquire sulfur from a number of different sulfur sources including cysteine, cystine, glutathione, thiosulfate, sulfite, taurine and homocysteine; however, it does not appear to be able to utilise methionine and sulfate (Lithgow et al., 2004, Soutourina et al., 2009). Utilisation of host derived sulfur sources is under the control of the cysteine master regulator CymR (Section 3.1) (Figure 1.1) (Soutourina et al., 2009).

1.4.6 Metal ions

1.4.6.1 Iron

Iron is crucial for bacterial survival as it is a cofactor in enzymes involved in vital functions such as respiration and DNA biosynthesis (Andrews et al., 2003). In humans iron is at its most concentrated in liver hepatocytes but there are also large quantities stored in red blood cells, in the form of haem, and in macrophages, in the form of ferritin. There are also relatively low concentrations of free iron in the blood, due to the binding of free iron to transferrin, this reduces the ability of bacterial cells to grow in the bloodstream (Hentze et al., 2004). There are also very low concentrations of iron in secreted fluids such as tears, saliva and milk, due to the production of lactoferrin (Schaible and Kaufmann, 2004).

In order for *S. aureus* to acquire iron in these low iron environments it deploys two main mechanisms: siderophore production and heme-iron acquisition. Siderophores are low molecular weight scavenger molecules that can bind iron and remove it from transferrins and then actively transport it back into the bacterial cell (Skaar et al., 2004, Park et al., 2005). The production of siderophores is essential for *S. aureus* survival in host blood and other environments where transferrins are the only source of iron (Dale et al., 2004, Park et al., 2005). In order to access the abundance of iron found inside erythrocytes *S. aureus* first breaks them open through the production of toxins. This releases heme, which is than actively transported into the bacterial cells, and degraded from haem to iron, by the Isd system (Mazmanian et al., 2003)

Staphylococcus aureus iron metabolism is regulated by Fur. In the presence of iron, Fur represses both siderophores and the Isd system (Dale et al., 2004, Cheung et al., 2009, Torres et al., 2010) and increases production of iron storage genes (Fillat, 2014). It also increases production of immunomodulatory proteins such as coagulase and decreases activity of virulence factors such as cytotoxins (Torres et al., 2010).



Figure 1.1 Sulfur metabolism in *S. aureus*

Regulation of sulfur metabolism and H₂S production in *S. aureus*. Genes that are targeted by the cysteine master regulator CymR are indicated in bold and orange. The yellow arrows indicate the production, diffusion or utilisation of hydrogen sulfide. Question marks indicate uncertainty. *cysE*, Serine O-acetyltransferase; *cysM*, OAS-thiol-lyase; *ggt*, γ -glutamyltranspeptidase; *metK*, methionine adenosyltransferase; *mtnN*, adenosylhomocysteine nucleosidase; *luxS*, S-ribosylhomocysteine lyase; *mccA*, cystathionine β -synthase; *mccB*, cystathionine γ -lyase; *metA*, homoserine acetyl-transferase; *metI*, cystathionine γ -synthase; *metC*, cystathionine β -lyase; *metE*, methionine synthase. H₂S, hydrogen sulfide; OAS, O-acetyl-serine; AdoMet, S-adenosyl-methionine; *SAH*, S-adenosyl-homocysteine; *SRH*, S-ribosyl-homocysteine. (Section 3.1) (Chang et al., 2006; Wolf et al., 2008 & Soutourina et al., 2009).

1.4.6.2 Copper

Copper has a number of key functions including as a cofactor in superoxide dismutase (Rensing and Grass, 2003) and it is also involved in redox reactions involved in electron transfer and oxygen transport (Linder and HazeghAzam, 1996). Copper is found incorporated as a cofactor in various different enzymes and electron transport proteins and is found in host blood in the form of ceruloplasmin (Linder and HazeghAzam, 1996). There are relatively high levels of copper in the lungs because of copper/zinc superoxide dismutase and because intracellular copper is associated with protein chaperones and chelators. *Staphylococcus aureus* is particularly prone to the toxicity caused by high concentrations of copper that disrupt respiration and damage DNA (Weaver et al., 2010).

1.4.6.3 Manganese

Manganese is another metal iron that is essential for both bacterial and mammalian cells. It is important for amino acid and carbohydrate metabolism and defence against oxidative stress (Jakubovics and Jenkinson, 2001). The two superoxide dismutase SodA and SodM require manganese in order to be able to detoxify superoxide to hydrogen peroxide, that can then be further detoxified to water by catalase (Clements et al., 1999, Valderas and Hart, 2001). *Staphylococcus aureus* acquires manganese through two transporters MntABC and MntH and is regulated by MntR and PerR (Horsburgh et al., 2001, Horsburgh et al., 2002b). Disruption of MntABC, MntH or MntR reduced intracellular survival in endothelial cells (Horsburgh et al., 2002b).

Hosts limit manganese supply by deploying a manganese transporter to phagosomes that actively removes manganese from phagosomes (Jabado et al., 2000), through the production of calprotectin in the cytoplasm and extracellular traps of neutrophils that bind and trap manganese, resulting in a limited supply of manganese particularly in abscesses (Steinbakk et al., 1990, Corbin et al., 2008, Urban et al., 2009, Kehl-Fie et al., 2011). No specific systems for overcoming calprotectin mediated limitation of manganese availability have been identified for *S. aureus* as yet; however, there is a system produced by gram-positive bacterium *Finegoldia magna*, called Protein L, that binds and disables calprotectin (Akerstrom and Bjorck, 2009). Given the ability of *S*. *aureus* to grow intracellularly in neutrophils (Kapral and Shayegani, 1959, Gresham et al., 2000, Surewaard et al., 2013) it is possible that *S. aureus* produces some form of anti-calprotectin protein similar to protein L.

1.4.6.4 Zinc

Zinc is also an essential metal component required for bacterial survival; around 5% of the bacterial proteome consists of zinc-binding proteins (Andreini et al., 2006). However, zinc concentrations must be carefully controlled as zinc can have toxic effects through binding of thiols and disrupting their functions. In order to maintain zinc concentrations *S. aureus* has both zinc exporters and zinc importers. ZntA and CadA appear to be zinc exporters, under the control of ZntR (Singh et al., 1999, Nucifora et al., 1989) and MreA and MreB appear to be zinc importers under the control of the Zur regulatory element; however, the role of Zur, MreA and MreB is not clear (Lindsay and Foster, 2001). Calprotectin, produced by neutrophils, also binds zinc reducing its availability in abscesses (Corbin et al., 2008).

1.4.7 Growth conditions

Staphylococcus aureus also has a high level of resistance to many different environmental conditions. For example, it can resist high salt concentrations, it is able to grow in solutions of up to 25% (w/v) NaCl (Parfentjev and Catelli, 1964), and it can grow at temperatures ranging from 7°C to 48.5°C, though it grows optimally at temperatures between 30°C and 37°C (Schmitt et al., 1990). It also has a high resistance to desiccation (Chaibenjawong and Foster, 2011) and can grow in pHs ranging from 4.0 – 10.0, though it grows optimally in pH 6.0 – pH 7.0 (Valero et al., 2009).

1.4.7.1 Redox

Staphylococcus aureus is able to grow in environments ranging widely in their redox potential from the highly oxidative environments of host phagosomes to the reduced environments of anaerobic abscesses or the host cytosol. In order to control its own internal redox potential *S. aureus* utilises low molecular weight (LMW) thiols coenzyme

A (CoA), cysteine and bacillithiol (Perera et al., 2015). Of these both cysteine and CoA are oxidised quickly leaving bacillithiol as the key molecule for maintaining redox homeostasis, fulfilling a similar role to that played by glutathione (GSH) in eukaryotes and Gram-negative bacteria, and mycothiol in Actinobacteria including *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Keire et al., 1992, Park and Imlay, 2003, Newton et al., 2008, Newton et al., 2009). However, bacillithiol concentration is around 10 times lower than GSH or mycothiol, suggesting that CoA, cysteine and bacillithiol play a more equal role in maintaining redox homeostasis in *S. aureus* (Perera et al., 2015). Furthermore, some strains including *S. aureus* strain NCTC 8325, and derivatives such as SH1000, do not produce bacillithiol (Newton et al., 2012). Growth is seemingly unaffected in rich medium but these strains are more sensitive to ROS (Pothera et al., 2013, Posada et al., 2014). On the other hand, it has been found that *S. aureus* can import host derived glutathione and that it can use it for oxidative stress resistance or as a source of cysteine (Dayaram et al., 2006, Potter et al., 2012, Pothera et al., 2013).

In order for bacillithiol to be an effective redox buffer it needs a system for reducing oxidised bacillithiol; however, little is currently known about this. It is known that glutathione is returned to a reduced state in eukaryotes and Gram-negative bacteria by glutathione disulfide reductase and that a similar system operates for mycothiol in Actinobacteria (Asnis, 1955, Patel and Blanchard, 1999). There are a number of options that have been suggested for bacillithiol but no definitive system has been identified (Rajkarnikar et al., 2013).

1.5 Antibiotic resistant *S. aureus*

The introduction of antibiotics drastically improved treatment outcomes for patients infected with *S. aureus*; following the discovery of penicillin (Fleming, 1929), and it's subsequent clinical introduction in the 1940's, *S. aureus* bacteraemia mortality rate dropped dramatically from around 70% to 25% (Rubin et al., 1999). However, penicillin resistant strains were observed almost immediately (Spink et al., 1944). Penicillin is a bactericidal antibiotic that consists of a highly reactive four-membered beta-lactam

structure that binds to and inhibits transpeptidase, the enzyme that catalyses the final step in cell wall synthesis. This leads to the cell wall becoming weaker as peptidoglycan is still being hydrolysed but not cross-linked; ultimately leading to cytolysis due to the imbalance of osmotic pressure (Yocum et al., 1980). The earliest strains of *S. aureus* able to resist penicillin did so through the production of beta-lactamases (Abraham and Chain, 1940). Beta-lactamases are enzymes that are able to hydrolyse the beta-lactam ring, denaturing it and preventing it from binding to transpeptidase (Jelsch et al., 1993). The prevalence of beta-lactamase producing strains of *S. aureus* increased dramatically as resistant strains were selected for by increasing antibiotic use (Wilson and Cockcroft, 1952).

In the 1960's new antibiotics related to penicillin were developed containing a modified beta-lactam ring (Waxman and Strominger, 1983). These new semi-synthetic beta-lactam antibiotics, methicillin, oxacillin and flucloxacillin, were able to kill the penicillin resistant S. aureus because they remained stable following exposure to the beta-lactamase enzyme that penicillin resistant S. aureus produced. However, resistance to these new antibiotics was discovered only two years after their first widespread clinical use (Jevons et al., 1961). This resistance is mediated by the chromosomally localised mecA gene (Chambers, 1997). The mecA gene is found as part of a genomic island known as staphylococcal cassette chromosome mec (SCCmec) and these can vary in size from 21 to 67 kb (Hiramatsu et al., 2001). The frequency of SCCmec elements transferring into S. aureus seems to be relatively low as there are only a limited number of clones responsible for epidemic MRSA (Kreiswirth et al., 1993). The mecA gene is responsible for the synthesis of a modified peptidoglycan cross-linking protein, penicillin binding protein 2a (PBP2a) (Utsui and Yokota, 1985). PBP2a replaces the other PBPs and, because of its low affinity for all beta-lactam antibiotics, allows the bacteria to resist high concentrations of these antibiotics (Brown and Reynolds, 1980). PBP2s has a modified active site compared to the other PBPs resulting in a greatly reduced binding affinity for beta-lactams. This allows the transpeptidation reaction to proceed even at high concentrations of beta-lactam antibiotics (Lim and Strynadka, 2002). Strains of S. aureus that have the mecA gene and produce this modified PBP are known as methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus

(MRSA). Despite this widespread resistance to beta-lactam antibiotics, oxacillin and flucloxacillin remain the first line of treatment against most methicillin sensitive *S. aureus* (MSSA) infections.

In order to treat infections caused by MRSA strains other antibiotics with different modes of action have to be used. These can include clindamycin, the aminoglycosides neomycin and gentamicin and the glycopeptide vancomycin (Foster, 2017). However, despite each of these antibiotics having a different mechanism of action, resistant strains of *S. aureus* have evolved for each.

Clindamycin is a lincosamide antibiotic and is the preferred agent of the macrolidelincosamide-streptogramin B (MLS_B) antibiotics used to treat *S. aureus* infections (Deotale et al., 2010). It is primarily a bacteriostatic antibiotic that inhibits protein synthesis through binding to the 50S ribosomal subunit (Wilson, 2014). Increased use of clindamycin has led to an increase in the prevalence of clindamycin resistance conferred through the methylation of the ribosomal target (Fiebelkorn et al., 2003).

Aminoglycosides, including neomycin and gentamicin, are bactericidal antibiotics that irreversibly bind the 30S subunit of the bacterial ribosome. This interrupts protein synthesis and leads to cell death (Hahn and Sarre, 1969, Yoshizawa et al., 1998). The most common mechanism conferring aminoglycoside resistance is the production of cellular enzymes, such as aminoglycoside acetyltransferases (AAC), aminoglycoside adenyltransferases (AAD) and aminoglycoside phosphotransferases (APH), that modify the aminoglycosides and thus prevent them from binding the 30S subunit of the bacterial ribosome (Freitas et al., 1999).

An effective alternative to the beta-lactam antibiotics is the glycopeptide vancomycin. Like the beta-lactam antibiotics glycopeptides are bactericidal and work by inhibiting cell wall production; unlike the beta-lactams they are unaffected by the modified PBP produced by MRSA because instead of binding PBP vancomycin binds the terminal Dalanyl-D-alanine moieties of the N-acetylmuramic acid and N-acetylglucosamine peptides that form the backbone strands of the bacterial cell wall. By binding to these peptides vancomycin prevents them from cross-linking (Reynolds, 1989). Unfortunately, following the increased usage of vancomycin in the 1980's resistant strains were discovered. First a vancomycin-insensitive *S. aureus* (VISA) strain was discovered in the late 1990's (Hiramatsu et al., 1997, Liu and Chambers, 2003) and then during the next decade a fully vancomycin-resistant *S. aureus* (VRSA) strain was detected (Sievert et al., 2008). The VRSA strains remain rare and they contain the transposon Tn*1546* acquired from *Enterococcus faecalis*. Tn*1546* causes the D-alanyl-D-alanine moieties to be replaced by D-alanyl-D-lactate that has a lower affinity for vancomycin (Gardete and Tomasz, 2014). The VISA strains, on the other hand, seem to be produced by a number of different mutations mostly in two component sensory regulatory systems involved in cell wall synthesis. It has been hypothesised that this causes a thicker cell wall and increased production of D-alanyl-D-alanine moieties (Howden et al., 2010).

Fortunately, there are other antibiotics that can be used as last line treatments against antibiotic resistant *S. aureus*. These include bactericidal antibiotic daptomycin and bacteriostatic antibiotic linezolid, which target bacterial membranes and protein synthesis respectively (Swaney et al., 1998, Pogliano et al., 2012). However, resistance to both of these has also been observed clinically (Marty et al., 2006, Morales et al., 2010), with the potential that resistance to these last line antibiotics could also become widespread in the not too distant future.

This pattern of waves of antibiotics being introduced followed by waves of antibiotic resistance has continued unabated since the introduction of the first antibiotics (Chambers and Deleo, 2009). However, the development of new antibiotics has slowed down dramatically since the golden age of the 1940's – 1960's (Coates et al., 2011). This has resulted in fears about returning to 'the dark age of medicine' where routine treatment of infections would be severely inhibited. This would then have catastrophic implications for other clinical interventions such as surgery and chemotherapy, and would have huge economic implications (O'Neil, 2014).

1.5.1 Do antibiotics induce bacterial cell death via a common mechanism?

Despite there being different modes of action identified for each class of antibiotics it has been suggested that the actual mode of killing for bactericidal antibiotics is ultimately through the generation of damaging oxidative species (Kohanski et al., 2007, Foti et al., 2012). The original work in this area used a fluorescent reporter dye, 3'-phydroxyphenyl fluorescein (HPF), to detect the formation of hydroxyl radicals inside bacteria that were being challenged with antibiotics. It was observed that HPF fluorescence increased in the presence of H_2O_2 and bactericidal antibiotics but not in the presence of bacteriostatic antibiotics (Kohanski et al., 2007). It was also observed that a reduction in HPF fluorescence occurred when cells were treated with either an iron chelator (2.2'-dipidyl) or a radical scavenger (thiourea) indicating the involvement of the Fenton reaction, which oxidises ferrous ions and forms damaging hydroxyl radicals (Kohanski et al., 2007). Therefore, it was hypothesised that the bactericidal antibiotics were disrupting the Kreb's cycle leading to the over stimulation of the electron transport chain and superoxide damage to iron-sulfur clusters. This would then release ferrous iron, which would be oxidised by the Fenton reaction and lead to hydroxyl radical formation. These hydroxyl radicals would then go on to damage DNA, proteins and lipids, ultimately leading to cell death (Dwyer et al., 2009). It has also been suggested that other radical species are involved (Dwyer et al., 2014).

However, the claim that this is a universal mechanism by which bactericidal antibiotics mediate bacterial killing has some potential flaws. These include the ability of bactericidal antibiotics to kill *Streptococcus pneumoniae* even though it lacks an electron transport chain (Musher, 1992, Hoskins et al., 2001), and the comparable efficiency of bactericidal antibiotics in treating both aerobic and anaerobic infections (Brook, 2011, Liu and Imlay, 2013). Other work has also demonstrated that there is no correlation between levels of reactive oxygen species in an individual cell and the probability that particular cell will die (Keren et al., 2013). Also changes in HPF florescence are potentially more closely related to changing bacterial cell morphology than the formation of hydroxyl radicals (Paulander et al., 2014). Thus, the theory of a universal mechanism of bactericidal antibiotic cell killing remains contentious. However, it could have wide implications for understanding *S. aureus* antibiotic defence mechanisms and for the development of new treatment options.

1.6 Staphylococcus aureus infection prevention strategies

1.6.1 Eradication

Because of the large proportion of the population with persistent asymptomatic colonisation full eradication of *S. aureus* is impractical. However, attempts have been made to reduce MRSA infections in healthcare settings through requiring the mandatory identification and decolonisation of asymptomatic MRSA carriers who have been admitted to hospital (Pearson et al., 2009). This has been shown to successfully reduce the number of reported MRSA bacteraemia cases but MSSA bacteraemia numbers remain relatively static (Pearson et al., 2009).

1.6.2 Hand hygiene

One of the most effective prevention strategies has been the improvement of hand hygiene in clinical settings. Simple campaigns to improve hand washing have had a positive effect on reducing both MRSA and MSSA infection rates (Stone et al., 2012).

1.6.3 Immunisation

Immunisation would be an invaluable tool in preventing *S. aureus* infection; however, an effective vaccine is yet to be developed and passive immunisation trials have also struggled to make sufficient headway (Daum and Spellberg, 2012, Fowler and Proctor, 2014). This is probably related to *S. aureus's* commensal lifestyle and the inability of hosts to produce protective immunity following exposure to *S. aureus* (van Belkum et al., 2009, David and Daum, 2010). There have been several *S. aureus* vaccine candidates that have reached various stages of clinical trial; so far, none of them have given fully satisfactory responses (Daum and Spellberg, 2012, Fowler and Proctor, 2014). One trial had particularly negative results with trial participants who had received vaccine candidate V710 being more likely to be colonised with MRSA and those that developed infections, being five times more likely to die than the control group (Fowler et al., 2013). This result came despite high antibody titres and positive

pre-clinical work. Pre-clinical vaccine work tends to place a large emphasis on the level of opsonisation and phagocytosis as indicators of a potentially successful vaccine (Fattom et al., 2004, Pozzi et al., 2012). However, *S. aureus* is known to be a successful intracellular pathogen that can survive and proliferate even inside professional phagocytes (Kapral and Shayegani, 1959, Gresham et al., 2000, Surewaard et al., 2013). This may help to explain why vaccine design focused on opsonisation is not producing successful results. A better understanding of the mechanisms underlying the interaction of *S. aureus* and host immunity, particularly intracellular survival of *S. aureus,* could help to inform better vaccine development in the future.

1.7 Host immune response

1.7.1 Innate immune response

1.7.1.1 Physical defences

The first line of defence against *S. aureus* infection is the physical barrier of the skin, *S. aureus*'s natural ecological niche is the human nose and it can readily colonise other moist areas (Weidenmaier et al., 2012); however, it generally needs to break past the skin barrier, either through a breakage, a hair follicle, the airways or via ingestion before it causes invasive disease. Not only is the skin a physical barrier to infection it is also a hostile desiccated environment with a high salt concentration, low pH and low nutrient availability. The skin also produces antibacterial molecules such as antimicrobial fatty acids, including lauric acid, capric acid, myristic acid and *cis*-6-hexadecenoic (Kelsey et al., 2006, Cartron et al., 2014), and antimicrobial peptides like cathelicidins and beta-defensins (Schauber and Gallo, 2008).

The other major physical defence encountered by *S. aureus* is the mucus membranes of the nasal cavity and the rest of the respiratory system. Here *S. aureus* is captured in mucus, which also contains AMPs such as beta-defensins, and is flushed away through the movement of cilia (Schutte and McCray, 2002).
1.7.1.2 Neutrophils

Once *S. aureus* is past the physical barriers and has entered host tissues bacterial products and cell damage induce the production of chemoattractants and cytokines that attract neutrophils to the site of infection (Spaan et al., 2013b). Neutrophils then kill or immobilise the bacteria either through phagocytosis and intracellular meditated killing or through the production of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). NETs can trap pathogens, thus preventing their dissemination and then damage the pathogens in association with AMPs (Brinkmann et al., 2004).

In order for neutrophils to phagocytose S. aureus cells the bacteria must first be opsonised by either complement or immunoglobulins. Then these opsonins are recognised by complement receptors (CRs) or Fc-receptors (FcRs), which are displayed on the surface of the neutrophils, and the bacteria are endocytosed (Amulic et al., 2012). Once S. aureus has been internalised it is contained within a phagosome and the neutrophil attempts to destroy the bacteria through the fusing of granules containing AMPs and antimicrobial enzymes such as lysozyme, as well as, producing damaging reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Hampton et al., 1998). ROS are formed through a chain of events starting with the action of NADPH-dependent oxidase reducing molecular oxygen into superoxide. Then the superoxide can be reduced further to form hydrogen peroxide. Then a number of different secondary reactions can produce other ROS. These include hypochlorous acid which is formed through the action of myeloperoxidase (MPO) (Babior, 1999, Klebanoff, 2005). Nitric oxide (NO) is also produced inside phagosomes, by inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), resulting in the disruption of respiration, DNA replication and central metabolism (Xie et al., 1992, Fang, 2004)

This neutrophil mediated immune response is crucial for successful clearance of *S. aureus* infection. This is made very clear with individuals who have reduced neutrophil counts or malfunctioning neutrophils who tend to have high rates of *S. aureus* infection (Curnutte et al., 1974, Chemaly et al., 2010).

1.7.1.3 Complement

One of the most primitive, but also most crucial, parts of the innate immune system is the complement system (Figure 1.2). The complement system can either opsonise bacteria inducing phagocytosis by neutrophils and other phagocytes, or it can kill some bacteria directly, particularly gram-negative bacteria. It consists of over 30 proteins and is activated in three different pathways: the lectin pathway, the alternative pathway and the classical pathway (Walport, 2001, Thiel, 2007). The lectin pathway activates through the binding of mannose binding lection (MBL) to mannose residues located on the surface of S. aureus or on the surfaces of other pathogens. This binding leads to the activation of MBL-associated serine protease (MASP) and the activation of C4 and C2 that, in turn, form C4b2a, a C3 convertase. The alternative pathway is activated through the interaction of various factors (B, D, H and I) with each other and C3b to form C3bBb, another C3 convertase. C3bBb can activate more C3 causing a positive loop to form. This loop is inhibited by surface factors on healthy mammalian cells. The classical pathway involves the binding of antibody-antigen complexes to C1q. There is then a cascade through from C1q, C1r and C1s to C2 and C4. This leads to the formation of C4b2a as in the lectin pathway (Walport, 2001, Thiel, 2007). Ultimately, all of the complement pathways meet at the formation of C3 convertases, enzyme complexes that catalyse the cleavage of protein C3 into C3a and C3b. C3a activates mast cells and C3b forms new convertases and amplifies the process of opsonisation or is processed to form iC3b. Then once C3b concentrations reach a certain level the convertases start to cleave C5 to C5a and C5b. C5a then acts as a chemoattractant for phagocytes and C5b starts to initiate lysis, but this only occurs when deposited on Gram-negative bacteria (Figure 1.2) (Rooijakkers et al., 2009).

1.7.1.4 Abscess formation

A key part of innate immune response is the formation of abscesses containing neutrophils and macrophages that degrade infected tissue. The liquefied degraded tissue, or pus, is then encased in fibrin in order to contain the infection and prevent

18





dissemination (Cheng et al., 2009). The abscess environment is mostly anaerobic and nutrient availability is limited, particularly of metal ions (Corbin et al., 2008); however, *S. aureus* is able to persist in this harsh environment through the production of certain surface proteins and metal scavenging proteins (Section 1.9) (Cheng et al., 2009).

1.7.2 Adaptive immune response

1.7.2.1 T-lymphocytes

The primary response to *S. aureus* infections is through the innate immune system but the adaptive immune system can assist the innate in clearing an *S. aureus* infection. The role of T-cells seems to be important in this process with patients with low CD4+ T cell counts, such as those with poorly controlled HIV, having higher rates of *S. aureus* SSTIs (Shadyab and Crum-Cianflone, 2012). T-cells play a key role in recruiting and activating phagocytes to the site of infection, facilitating antibody maturation and promoting destruction of bacteria in the phagosome through their production of IFN-γ (Bröker et al., 2016). The production of IL-17 also seems to be key in effective T-cell responses to *S. aureus* (Montgomery et al., 2014) and so in general T_H1 or T_H17 mediated responses seem to be the most effective against *S. aureus*.

1.7.2.2 B-lymphocytes

B-cells can produce antibodies that recognise various *S. aureus* surface structures and exoproteins. Binding of antibodies to the surface of a bacterium leads to mediated phagocytosis by phagocytic cells, whereas binding of antibodies to exotoxins or surface bound virulence factors inhibits function (Holtfreter et al., 2010). However, the effectiveness of antibodies in elucidating clearance of an *S. aureus* infection appears to be low with high anti-*S. aureus* antibody titres failing to be protective against recurrent *S. aureus* infection (Huang and Platt, 2003, Nguyen et al., 2005, Miller et al., 2007).

1.8 Staphylococcus aureus virulence factors

Staphylococcus aureus produces a wide range of virulence factors that facilitate adhesion to host tissue, immune modulation and immune evasion (Foster et al., 2014,

Otto, 2014, Li et al., 2015). These consist of surface and secreted factors and they have a wide range of functions and modes of action.

1.8.1 Surface and pigments

Staphylococcus aureus produces an array of surface based and pigment based virulence factors including carotenoid pigments, capsular polysaccharides and cell wall anchored (CWA) proteins that are attached to the peptidoglycan.

1.8.1.1 MSCRAMMs

The largest group of CWA proteins is the Microbial Surface Components Recognizing Adhesive Matrix Molecules (MSCRAMMs) that interact with host cells or host immune system factors. These include the two fibronectin-binding proteins (Fnbp) FnbpA and FnbpB. They facilitate binding to fibrinogen and elastin (Keane et al., 2007), as well as, fibronectin (Burke et al., 2011) where they facilitate host cell invasion into nonprofessional phagocytes via a β -zipper mechanism (Dziewanowska et al., 1999, Sinha et al., 2000).

The group also includes the Clumping factors (Clf) ClfA and ClfB that bind to fibrinogen (Deivanayagam et al., 2002, Walsh et al., 2008) and facilitate nasal colonisation via binding to the top layer of dead (desquamated) epithelial cells (Mulcahy et al., 2012). They also have an immune evasion role through the binding of ClpA with complement factor 1 resulting in the degradation of complement component 3b (C3b) (Figure 1.2) (Hair et al., 2008). There are also a number of Serine-aspartate repeat proteins (Sdr): SdrC, SdrD and SdrE that also have a role in nasal colonisation (Corrigan et al., 2009), though this is less well defined, and SdrE degrades C3b through interaction with complement factor H (Figure 1.2) (Sharp et al., 2012). Collagen adhesion protein (Cna) is another MSCRAMM that disrupts complement activation, this time through binding to complement protein C1q (Kang et al., 2013), as well as, facilitating binding to collagen rich tissue such as cartilage and bone (Figure 1.2) (Zong et al., 2005).

1.8.1.2 Protein A

Staphylococcal protein A (SpA) is another CWA protein found in all *S. aureus* strains and is often used for typing different strains. It is characterised by tandemly repeated three-helical bundles found at the N terminus (Deisenhofer, 1981) and it can bind to a number of different ligands. These include the Fc fragment of IgG (Deisenhofer, 1981) and the Fab fragment of IgM (Graille et al., 2000). This leads to the inhibition of opsonisation and subsequent phagocytosis by the hosts professional phagocytes (Section 1.7.1.2). It also acts as a B-cell superantigen resulting in the nonspecific activation of B-cells. SpA can also bind von Willebrand factor (vWF) and this seems to play an important role in *S. aureus* induced endocarditis (O'Seaghdha et al., 2006).

1.8.1.3 Iron-regulated surface proteins

The iron-regulated surface proteins (Isd) IsdA, IsdB and IsdH are all CWA proteins that are involved in transporting haem into bacterial cells, thus enabling survival of *S. aureus* in the low iron environments found inside hosts (Mazmanian et al., 2003, Grigg et al., 2010, Hammer and Skaar, 2011). They also appear to have other roles including adherence to host epithelial cells, resistance to bactericidal lipids and resistance to lactoferrin (a part of the innate immune system responsible for sequestering iron in secreted fluids such milk and saliva) (Clarke et al., 2007, Clarke and Foster, 2008, Zapotoczna et al., 2013).

1.8.1.4 Capsular polysaccharides

Many strains of *S. aureus* also produce capsular polysaccharides that enhance virulence through preventing complement recognition, impeding phagocytosis and promoting abscess formation, as well as, promoting colonisation and persistence on mucosal surfaces (O'Riordan and Lee, 2004).

1.8.1.5 Staphyloxanthin

Staphyloxanthin is the orange carotenoid that gives *S. aureus* its characteristic golden colour and offers resistance to oxidative stress and neutrophil killing (Clauditz et al., 2006).

22

1.8.2 Cytolytic toxins

1.8.2.1 Alpha toxin

Staphylococcus aureus produces a vast array of secreted cytolytic toxins that lyse red blood cells (haemolysins) and/or white blood cells (neurotoxins). Of these, α haemolysin, or alpha-toxin (hla), is the most extensively studied. It is a bi-component beta-barrel forming toxin that is lytic to red blood cells. It binds to ADAM10, a receptor on human epithelial cells, leading to the loss of epithelial barrier function; and it can even induce the apoptosis of monocytes, T-cells and B-cells, but not neutrophils (Valeva et al., 1997, Inoshima et al., 2011, Nygaard et al., 2012).

1.8.2.2 Beta toxin

β-Haemolysin, or beta toxin (hlb), which encodes a sphingomyelinase enzyme that breaks down sphingomyelin found in host cell membranes, is disrupted by a pathogenicity island in most virulent *S. aureus* strains and as such is not a very significant factor in contributing to the vast majority of severe *S. aureus* infections (Novick et al., 2001).

1.8.2.3 Leukocidins

Staphylococcus aureus secretes a number of leukocidins that are related to αhaemolysin, in that they are also bi-component beta-barrel forming toxins. These include: γ-haemolysin, or gamma-toxin (HIgA, HIgB and HIgC); Leukocidin DE (LukDE); Leukocidin AB (LukAB) and Panton-Valentine leucocidin (PVL).

PVL has gained attention through its association with CA-MRSA (Vandenesch et al., 2003); however, this association is far from clear (Otto, 2010). It binds to complement 5 receptor (C5r), found on neutrophils, other granulocytes, monocytes and dendritic cells, where it triggers a flow of cations and then lysis following the formation of a non-specific pore (Figure 1.2) (Loffler et al., 2010, Spaan et al., 2013a). PVL is also only secreted by strains that have been lysogenised with the bacteriophage containing the LukS-PV and LukF-PV genes (Kaneko et al., 1998).

Component HlgB and HlgC of gamma toxin are almost identical to the PVL LukF and LukS genes, respectively and so unsurprisingly it is also able to induce lysis in leukocytes (Cooney et al., 1993); however, unlike PVL, gamma toxin is found in almost all strains and, with the addition of HlgA, is able to induce lysis in red blood cells (Ferreras et al., 1998).

LukAB and LukDE both target different sets of leukocytes. LukAB binds cluster of differentiation molecule 11B (CC11b), a protein found on macrophages and monocytes, as well as, neutrophils, other granulocytes and NK cells (DuMont et al., 2013), and LukDE binds chemokine receptor type 5 (CCR5), a protein expressed on T-cells, macrophages and dendritic cells (Alonzo et al., 2013).

1.8.2.4 Delta toxin and PSMs

The last set of *S. aureus* associated cytolytic toxins that have been characterised are delta toxin and the related phenol-soluble modulins (PSMs). These consist of a group of small secreted peptides, that are produced by most *S. aureus* strains but that seem to play a particularly important role in CA-MRSA pathogenesis (Wang et al., 2007, Diep and Otto, 2008, Li et al., 2009). They have both hydrophobic and hydrophilic regions, with detergent like properties, and form short lived pores in a non-specific manner (Talbot et al., 2001). They also seem to play a crucial role in neutrophil lysis following phagocytosis (Geiger et al., 2012, Chatterjee et al., 2013, Surewaard et al., 2013).

1.8.3 Superantigens

Staphylococcus aureus is able to produce a number of superantigens that cause nonspecific activation of T-cells, through binding MHCII, leading to full scale T-cell activation and cytokine release (Balaban and Rasooly, 2000). These include toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 (TSST-1), that causes toxic shock syndrome (TSS), and a number of staphylococcal enterotoxins (SE-A,B,C,D,E,G,H,I,J and X), that are associated with causing TSS-like food poisoning (Lina et al., 2004). They are generally encoded on mobile genetic elements with different strains expressing different combinations of

24

superantigens (McCormick et al., 2001). They are resistant to high heat, acids and desiccation which makes their elimination from the food chain very difficult (McCormick et al., 2001). TSST-1 has a greater capacity to penetrate mucosal surfaces than the other *S. aureus* superantigens and this probably explains its particular association with menstrual TSS (Shands et al., 1980).

1.8.4 Exoenzymes

Staphylococcus aureus also produces a whole host of exoenzymes with various virulence roles. There is a link between secretion of these enzymes and pathogenic strains of *S. aureus* particularly CA-MRSA strains (Li et al., 2009).

1.8.4.1 Proteases

Staphylococcus aureus produces a number of major secreted proteases including a metalloprotease (aureolysin *aur*), two cysteine proteases (staphopain A (ScpA) and staphopain B SspB) and a selection of serine proteases: SspA, exfoliative toxins ETA and ETB and serine like proteases SpIABCDEF (Reed et al., 2001, Shaw et al., 2004, Bukowski et al., 2010). Of these, exfoliative toxins are the most clinically interesting as they are directly responsible for the symptoms associated with staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome (SSSS). Exfoliative toxins are serine proteases that specifically cleave desmosomal cadherins found in the superficial layers of the skin, leading to the widespread blister formation characteristic of SSSS (Bukowski et al., 2010).

Aureolysin is involved in immune evasion. It is able to cleave the antimicrobial peptide LL-37, found in lysosomes of macrophages, neutrophils and other granulocytes, and it can cleave complement C3, effectively reducing the complement meditated immune response (Figure 1.2) (Sieprawska-Lupa et al., 2004, Laarman et al., 2011). Furthermore, aureolysin is responsible for the activation of a serine protease SspA that subsequently activates cysteine proteases SspB and ScpA (Rice et al., 2001, Massimi et al., 2002, Nickerson et al., 2007). SspB and ScpA then go on to degrade fibrinogen, fibronectin and elastin fibres; this promotes the detachment of human keratinocytes, aiding entry of *S. aureus* past the host skin barrier (Nickerson et al., 2010). The exact function of the related *splABCDEFG* operon is less well defined, but there is some indication that it is involved in cleavage of certain proteins found on the surface of the human lung (Paharik et al., 2016, Stentzel et al., 2017).

1.8.4.2 Nucleases

Staphylococcus aureus also produces two extracellular nucleases, Nuc and Nuc2, that are vital in the modulation of biofilm formation and degrading host neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (Section 1.7.1.2) (Berends et al., 2010).

1.8.4.3 Lipases

Staphylococcus aureus produces two lipases, coded by *gehA* and *gehB* that can degrade host produced bactericidal lipids (Cadieux et al., 2014). This enables *S. aureus* to breakdown the lipids secreted onto human skin by the sebaceous glands.

1.8.4.4 Hyaluronidase

Staphylococcus aureus also produces a hyaluronidase (HysA) that is able to degrade hyaluronic acid, a high molecular weight polymer found in mammalian skin, bones, lungs and heart valves (Hynes and Walton, 2000, Ibberson et al., 2014). HysA role in breaking down the hyaluronic acid polymers is important in that it enables other secreted virulence factors to penetrate host tissues (Starr and Engleberg, 2006).

1.8.4.5 Staphylokinase

Staphylococcus aureus also secretes staphylokinase (SAK) that activates host plasminogen to form plasmin, leading to the degradation of blood clotting factors and thus facilitating the dissemination of *S. aureus* in the bloodstream. SAK also binds to host defensins and prevents them from carry out their function of disrupting bacterial cell walls (Jin et al., 2004, Bokarewa et al., 2006).

1.8.5 Immune modulatory proteins

1.8.5.1 Staphylococcal complement inhibitor (SCIN) and Chemotaxis inhibitory protein of S. aureus (CHIPS)

Staphylococcus aureus also produces a number of other virulence factors that all interact with the host immune system but do not fit into the categories listed above. Two of these factors, Staphylococcal complement inhibitor (SCIN) and Chemotaxis inhibitory protein of *S. aureus* (CHIPS), are part of an innate immune evasion cluster, along with *sak* and enterotoxin A, located on a beta beta-haemolysin-converting bacteriophage (van Wamel et al., 2006). They are both small excreted proteins that are co-expressed during the early exponential phase and modulate different aspects of the early host immune response (Rooijakkers et al., 2006). SCIN has a three-helical bundle structure related to the structure of protein A (Rooijakkers et al., 2007). It functions through binding C3 convertases, preventing C3b deposition and ultimately preventing phagocytosis and neutrophil killing (Figure 1.2) (Rooijakkers et al., 2005). CHIPS, on the other hand, binds to C5a and formylated peptide receptor and prevents the chemotaxis of neutrophils and monocytes towards *S. aureus* (Figure 1.2) (de Haas et al., 2004, Postma et al., 2004).

1.8.5.2 Extracellular fibrinogen binding protein (Efb)

Extracellular fibrinogen binding protein (Efb), like ClfA and FnbpA, can bind fibrinogen and prevents platelet aggregation (Boden and Flock, 1994, Shannon and Flock, 2004). EFP also has a three helical bundle structure similar to that found in protein A and SCIN (Hammel et al., 2007); like SCIN Efb is able to prevent C3b functioning, in this case by directly binding C3 preventing it from forming C3b (Figure 1.2) (Lee et al., 2004).

1.8.5.3 Extracellular adherence protein (Eap)

Extracellular adherence protein has a diverse set of functions due to its ability to interact with a number of different host matrix molecules. These include collagen, laminin and fibronectin (McGavin et al., 1993). Therefore, Eap has important roles in cell adhesion (Palma et al., 1999), invasion of eukaryotic cells (Haggar et al., 2003) and interference with leukocyte recruitment (Chavakis et al., 2002).

1.8.5.4 Formyl peptide receptor-like 1 inhibitors protein (FLIPr)

Finally, *S. aureus* also produces formyl peptide receptor-like 1 inhibitors protein (FLIPr) that inhibits the activation of neutrophils. It does this by binding host formyl peptide receptor like protein 1 (FPRL1) and preventing it from detecting *S. aureus* (Prat et al., 2006).

1.8.6 Regulation of virulence factors

The array of virulence factors produced by *S. aureus* is regulated by a number of regulatory systems. These systems interact and form a complex regulatory network that is only partially understood (Priest et al., 2012).

1.8.6.1 agr

The two-component accessory gene regulator (Agr) is the best characterised. It is encoded by the *agrABCD* operon and main effector protein is AgrD, which is exported by AgrB, that becomes autoinducing peptide (AIP). AIP then binds to AgrC, a receptor histidine protein kinase, which in turn transfers the signal intracellularly to AgrA, the response regulator. AgrA then promotes transcription of the *agr* operon in a positive feedback loop enabling Agr to respond to cell density. AgrA also promotes the transcription of the effector molecule RNAIII that up-regulates expression of many exotoxins and down-regulates the expression of surface proteins (Figure 1.3) (Novick et al., 1993, Ziebandt et al., 2004, Traber et al., 2008).

AgrA has also been shown to be affected by redox conditions with DNA-binding being inhibited under conditions of oxidising stress due to its intramolecular dithiol-disulfide switch (Sun et al., 2012).

1.8.6.2 saeRS

Another two-component system that is important in *S. aureus* virulence regulation is the *saeRS* locus. It is responsible for the expression of alpha and beta toxins as well as coagulase and Efb (Sections 1.8.2.1, 1.8.2.2 and 1.8.5.2) (Giraudo et al., 1994).



Figure 1.3 The agr system in S. aureus

The *agrBDCA* operon encoding the components of the self-regulating *agr* system that control the expression of RNAIII. The operon is shown in grey and Agr proteins are shown in blue (Novick et al., 1993; Ziebandt et al., 2004; Traber et al., 2008).

1.8.6.3 SarA and homologs

Another important set of regulators are SarA and its homologs including SarR, S, T, U, V, X and Z, and Rot. SarA upregulates the expression of capsular polysaccharides, toxins and *agr* and its homologs all act as global regulators of virulence genes (Cheung et al., 2008, Morrison et al., 2012). One of these is Rot (repressor of toxins) that represses toxin production and is down-regulated by Agr (Said-Salim et al., 2003).

1.8.6.4 Sigma B

Sigma B also plays a crucial role in controlling virulence transcription. It influences the expression of a number of cell functions, including intermediary metabolism and cell membrane synthesis, as well as, increasing the expression of adhesion molecules and decreasing the expression of toxins (Bischoff et al., 2004). It thus acts oppositely to Agr and SarA and it has been found to be an important factor in *S. aureus* intracellular survival (Tuchscherr et al., 2015).

1.9 Staphylococcus aureus immune evasion

1.9.1 Virulence factors

Many of the virulence factors listed above are involved in immune evasion with various factors involved in preventing phagocytosis by host phagocytes (e.g. Protein A, ClfA and SCIN), preventing phagocyte chemotaxis (e.g. CHIPs, and Eap) or directly causing damage to phagocytes (e.g. PVL and PSMs). There are also factors that can damage other immune cells (e.g. alpha toxin) or even stimulate an overzealous immune response (e.g. TSST-1 and enterotoxins). All of these factors combine to aid a successful *S. aureus* infection but *S. aureus* also employs some other important strategies to avoid killing by host immune cells.

1.9.2 Biofilm formation

One such strategy is the formation of biofilms. *Staphylococcus aureus* readily forms biofilms generally consisting of a mix of cells, teichoic acids and polysaccharide intracellular antigen (PIA) (Archer et al., 2011). Biofilm formation is a major component in persistent infections, particularly medical device related disease, osteomyelitis and

chronic wound infections. By forming this mass of cells and secreted factors *S. aureus* effectively prevents immune cells from physically reaching many of the cells in the matrix. For the same reason biofilms are also protective against antibiotics (Jones et al., 2001, Archer et al., 2011).

1.9.3 Survival in host phagosomes

Once a *S. aureus* cell is phagocytosed the host cell will try to destroy the bacteria through the production of AMPs, NO and ROS; however, *S. aureus* has a number of resistance mechanisms to each of these enabling it to survive inside the host phagosome (Schroder et al., 2006, Olivier et al., 2009).

1.9.3.1 AMP resistance

Many strains of *S. aureus* have an innate resistance to lysosome, one of the major AMPs present in neutrophil granules, through the *O*-acetylation of their peptidoglycan (Bera et al., 2005). *Staphylococcus aureus* is also able to resist host defensins and other AMPs by decreasing the negative charge on its surface. This prevents AMPs from interacting with the membrane of *S. aureus*. It achieves this through adding D-alanine to its wall teichoic acids (mediated by *dltABCD*) and through producing lysylphosphatidylglycerol by combining L-lysine and phosphatidylglycerol (mediated by multiple peptide resistance factor MprF) (Peschel et al., 2001, Collins et al., 2002).

1.9.3.2 ROS resistance

Staphylococcus aureus has a particularly high tolerance for oxidative stress. This is evident by the ability of *S. aureus* to grow on Baird-Parker agar. It does this by reducing the oxidant tellurite, that is present in the medium, to tellurium, resulting in the production of distinctive black colonies (Baird-Parker, 1962, Taylor, 1999). It appears to have a number of mechanisms for this resistance including the production of the characteristic orange antioxidant carotenoid pigment staphyloxanthin (Clauditz et al., 2006) and also the enzyme catalase, that converts hydrogen peroxide to water and oxygen. *Staphylococcus aureus* also produces superoxide dismutases (SodA and SodB) that convert superoxide to hydrogen peroxide (Clements et al., 1999, Valderas and Hart, 2001).

Furthermore, it has been postulated that cysteine metabolism and hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) may have important roles in defence against reactive oxygen species and by extension against bactericidal antibiotics (Section 1.5.1) (Lithgow et al., 2004, Soutourina et al., 2010, Shatalin et al., 2011). However, there are still many unanswered questions surrounding the role of sulfur metabolism and H₂S production in reactive oxygen species resistance (Chapter 3).

Staphylococcus aureus can also survive in the presence of host derived NO by fermenting glucose, and using lactate dehydrogenase to maintain redox balance through NAD⁺ regeneration (Richardson et al., 2008, Spahich et al., 2016).

1.9.4 Survival in host cytosol

Staphylococcus aureus is able to not only survive in the phagosome but also escape and then survive in the host cytosol (Kubica et al., 2008, Fraunholz and Sinha, 2012). This enables *S. aureus* to remain hidden from the host immune system and also avoid the harsh environment of the host phagosome. However, in order to survive in the host cytoplasm *S. aureus* must adapt to a very different environment to that of the host phagosome. Particularly, in direct contrast to the oxidative stress imposed by the phagosome the host cytosol is an environment with a low redox potential (Chapter 4). It also appears that this environment promotes the formation of small colony variants (SCVs) (Vesga et al., 1996). SCVs are slow growing with an increased expression of cell surface proteins and a decreased expression of virulence factors and toxins (Proctor et al., 2006). This enables them to effectively avoid the actions of host immunity and antibiotics, contributing to persistent and recurring infections (Proctor et al., 1995) (Chapter 4).

32

1.10 Areas of investigation

As is evident from the review of the characteristics of *S. aureus* and its interactions with its host provided above it is clear that S. aureus is an important pathogen that utilises a multitude of mechanisms allowing it to adapt to host environments. It is increasingly clear that intracellular survival is an important part of the ability of S. aureus too cause persistent infections. The starting point for this work was to investigate further the ability of S. aureus to survive inside host phagosomes, an environment with high levels of oxidative stress. In particular the claim that H₂S is a universal defence against ROS and bactericidal antibiotics (Shatalin et al., 2011) was examined (Chapter 3). Staphylococcus aureus is also able to also survive in the low redox environment of host cytosol. As such, the next objective was to investigate the global transcriptional and physiological response of S. aureus to a low redox potential environment by perturbing steady-state cultures in order to better understand how S. aureus adapts to intracellular survival in the host cytosol and how these adaptations might contribute to the functioning of SCVs and antibiotic resistance (Chapter 4). A transposon mutant library was also utilised in order to supplement these investigations through: identifying genes related to H₂S production, studying gene fitness in relation to low redox potential environments and exploring the links between redox and sulfur metabolism (Chapter 5).

Chapter 2: Materials and methods

2.1 Bacterial media

All media were prepared using distilled water (dH₂O) and sterilised by autoclaving at 120° C and 15 psi for 20 minutes, unless otherwise specified. Solid media were made with 1.5% (w/v) Oxoid agar bacteriological (Agar No. 1), unless otherwise specified.

2.1.1 Rich media

2.1.1.1 Brain heart infusion (BHI) br	roth
Brain heart infusion (BHI) (Oxo	bid) 37 g l ⁻¹
2.1.1.2 Tryptic soy broth (TSB)	
Tryptic soy broth (TSB) (Oxoid) 30 g l⁻¹
2.1.1.3 Luria – Bertani (LB) broth	
Tryptone	10 g l ⁻¹
Yeast extract	5 g l ⁻¹
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	10 g l ⁻¹
2.1.1.4 LK broth	
Tryptone	10 g l ⁻¹
Yeast extract	5 g l ⁻¹
Potassium Chloride (KCl)	7 g l⁻¹
2.1.1.5 2 x yeast extract and trypto	ne (2YT) broth
Tryptone	16 g l⁻¹
Yeast extract	10 g l ⁻¹
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	2 g l ⁻¹
2.1.1.6 Super optimal broth with ca	tabolite repression (SOC)
Tryptone	20 g l ⁻¹
Yeast extract	5 g l ⁻¹
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	0.5 g l ⁻¹
Potassium chloride (KCl)	0.186 g l ⁻¹
Magnesium sulfate	2.408 g l ⁻¹
Glucose	3.603 g l⁻¹

SOC medium was sterilised by filtration (0.22 μm pore size)

2.1.1.7 Columbia blood agar

Difco™ Columbia Blood Agar Base EH	39 g l⁻¹
Sterile defibrinated sheep blood	5% (v/v)

The sterile defibrinated sheep blood was added after the Columbia Blood Agar Base had been autoclaved and then cooled to 50° C.

2.1.2 Chemically defined medium (CDM)

Each of the groups listed in Table 2.1 were made up to 1 litre in dH₂O and sterilised separately. They were then added together as follows: 700 ml Group 1, 100 ml Group 2, 1 ml Group 3, 50 ml Group 4, 10 ml Group 5 and 129 ml sterilised dH₂O (Hussain et al., 1991, Lithgow et al., 2004).

Creating 1	(m = 1 ⁻¹)		(-1^{-1})
Group I	(mg i)	Group 2	(g i) o=†
$Na_2HPO_4.2H_2O$	7000	Glucose	27
KH ₂ PO ₄	3000	MgSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	5
L-Aspartic acid	150		
L- Alanine	100	Group 3	(mg l⁻¹)
L- Arginine	100	Nicotinic Acid	0.02
L-Cysteine	50*	Biotin	0.4
Glycine	100	D-Pantothenic acid, Ca Salt	0.4
L-Glutamic acid	150	Pyridoxal	0.8
L-Histidine	100	Pyridoxamine dihydrochloride	0.8
L-Isoleucine	150	Riboflavin	0.4
L-Lysine	100	Thiamin hydrochloride	0.4
L-Leucine	150	(Filter sterilised (22 μm pore size))	
L-Methionine	100		
L-Phenylalanine	100	Group 4	(mg l⁻¹)
L-Proline	150	Adenine Sulfate	20
L-Serine	100	Guanine Hydrochloride	20
L-Threonine	150	(in 0.1M HCl)	
L-Tryptophan	100		
L-Tyrosine	100	Group 5	(mg l⁻¹)
L-Valine	150	CaCl ₂ .6H ₂ O	10
(pH 7.2)		(NH ₄) ₂ SO ₄ .FeSO ₄ .6H ₂ O	6
		(in 0.1M HCl)	

Table 2.1 Chemically defined medium (CDM) recipe

*Concentration and form of sulfur source adjusted as indicated in Results sections

[†]Concentration of glucose reduced to 15 mM in final solution (27 g l⁻¹ in stock solution),

from 55.5 mM (100 g l^{-1} in stock solution) (Lithgow et al., 2004).

2.2 Antibiotics

All antibiotic solutions were made by dissolving the antibiotics in the solvents at the concentrations listed in Table 2.2. They were then filter sterilised (0.22 μ m pore size) and stored at –20°C. For use in solid media, agar was cooled to 50°C before antibiotic was added.

Antibiotic	Stock concentration (mg ml ⁻¹)	Solvent	Working concentration for <i>S. aureus</i> (μg ml ⁻¹)*
Chloramphenicol (Cm)	10	100% ethanol	10
Erythromycin (Ery)	5	100% ethanol	5
Gentamicin (Gen)	50	dH ₂ O	-
Kanamycin (Kan)	50	dH ₂ O	50
Lincomycin (Lin)	25	50% (w/v) ethanol	25
Neomycin (Neo)	50	dH ₂ O	50
Tetracyline (Tet)	5	50% (w/v) ethanol	5

Table 2.2 Antibiotic solutions

*Unless otherwise stated

2.3 Buffers, solutions and concentrations

2.3.1 Phage Buffer

MgSO ₄	1 mM
CaCl ₂	4 mM
Tris-HCl pH 7.8	50 mM
NaCl	100 mM
Gelatin	0.1% (w/v)

2.3.2 Tris base, acetic acid and EDTA (TAE) Buffer (50x)

1115 base 242 g	•
Glacial acetic acid 0.57%	5 (v/v)
EDTA 0.05 I	N

50 x stock was diluted 1:50 before use.

2.3.3	Instagene matrix	
	Chelex resin	6% (w/v)
2.3.4	QIAGEN buffers	
2.3.4.1	Buffer P1	
	Tris-HCl, pH 8	50 mM
	EDTA	10 mM
	RNase A	100 $\mu g m l^{-1}$
2.3.4.2	P Buffer P2	
	NaOH	200 mM
	SDS	1% (w/v)
2.3.4.3	B Buffer EB	
	Tris (pH 8.5 with HCl)	10 mM
2.3.4.4	Buffer AE	
	Tris-Cl	10 mM
	EDTA	0.5 mM

2.3.4.5 Buffer AW1, AW2, AE, AL, N3, PB and PE

Supplied in QIAquick kits but with no details provided.

2.3.5	Lysis buffer
	Tris-Cl
	EDTA
	Triton X-100

Added immediately before use:

lysozyme	10 mg ml ⁻¹
lysostaphin	0.1 mg ml ⁻¹

2.3.6 Other stock solutions

Some other stock solutions and concentrations are listed in Table 2.3.

Solution	Stock concentration	Solvent	Storage
Lysostaphin	5 mg ml ⁻¹	20 mM sodium acetate	-20°C
Bovine serum albumin (BSA)	10% (w/v)	PBS	4°C
Hydrogen peroxide (H ₂ O ₂)	50% (w/v)	dH ₂ O	4°C

10 mM

1 mM

0.6% (v/v)

Table 2.3 Stock solutions and concentrations

2.4 Bacterial strains

2.4.1 Growth and storage

Unless otherwise stated bacterial strains were grown from glycerol stock (-20° C) and cultured onto agar plates (BHI for *S. aureus* strains or LB for *E. coli* strains) containing any relevant antibiotics. For short term storage these plates were kept at 4°C and for longer term storage a single colony from solid medium was used to inoculate 5 ml BHI (with the appropriate antibiotics added) and incubated at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking overnight. In the morning the culture was centrifuged for 10 minutes at 3,380 xg and the supernatant discarded. The pellet was resuspended in 1.25 ml LB, 1 ml 80% (v/v) glycerol and any antibiotics. These glycerol stocks were then stored at -20° C. For bacterial growth in liquid medium a single colony from solid medium was used to inoculate 5 ml BHI (with the appropriate antibiotics added) and incubated at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking overnight. Unless otherwise stated, in the morning the culture was diluted 1:50 in 50 ml fresh medium and then cultures were incubated at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking until exponential growth phase was reached (≈ 3 hours).

2.4.2 Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study

The *S. aureus* (Table 2.4) and *E. coli* (Table 2.5) strains, as well as the plasmids (table 2.7), used in this study are listed below.

Strain	Description	Reference
SH1000	Functional $rsbU^{\dagger}$ derivative of S. aureus	(Horsburgh et al., 2002a)
	8325-4	
USA300 Je2	Plasmid cured USA300_FPR3757	(Fey et al., 2013)
J96 (SH1000)	SH1000 Δ <i>cysM</i> ::Tet ^R	(Lithgow et al., 2004)
J96 (Je2)	USA300 Je2 Δ <i>cysM</i> ::Tet ^R	This work
J106 (SH1000)	SH1000 Δ <i>cysM</i> ::Tet ^R pJIM80	(Lithgow et al., 2004)
J108 (SH1000)	SH1000 Δ <i>cysM</i> ::Tet ^R pMK4	(Lithgow et al., 2004)
J116 (SH1000)	SH1000 pMK4	(Lithgow et al., 2004)
NE60 (Je2)	<i>mccB</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)

Table 2.4 Staphylococcus aureus strains used in this study

NE591 (Je2)	metC::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE697 (Je2)	mccA::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1293 (Je2)	cymR::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE100 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1482</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE104 (Je2)	SAUSA300_0641::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE113 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1041</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE153 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1807</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE181 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1936</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE213 (Je2)	<i>glyA</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE231 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_0432</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE331 (Je2)	<i>rexA</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE346 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1346</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE42 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_2212</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE473 (Je2)	SAUSA300_0013::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE513 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_2431</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE525 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1648</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE532 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_2473</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE534 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1537</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE68 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_0620</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE751 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1693</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE769 (Je2)	ctaA::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE782 (Je2)	opuCb::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE788 (Je2)	<i>trkA</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE885 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1182</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE890 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_2560</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE98 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_0548</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1008 (Je2)	sdaAB::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1015 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_0305</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1162 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1506</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1169 (Je2)	pepF::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1219	<i>SAUSA300_2486</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)

NE1222 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1976</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1281 (Je2)	SAUSA300_0725::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1334 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1494</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1399 (Je2)	hlgA::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1403 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1585</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1443 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1747</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1444 (Je2)	<i>crtM</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1446 (Je2)	SAUSA300_1141::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1448 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1947</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1472 (Je2)	<i>rsbW</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1538 (Je2)	SAUSA300_2502::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1557 (Je2)	SAUSA300_2252::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1614 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_2325</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1698 (Je2)	<i>SAUSA300_1449</i> ::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)
NE1827 (Je2)	SAUSA300_0011::Ery ^R	This work - (Fey et al., 2013)

Tet^R – Tetracyline resistance cassette. Ery^{R} – erythromycin resistance cassette. All NE strains contain Tn *Bursa aurealis*.

Table 2.5 Escherichia coli strains used in this study

Strain	Description	Reference
K-12 BW25113	Δ(araD-araB)567 ΔlacZ4787(::rrnB3) λ–	(Baba et al., 2006)
	rph-1 ∆(rhaD-rhaB)568 hsdR514	
JRG_6031	Δ <i>cysM</i> ::Kan ^R	(Baba et al., 2006)

Kan^R – Kanamycin resistance cassette

Table 2.6 Plasmids used in this study

Plasmid	Description	Reference
рМК4	<i>E. coli – S. aureus</i> Cat ^R shuttle vector	(Lithgow et al., 2004)
pJIM80	cysM locus in pMK4 for complementation	(Lithgow et al., 2004)

Cat^R – Chloramphenicol resistance cassette

2.4.3 The Nebraska Transposon Mutant Library (NTML)

The Nebraska Transposon Mutant Library (NTML) consists of 1,952 *S. aureus* USA300 LAC Je2 transposon insertion (Ery) mutants. It was stored in 20 96-well plates (containing TSB with 5 μ g ml⁻¹ Ery and 25 μ g ml⁻¹ Lin and 20% (v/v) glycerol) at -80°C. For growth and H₂S production experiments the NTML was thawed on ice and inoculated into two new sets of 96-well plates using a 96-pin replicator. The first set of plates contained fresh TSB medium (with 5 μ g ml⁻¹ Ery and 25 μ g ml⁻¹ Lin) and the other contained TSB, BHI or CDM and any supplements as specified for the relevant experiment. Both plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 hours. Glycerol was added to the first set of plates and they were stored at -80°C. The second set of plates was used for further experiments and measurements as specified.

2.5 Bacterial cell density

2.5.1 Spectrophotometric measurement (OD₆₀₀)

To quantify bacterial growth, in term of optical density, in liquid medium spectrophotometric measurements were taken at a wavelength of 600 nm (OD_{600}) using an ATI Unicam UV/VIS spectrometer. Culture samples were diluted, when necessary, in the appropriate sterile medium.

2.5.2 Direct cell counts (CFU ml⁻¹)

To quantify viable bacterial cell numbers bacterial suspensions were serially diluted 1:10 in PBS in triplicate and then 10 μ l of each dilution was spotted onto BHI agar, unless otherwise stated. The agar plates were then dried and incubated at 37°C overnight and the number of colony forming units (CFUs) was counted the following day.

2.6 DNA purification

2.6.1 Genomic DNA purification

2.6.1.1 InstaGene[™] Matrix (Bio-Rad)

For the quick isolation of genomic DNA from isolated bacterial colonies InstaGene[™] Matrix (BIO-RAD) was used with the following protocol. An isolated bacterial colony was mixed by vortex in 1 ml of autoclaved water and centrifuged for 1 minute at 12,000 rpm. The pellet was then resuspended in 200 µl of InstaGene matrix and incubated at 56°C for 30 minutes. It was then mixed by vortex and heated to 100°C for 8 minutes. Finally, the suspension was mixed by vortex again and centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 3 minutes. 20 µl of the resulting supernatant was used per 50 µl PCR reaction and any remainder was stored at –20°C.

2.6.1.2 DNAeasy[®] Blood and Tissue Kit (QIAGEN)

For the isolation of higher quality DNA, the DNAeasy[®] Blood and Tissue Kit (QIAGEN) was used with a modified protocol as described here. Firstly, a 3 ml overnight culture of the relevant strain was prepared and in the morning the cell density was measured and approximately 2×10^9 cells were centrifuged at 7500 rpm for 10 minutes. The cells were then resuspended in 180 μ l of lysis buffer and incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. Next 25 µl proteinase K and 200 µl Buffer AL were added, mixed by vortex, and incubated at 56°C for 30 minutes. Then 200 μl ethanol was added, and again the tube was mixed by vortex, before being placed into a DNAeasy Mini spin column, with 2 ml collection tube, and centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 1 minute. A new 2 ml collection tube was then used and 500 μ l Buffer AW1 added before being centrifuged at 8000 rpm for a further minute. A final 2 ml collection tube was then used and the 500 μ l Buffer AW2 added before being centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 3 minutes to wash the DNAeasy membrane. In order to elute the DNA a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube was used and 200 µl buffer AE added to the DNAeasy membrane. The column was then left to incubate at room temperature for 1 minute before being centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 1 minute and the column being discarded.

2.6.2 Plasmid purification

Small scale plasmid purification was performed using the QIAprep[™] Spin Miniprep Kit (QIAGEN). First, 3 ml of cells were grown overnight and centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 1 minute and resuspended in 250 µl Buffer P1 with RNase A. 250 µl Buffer P2 was added in order to lysis the cells and the tube was inverted 5 times. After approximately 4 minutes 350 µl of Buffer N3 was added, to neutralise the lysis reaction, and the tube was inverted 5 times. The resulting suspension was centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 10 minutes and the supernatant was transferred to a QIAprep spin column where it was centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 1 minute. The supernatant was discarded and 750 µl buffer PE was added and centrifuged again at 13,000 rpm for 1 minute to wash the column. Then, after the supernatant had been discarded, the column was centrifuged again at 13,000 rpm for 1 minute to remove any residual buffers. To elute the DNA, the column was placed in a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube, 50 µl EB buffer was added to the centre of the membrane and the column was incubated for 1 minute followed by centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 1 minute.

2.6.3 PCR purification

For the purification of DNA fragments the QIAquick spin column (QIAGEN) was used. Initially 5 parts Buffer PB were mixed with 1 part DNA sample and transferred into a QIAquick spin column, before being centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 1 minute. The supernatant was then discarded and 750 μ I Buffer PE added before being centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 1 minute to wash the column, the supernatant was discarded again and the column was centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for a further minute to remove residual buffer. To elute the DNA the column was placed in a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube, 30 μ I buffer EB was added to the column and it was incubated for 1 minute before being centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 1 minute.

2.7 DNA in-vitro manipulation techniques

2.7.1 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

2.7.1.1 Primer design

A list of the primers used in this study can be found in Table 2.7. All primers were synthesized by Eurofins Scientific and stored in 100 μl stock solutions at –20°C. Primers were designed and analysed using the NCBI Primer-Blast design tool at www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/tools/primer-blast and synthesised by Eurofins.

Primer	Sequence 5' – 3'	Source
cymR_F	TCGTCTGCCATAGTGAAACCT	This work
cymR_R	TTTTGGGCGCATTCTCGATG	This work
mccB_F	TCTGAAGGTACGATTGTTGTCGT	This work
mccB_R	ACCGTGTTCTTTCGCAATTTCA	This work
metC_F	AGGTGATTGACCTAACGGTGT	This work
metC_R	TTCAGCTAACCCACCACTCT	This work
mccA_F	AAGTATGCGATGCCTGTCGT	This work
mccA_R	TCGCTGCAATAGCTAACCCT	This work
cysM_F	CGTGTTGCTAGAAAGTTTAGCGT	This work
cysM_R	TGTTTTAGTCATGTTAACCACCCT	This work
QRTPCR_mccA_F	GATGGGCGCTTCACCACT	This work
QRTPCR_mccA_R	GCCATCGCCGTACTTCCA	This work
QRTPCR_mccB_F	GGCGGTACTTATCGCGCA	This work
QRTPCR_mccB_R	TGTTGGGCGTATCGCTTGT	This work
QRTPCR_gyrB_F	ACGGATAACGGACGTGGT	This work
QRTPCR_gyrB_R	GTATCCGCCACCGCCAAA	This work

Table 2.7 Primers used in this study

2.7.1.2 DNA amplification

DNA amplification was carried out using MyTaq[™] Mix and a TC-3000 thermal cycler (Techne). MyTaq[™] Mix (Bioline) is a two times concentrated master mix containing

MyTaq polymerase, MyTaq buffer, deoxynucleotides (dNTPs) and MgCl₂ at optimised concentrations. Reactions using MyTaq[™] Mix were assembled in sterile thin-walled 0.5ml PCR tubes and contained:

	MyTaq™ Mix		25 μl
	Forward Primer		400 nM
	Reverse Primer		400 nM
	Template DNA		≈ 200 ng
	Sterile RNase and DNase free wat	ter	make total volume up to 50 μ l
Read	tion conditions consisted of:		
	Initial Denaturation	95°C	1 minute
The	following amplification steps repea	ated 30 times:	
	Denaturation	95°C	30 seconds
	Annealing	40-65°C*	15 seconds
	Extension	72°C	30 seconds per kb
And	one concluding step:		
	Final Extension	72°C	5 minutes
Read	tion products were then stored at	-20°C	

*Annealing temperature dependent on primers

2.7.1.3 Agarose gel electrophoresis

Agarose (500 mg) was dissolved in 50 ml TAE buffer and heated to form a 1% (w/v) agarose gel and 5 µl of 10,000 x concentrated GelRed (Biotium) was added to facilitate the visualisation of DNA. The gel was then set in a gel tray and submerged in an electrophoresis tank (Flowgen Bioscience) containing TAE buffer. DNA samples (8 µl) were mixed with 2 µl GelPilot DNA loading Dye 5x (QIAGEN) and then loaded into the agarose gel along with a DNA ladder (Hyperladder[™] 1kb plus, Bioline). The DNA was electrophoresed at 100 volts for 60 minutes and then visualised using a UV transilluminater at 260 nm.

2.7.2 Restriction endonuclease digestion

Restriction enzymes were used according to the manufacturer's instructions (Promega, or New England Biolabs). The supplied buffers were used and the recommended temperature and incubation periods followed. For products that were used for further cloning the enzymes were incubated at 80°C for 20 minutes.

2.7.3 DNA concentration

A Nanodrop[™] (ND-1000 Spectrophotometer, Peqlab Ltd) on dsDNA mode was used to determine DNA concentration. Using 2 μl of sample for each measurement.

2.8 Transduction

2.8.1 Preparation of phage lysate using bacteriophage Φ11

A 5 ml overnight culture of donor strain was used to inoculate 5 ml BHI to an OD_{600} of 0.2 in a 30 ml universal. Phage buffer (5 ml) was then added along with 300 µl of stock lysate of bacteriophage Φ 11 (Bacteriophage Φ 11 is a *S. aureus* specific, temperate transducing phage of serological group B that has a genome of around 45 kb and requires Ca²⁺ ions in order to maintain infectivity (Novick, 1991)). After overnight incubation at room temperature, or until the mixture cleared, the lysate was then sterilized by filtration (0.22 µm pore size) and stored at 4°C.

2.8.2 Phage transduction using bacteriophage Φ11

The recipient bacteria were grown from an isolated colony in 50 ml LK overnight, centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 10 minutes and then resuspended in 2 ml LK. An aliquot of 500 μ l of these cells were then mixed with 500 μ l of phage lysate and 1 ml LK containing 10 mM CaCl₂. A control sample with no phage lysate was also made and the two mixtures were incubated at 37°C for 25 minutes without shaking followed by 15 minutes with shaking. Next 1 ml of ice-cold 0.02 M sodium citrate was added to the mixtures and they were incubated on ice for 5 minutes. They were then centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 5 minutes and the cells were resuspended in 1 ml 0.02 M sodium citrate before a 1 hour incubation on ice. Finally, cells were spread on LK agar plates, containing 0.05% (w/v) sodium citrate and the appropriate antibiotics, and incubated

at 37°C for 48 hours.

2.9 Isolation of RNA

2.9.1 Isolation of RNA from stored pellets

RNA sample pellets (Section 2.20.3.3) were resuspended in 1 ml RLT buffer (QIAGEN) with 10 μ l ml⁻¹ β -mercaptoethanol and transferred on ice to a FastPrep[®] tube containing Lysing Matrix B (MP Biomedicals). The suspensions were then mixed using a FastPrep®-24 Instrument (MP Biomedicals) at setting 6.5 for 4 x 30 seconds with a 2 minute cooling on ice between mixing. Samples were then centrifuged for 30 seconds at 20,000 xg and 800 μ l of supernatant was transferred to a microcentrifuge tube containing 800 μ l 100% (v/v) ethanol. The samples were then added to a RNAeasy Mini Spin Column (QIAGEN) and centrifuged for 30 seconds at 15,000 xg. After the flow through was discarded the samples were washed with 350 µl Buffer RW1 (QIAGEN) and centrifuged for 30 seconds 15,000 xg. Then the samples were incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes with 80µl DNase mix (10µl DNase 1 stock solution (QIAGEN) with 70 µl Buffer RDD (QIAGEN)) before being washed four times with 350 µl Buffer RW1, 500 µl Buffer RPE, 700 µl Buffer RW1 and 500 µl Buffer RPE (QIAGEN) with 30 second centrifugation at 15,000 xg. RNA samples were then eluted into clean microcentrifuges using 50 µl molecular biology grade water with centrifugation for 1.5 minutes at 20,000 xg. Samples are stored at -20° C.

2.9.2 RNA concentration

A Nanodrop^M (ND-1000 Spectrophotometer, Peqlab Ltd) on RNA mode was used to determine RNA concentration. Using a 2 μ l of sample for each measurement.

2.10 QRT-PCR

Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (QRT-PCR) was carried out in 96-well plate format using a Stratagene MX3005P (Agilent). Results were normalised against the stably expressed gene *gyrB* (Goerke et al., 2000). Reactions contained:

2x SYBR [®] Green QRT-PCR N	laster Mix (Agilent)	10 µl
RT/RNase block (Agilent)	RT/RNase block (Agilent)	
Forward Primer		300 nM
Reverse Primer		300 nM
mRNA		≈ 1.0 ng
Sterile RNase and DNase fre	ee water	to make volume up to 20 μ l
Reaction conditions consisted of:		
Initial annealing	50°C	10 minutes
Initial denaturation	95°C	3 minutes
The following amplification steps	repeated 40 times:	
Denaturation	95°C	15 seconds
Annealing and elongation	60°C	20 seconds
And one concluding step:		
Final denaturation	95°C	2 minutes

2.11 Transcriptomics

2.11.1 Microarray

Microarray analysis was used with RNA samples being labelled with fluorophore Cy5 (all time points) or fluorophore Cy3 (time 0 minutes only, as a reference).

2.11.2 Array design

A custom gene expression microarray was designed using the web based application eArray (www.earray.chem.agilent.com). It contained probes for *S. aureus* USA300_FPR3757 and *S. aureus* N8325 (Agilent Design ID: 066358).

2.11.3 Direct labelling of RNA

RNA labelling as carried out using SuperScript III reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen) in 0.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes. 2.5 μ g (0.9 μ l of 3 mg ml⁻¹ stock) of random primers (Invitrogen) was added to 8 μ g of purified RNA (Section 2.9) in 6.15 μ l molecular biology grade water. This mixture was incubated for 10 minutes at 72°C and then

placed on ice for 10 minutes. Then 6.25 μ l reverse transcription mix was added containing:

5X First strand buffer	3.0 μl
0.1 M DTT	1.5 μl
50x dNTP mix	0.3 μl
(dNTP mix contains 25 mM dATP,	dTTP, dGTP and 10 mM dCTP)
Molecular biology grade water	1.45 μl

This was followed by the addition of 1 µl 1 mM Cy5-dCTP (or Cy3-dCTP for the time 0 minutes reference samples) (GE Healthcare) and 0.75 µl reverse transcriptase (200 U µl⁻¹, SuperScript III). The samples were incubated for 5 minutes at 25°C then overnight at 50°C. In the morning 7.5 µl 0.1 M NaOH was added to the samples and they were incubated for 10 minutes at 72°C, to hydrolyse the RNA, before 7.5 µl of 0.1 M HCl was added to neutralise the alkali. The samples were then cleaned up using PCR purification techniques (Section 2.6.3) and the concentration of cDNA and labelling efficiency was measured using a Nanodrop[™] (ND-1000 Spectrophotometer, Peqlab Ltd).

2.11.4 Hybridisation

Hybridisation of array slides and subsequent washing was carried out according to the manufacturer's instructions (Agilent "Two-Color Microarray-Based Prokaryotic Analysis (Faiplay III Labeling) Protocol"). Cy5-labelled cDNA (300 ng) from the investigative sample was hybridised in tandem with 300 ng of Cy3-labelled cDNA from the reference sample (time point 0 minutes). The array slides were incubated at 65°C for 17 hours in an Agilent Hybridisation Oven (Agilent).

2.11.5 Scanning

Arrays were scanned in an Agilent Microarray Scanner (Agilent) and data was extracted from .tif files using Agilent Feature Extraction 11.5 (Agilent).

2.12 Data analysis

2.12.1 Gene expression

Array data was analysed using Agilent GeneSpring 7.3.1 (Agilent). Signal intensity data for each array was divided by the signal obtained from the control channel (Cy3-labelled time point 0 minutes, reference sample) with a median shift being applied across all samples included in each comparison.

2.12.2 Significance

A Student's t-test (2 tailed, equal variance) with Benjamini Hochberg correction was applied to the data and changes in expression were deemed significant if p < 0.05 and if fold change ≥ 5 .

2.12.3 TFinfer

Open access TFinfer software (Asif et al., 2010) was used to analyse the transcriptional reprogramming by time-resolved transcription profiling. A matrix of genes and associated regulators was constructed for nine *S. aureus* transcription factors (Air, AgrA, CymR, MgrA, NreABC, Rex, Rot, SarA, SarZ, CtsR and CstR) and was used with the raw gene expression data used to generate transcription reprogramming profiles.

2.13 Protein

2.13.1 Protein isolation from stored pellets

Stored pellets for enzyme assays (Section 2.20.3.6) were resuspended in 10 ml 0.02 M PBS and then 1 ml transferred on ice to a FastPrep® tube containing Lysing Matrix B (MP Biomedicals). The suspensions were then mixed using a FastPrep®-24 Instrument (MP Biomedicals) at setting 6 for 3 x 30 seconds with a 5 minute cooling on ice between mixing. The tubes were then centrifuged for 30 seconds at 20,000 xg and 800 µl of supernatant was transferred to a microcentrifuge tube.

2.13.2 Protein concentration

Protein concentration was estimated using the Bio-Rad reagent (Bradford, 1976). A protein assay standard curve for a 2 ml reaction volume was used with absorbance measured at 595 nm using a Unicam HE λ IOS spectrometer.

2.14 Growth curves

2.14.1 250ml conical flasks

A single colony from solid medium was used to inoculate 5 ml liquid medium (BHI unless otherwise stated) with the appropriate antibiotics added when necessary. The liquid culture was then incubated at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking overnight. In the morning the culture was diluted 1:50 in 50 ml fresh medium and then cultures were incubated for 3 hours at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking. Cultures were then diluted to OD_{600} of 0.05 in 50 ml fresh medium and incubated at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking. Growth was monitored by serial OD_{600} measurements or direct cell counts until stationary phase was reached.

2.14.2 96-well plates

Growth curves were also carried out using a Sunrise[™] microplate reader (TECAN.) according to the following protocol. A single colony from solid medium was used to inoculate 5 ml liquid medium (BHI unless otherwise stated) with the appropriate antibiotics added when necessary. The liquid culture was then incubated at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking overnight. In the morning the culture was diluted 1:50 in 50 ml fresh medium and then cultures were incubated for 3 hours at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking. Cultures when then diluted to OD₆₀₀ of 0.0125 in 200 µl fresh medium in a 96 well plate (Thermo Scientific). Samples were then incubated at 37°C in the microplate reader with shaking. The OD₆₀₀ was measured every 15 minutes and recorded automatically using Magellan 7.1 software (TECAN.).
2.15 Hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) detection

2.15.1 Lead acetate paper

Lead acetate paper was prepared by using a 2% w/v lead acetate solution to saturate blotting paper that was then dried and placed above the level of liquid culture, either against the lid of a 96-well plate (Thermo Scientific) or the inner wall of a 250 ml conical flask. Colourless lead (II) acetate reacts with H₂S to form acetic acid and brown insoluble lead (II) sulfide, which is proportional to the concentration of H₂S. The paper was scanned and any colour change quantified using ImageJ.

2.15.2 Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) detection of H₂S

A single colony from solid medium was used to inoculate 5 ml liquid medium (BHI unless otherwise stated) with the appropriate antibiotics added when necessary. The liquid culture was then incubated at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking overnight. In the morning the culture was diluted 1:50 in 500 ml 2YT medium and incubated at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking for 24 hours. The culture was then centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4°C before being resuspended in 4 ml LB. This suspension was then used to produce a 10 ml LB solution diluted to an OD₆₀₀ of 30 and transferred to a three-necked round bottom flask fitted with a stirrer bar. The round bottom flask was then placed in a 37°C water bath and attached to the 'white cell' via an air pump. Scans were then recorded every 10 minutes for approximately 24 hours, with 600 µl 1 M cysteine hydrochloride added after 30 minutes (resolution = 0.4 cm^{-1} , gain = 4, forwards mirror velocity = 1.6 kHz). Scans were then used to produce interferograms using the FFT (Fast Fourier Transform) algorithm in WINFIRST, converted into ASCII tables and absorbance spectra generated using the Beer-Lambert law. Integrals of the curves fitted to the H_2S peaks were compared to the integral of the same peak on a known H₂S spectrum, standardized against a background spectra and then molarities of H₂S present were calculated using Henry's law.

2.16 Growth inhibition zone (GIZ) assay

A single colony from solid medium was used to inoculate 5 ml liquid medium (TSB unless otherwise stated) with the appropriate antibiotics added when necessary. The

liquid culture was then incubated at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking overnight. In the morning the culture was diluted 1:50 in 20 ml of 50° C molten medium. It was then poured on 20 ml solid medium and left to cool for 5 minutes before a sterile 6 mm filter paper disc was placed on top. Once the sterile 6 mm filter paper disc was placed on top of the agar 10 µl of the relevant antibiotic or other solution was added to the disc. The plates were then incubated at 37° C overnight and the growth inhibition zone was measured in the morning to an accuracy of 0.05 mm.

2.17 Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC)

2.17.1 25ml universals

A single colony from solid medium was used to inoculate 5 ml liquid medium (BHI unless otherwise stated) with the appropriate antibiotics added when necessary. The liquid culture was then incubated at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking overnight. In the morning the culture was diluted to OD_{600} 0.05 and added to a series of universals containing a 5 ml serial dilution (1:2) of the appropriate antibiotic or chemical in medium (BHI, TSB or CDM as specified). These cultures were then incubated for 24 hours at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking and then the OD_{600} was measured to determine the minimum concentration of antibiotic or chemical required to prevent growth.

2.17.2 96-well plate

MIC was also determined using 96-well plates and a Sunrise[™] microplate reader (TECAN.) according to the following protocol. A single colony from solid medium was used to inoculate 5 ml liquid medium (TSB unless otherwise stated) with the appropriate antibiotics added when necessary. The liquid culture was then incubated at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking overnight. In the morning the culture was diluted to OD₆₀₀ 0.0125 and added to a series of wells in a 96-well plate containing a 120µl serial dilution (1:6) of the appropriate antibiotic or chemical in medium (BHI, TSB or CDM as specified). These cultures were then incubated for 24 hours at 37°C with 350 rpm shaking. The OD₆₀₀ was then measured using a Sunrise[™] microplate reader (TECAN.) and recorded automatically using Magellan 7.1 software (TECAN.) in order to determine the minimum concentration of antibiotic or chemical required to prevent growth.

2.18 Survival curves

A single colony from solid medium was used to inoculate 5 ml liquid medium (BHI). The liquid culture was then incubated at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking overnight. In the morning the culture was diluted to OD_{600} of 0.05 in 50 ml fresh medium (CDM containing the appropriate sole sulfur source) and then cultures were incubated for 1.5 hours at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking. OD_{600} was measured and the antibiotics or chemicals were added at their stated concentrations and OD_{600} was then measured every hour. Samples were taken at each time point and serially diluted in order to measure colony forming units (CFU) (Section 2.5.2).

2.19 Small colony variant (SCV) detection

2.19.1 Solid medium

A single colony from solid medium was used to inoculate 5 ml liquid medium (TSB) and then incubated overnight at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking. This culture was then used to inoculate 50 ml fresh medium (TSB) to OD_{600} 0.05 and then incubated for 3 hours at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking. Then the chemical being tested was added and the culture incubated for a further hour at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking. Then the culture was serially diluted 1:10 in triplicate and 10 µl spotted onto plates with/without DTT. These plates consisted of TSA plates and Columbia blood agar plates +/- 2 µg ml⁻¹ gentamicin. After 48 hours the CFU were counted and the SCV were counted as small (≈ 10th size of WT colonies), light coloured (white or pale yellow as compared to orange WT colonies), gentamicin resistant colonies that produce no zone of haemolysis (Edwards, 2012, Painter et al., 2015).

2.19.2 Continuous culture

Steady state cultures were produced as for other experiments (Section 2.20) and 5 ml culture samples were taken at 0, 5, 30, 60 and 1440 minutes following the addition of

DTT. These samples were serially diluted 1:10 in triplicate and 10 μ l spotted onto TSA plates and Columbia blood agar plates +/- 2 μ g ml⁻¹ gentamicin. After 48 hours the CFU were counted and the SCV were counted as small ($\approx 10^{th}$ size of WT colonies), light coloured (white or pale yellow as compared to orange WT colonies), gentamicin resistant colonies that produce no zone of haemolysis (Edwards, 2012, Painter et al., 2015).

2.19.3 SCV stability assay

SCV colonies (\approx 10 colonies for each repeat) were subcultured onto TSA plates and incubated for 48 hours at 37°C. Then the subcultured colonies were deemed to have either reverted to WT (large orange colonies), to have become stable mutants (remain small white colonies) or be partially stable (a mix between the two phenotypes) (Edwards, 2012, Painter et al., 2015).

2.20 Continuous culture

2.20.1 Culture conditions

A single colony from solid medium was used to inoculate 5 ml liquid medium (BHI) and then incubated overnight at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking. This culture was then injected into a 2-litre Labfors chemostat vessel (Infors-HT, Switzerland) containing 1 litre of CDM medium with 15 mM glucose (unless otherwise stated) and 0.0001% (v/v) Antifoam Y-30 Emulsion (Sigma) to prevent foam and biofilm formation at the air surface interface. The culture then grew in batch for 5–20 hours before being switched to a steady state with a dilution rate of 0.2 h⁻¹. The cultures were maintained aerobically with the constant addition of filtered air at a rate of 1 l min⁻¹ and constant agitation via a 400 rpm stirrer. The temperature was maintained at 37° C and the pH was maintained at 7.0 throughout the experiments.

2.20.2 Direct measurements

2.20.2.1 Dissolved oxygen

Dissolved oxygen concentration was measured throughout the continuous culture experiments using a OxyProbe[®] polarographic dissolved oxygen sensor (Broadly

James[®]) according to the manufacturess instructions. One hundred percent dissolved oxygen was set by 1 l min⁻¹ air flow and 400 rpm stirring and 0% oxygen was set at 1 l min⁻¹ nitrogen and 400 rpm stirring.

2.20.2.2 Redox potential

Redox (Oxidation-reduction potential - ORP) was measured throughout the continuous culture experiments using an ORP FermProbe[®] (Broadly James[®]) according to the manufacturers' instructions. A redox potential of 86 mV was set by using a pH 7.0 Quinhydrone buffered solution and a redox potential of 263 mV was set by using a pH 4.0 Quinhydrone buffered solution. The potential difference between sample and a standard hydrogen electrode (E_h) can be calculated from the voltage observed with the ORP FermProbe[®] (E) by adding the standard potential of the reference electrode (E_R) to it. At 37°C this is 193 mV and so E_h can be calculated very simply (Equation 2.1).

Equation 2.1

 $E_h = E + E_R$ $E_h = E + 193 (37^{\circ}C)$

2.20.2.3 pH

pH was measured throughout the continuous culture experiments using a FermProbe[®] pH electrode (Broadly James[®]) according to the manufactures' instructions. The electrode was calibrated using pH 4.0 and pH 7.0 buffered solutions.

2.20.3 Sampling

Samples were taken at 0, 2, 5, 10, 15, 30, 60 and 1440 minutes following the addition of DTT, unless otherwise stated. Before any samples were taken, at each time point, 5 ml of culture was collected and discarded in order to purge the collection tubing of any older material.

2.20.3.1 Bacterial density (OD₆₀₀)

Samples used for determining the bacterial density (OD_{600}) were collected by taking a 1 ml culture sample on ice and absorbance measurements were taken at OD_{600} using an

ATI Unicam UV/VIS spectrometer. Culture samples were diluted, when necessary, in the appropriate sterile medium (CDM).

2.20.3.2 CFU and SCV assay

Samples used for determining the viable cell count (Colony forming units – CFUs) and the number of small colony variants (SCVs) were collected, at 0, 5, 30, 60 and 1440 minutes following addition of DTT, by the taking of a 5 ml culture sample on ice. The culture sample was then serially diluted 1:10 in PBS, in triplicate and 10 μ l of each sample added to the appropriate solid medium (Section 2.19.2)

2.20.3.3 RNA

Samples for RNA isolation were collected by taking a 5 ml culture sample and adding it directly to 10 ml of RNAprotect Bacteria Reagent (QIAgen). This was immediately vortexed for 5 seconds and then incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes before being centrifuged in a cooled centrifuge (4°C) for 10 minutes at 3,380 xg. The supernatant was then poured off and the pellet resuspended in the residual solution. The resuspended sample was then transferred to a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube and centrifuged for 10 minutes at 20,000 xg before removing the supernatant and storing the pellet at -80° C.

2.20.3.4 Protein

Samples for protein isolation were collected by taking a 5 ml culture sample and adding it directly to 20 μ l of chloramphenicol solution (25 mg ml⁻¹) on ice. Four 500 μ l aliquots were collected in microcentrifuge tubes and centrifuged for 3 minutes at 10,000 xg. The supernatant was removed and the pellet stored at -80°C.

2.20.3.5 Supernatant

Samples of supernatant were collected by taking a 5 ml culture sample and centrifuging immediately in a cooled centrifuge (4°C) for 10 minutes at 3,380 xg. The supernatant was then filtered using a single use 0.22 μ m syringe filter and two 1.5 ml samples were stored in microcentrifuge tubes at -80°C.

58

2.20.3.6 Enzyme assay samples

Samples for enzyme assays were collected at 0, 60 and 1440 minutes following the addition of DTT. Two 50 ml culture samples were collected in two 50 ml Falcon tubes and centrifuged in a cooled centrifuge (4°C) for 10 minutes at 3,380 xg. The supernatant was then poured off and the samples stored at -80° C.

2.20.3.7 Cell dry weight

Samples used for determining cell dry weight were taken at 0, 60 and 1440 minutes following the addition of DTT. Two 10 ml culture samples were collected in two 15 ml falcon tubes that had previously been weighed (along with two negative control falcon tubes) to a milligram degree of accuracy. The tubes were then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 3,380 xg. The supernatant was then poured off and the four tubes placed at 60°C overnight to dry. The following day the tubes were all re-weighed; weight change of tubes containing sample was equivalent to cell dry weight after addition of observed weight loss due to heating of the two negative control tubes.

2.20.4 Addition of DTT

In continuous culture experiments where DTT (dithiothreitol) was added, a final concentration of 9.7 mM (1.5 mg ml⁻¹) was used. 1.5 g DTT was dissolved in 20 ml CDM (concentration 486 mM) and injected directly into the 1 litre culture medium at the same time that the feed supply was switched from CDM with 0mM DTT to one of CDM with 9.7 mM DTT.

2.21 NMR spectroscopy

1D - NMR (Nuclear Magnetic Resonance) spectroscopy was carried out on continuous culture supernatant samples (Section 2.20.3.5) in order to assess extracellular metabolite concentrations. Filtered (0.22 µm pore size) supernatant (450 µl) was mixed with 50 µl D₂O and 1 mM (final concentration) trimethylsilyl propanoic acid (TSP) as a standard in 5 mm NMR tubes. A Bruker DRX500 (Bruker UK) spectrometer at 298 K with 5 mm TXI probe, tuned to 1H at 500 MHz was used to acquire the spectra.

The spectra were processed and peaks quantified by integration using Topspin (Bruker UK) and metabolite concentrations were measured relative to the TSP standard.

2.22 Lactate dehydrogenase assay

Protein samples (190 μ l \approx 100 ng ml⁻¹) (Sections 2.20.3.6 and 2.13.1) were added to three 2 ml cuvettes containing:

	Tube 1	Tube 2	Tube 3
Tris HCl 50 mM (pH 7.9)	700 µl	700 µl	700 µl
MnSO ₄ 20 mM	50 µl	50 µl	50 µl
NADH 15 mM	0 µl	10 µl	10 µl
dH ₂ O	60 µl	0 μl	0 µl

Tube 1 was used to zero the spectrophotometer (absorbance at 340 nm). Then 50 μ l dH₂O was added to Tube 2, or 50 μ l pyruvate (100 mM) was added to Tube 3, and the absorbance at 340 nm measured over time. Then the specific activity of lactate dehydrogenase was calculated in μ mol mg hr⁻².

2.23 Oxygen electrode

2.23.1 Clark-type oxygen electrode

Respiration was measured using a Clark-type oxygen electrode (Rank Bros Ltd). This consists of a chamber separated from an electrode, operating at a polarising voltage of 0.6 V, by an oxygen-permeable Teflon membrane. As the oxygen concentration was reduced at the cathode it created a potential difference, which was recorded using LabTrax-4 (World Precision Instruments) and LabScribe2 software (World Precision Instruments). The chamber temperature was maintained at 37°C and stirred at a constant rate (setting 4). Calibration was to a 100% oxygen saturated buffer and 0% was determined by the addition of sodium dithionate.

2.23.2 Sample preparation

A single colony from solid medium was used to inoculate 50 ml liquid medium (TSB). The liquid culture was then incubated at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking overnight. In the morning the stationary phase culture was used or the culture was diluted 1:50 in 50 ml fresh medium incubated for 3 hours at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking to produce a log phase culture. These cultures were then centrifuged in a cooled centrifuge (4°C) for 10 minutes at 3,380 xg and the supernatant discarded. The cell pellet was then resuspended in pre-cooled 0.02 M PBS and centrifuged in a cooled centrifuge (4°C) for 10 minutes at 3,380 xg twice before the resulting washed cell pellet was resuspended in pre-cooled 0.02 M PBS to a final cell density (OD₆₀₀) of 50 and put on ice.

2.23.3 Experimental procedure

Phosphate buffered saline (1950 μ l 0.02 M) was added to the electrode chamber and the system was left for 15 minutes to allow the oxygen concentration to stabilise. The next 50 μ l of sample (Section 2.23.2) was added to the chamber and the system was allowed to stabilise for 5 minutes before sealing the chamber with the lid. Then, after a further 5 minutes, 50 μ l 1 M glucose solution was injected to begin respiration. After 1 minute either a control of 50 μ l 0.02 M PBS was added or 50 μ l of test compound. Respiration rates were calculated as nmolO₂ min OD₆₀₀⁻².

Chapter 3: Hydrogen sulfide: defence against ROS and antibiotics?

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Hydrogen sulfide as a gasotransmitter

Hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) is one of three small gaseous molecules, along with nitric oxide (NO) and carbon monoxide (CO), that have key signalling and regulatory roles in higher eukaryotes. When present at high concentrations all three gases are toxic; they inhibit oxygen consumption by cytochrome oxidase (Cooper and Brown, 2008). However, at lower concentrations they have a number of beneficial biological functions. For example NO acts as a messenger that causes vascular muscle to relax (Murad, 1999) and is involved in the destruction of macrophage-engulfed pathogens (Fang, 2004), and CO has regulatory effects in the cardiovascular system and also has a role as a neurotransmitter (Motterlini and Otterbein, 2010). H₂S has similar roles in nervous, cardiovascular and metabolic signalling (Wang, 2003, Liu et al., 2011) and it has been suggested that its presence in blood plasma may be involved with the protection of endothelium cells from oxidative stress (Bearden et al., 2010).

3.1.2 Gasotransmitters and bacteria

NO, CO and H₂S are also prominent in bacterial metabolism. NO is an intermediate product in the denitrification process (Lundberg et al., 2004), CO can be used as an alternative carbon source (King and Weber, 2007) and H₂S is a by-product of sulfate respiration in sulfate-reducing bacteria (Muyzer and Stams, 2008). Furthermore, there have been signalling type roles proposed for bacterial derived gasotransmitters. For example, NO and H₂S seem to have a role in the formation and dispersal of biofilms (Soutourina et al., 2009, Di Palma et al., 2013). One of the most interesting proposals is the suggested role that NO and H₂S may have in offering resistance to oxidative stress and certain classes of antibiotics (Gusarov and Nudler, 2005, Shatalin et al., 2008, Shatalin et al., 2011).

3.1.3 Hydrogen sulfide as a defence against oxidative stress in bacteria

It has been claimed that H₂S may be part of a universal bacterial defence mechanism against oxidative stress, and certain classes of antibiotics (Shatalin et al., 2011). Experiments supporting this hypothesis have been carried out in four genetically divergent bacterial species: Escherichia coli, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Bacillus anthracis and Staphylococcus aureus (Shatalin et al., 2011). Resistance to hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and a range of antibiotics was measured for each species and either compared to mutants lacking the genes responsible for H₂S production or against strains where H₂S production had been chemically inhibited. Genes involved in the production of H_2S were knocked out in *P. aeruginosa* ($\Delta cbs \Delta cse$), *B. anthracis* $(\Delta cbs \Delta cse)$ and *E. coli* $(\Delta 3$ -mst) and these mutants were shown to produce measurably less H_2S than wildtype as well as exhibiting lower resistance to H_2O_2 and bactericidal antibiotics. However, no equivalent mutant was produced for S. aureus. Instead H₂S production was inhibited chemically by using aminooxyacetate (AOA) and propargylglycine (PAG), inhibitors of CSE and CBS respectively (Shatalin et al., 2011). Use of AOA and PAG did result in lower H₂S production by *S. aureus* and there was also decreased resistance to H_2O_2 and bactericidal antibiotics (Shatalin et al., 2011). However, AOA and PAG are poorly absorbed by cells and are relatively non-specific in their mode of action (Whiteman et al., 2011) making the results less convincing for S. aureus. As such, further studies into the role of H₂S in S. aureus and it's potential to protect the bacterium from oxidative stress were deemed to be needed.

3.1.4 Hydrogen sulfide biosynthesis

There are three principal enzymes, conserved across mammalian and microbial systems, that are involved in H₂S production: cystathionine beta-synthase (CBS), cystathionine gamma-lyase (CSE) and 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase (3-MST) (Shatalin et al., 2011, Kashfi and Olson, 2013). CBS and CSE produce H₂S from homocysteine and cysteine via beta-elimination reactions (Stipanuk, 2004). Whereas, 3-MST is the rate limiting step in a different cysteine to H₂S production pathway. Firstly, cysteine is converted into 3-mercaptopyruvate by cysteine amino transferase and then 3-MST converts the 3-mercaptopyruvate into 3-mercaptopyruvate-SSH, which is subsequently reduced by abundant thioredoxin and dihydrolipoic acid to

produce H₂S (Mikami et al., 2011). Homologs of CBS, CSE and 3-MST are found in many different bacteria but usually not all three in the same species. For example, *E. coli* only has a homolog of 3-MST, and no CBS or CSE homologs, whereas *S. aureus* does not appear to have a 3-MST homolog but does seem to have CBS and CSE homologs (Soutourina et al., 2009, Shatalin et al., 2011). In *S. aureus* the CBS and CSE homologs are known as *mccA* and *mccB* respectively and found together in the *mccAB* operon (Soutourina et al., 2009).

3.1.5 H₂S and cysteine metabolism in *S. aureus*

Production of H₂S is part of a complex network of enzymes regulated by the cysteine master regulator CymR (Figure 1.1) (Soutourina et al., 2009). This network includes other genes directly regulated by CymR including cysteine and methionine transporters (MetNPQ2, TcyP and TcyABC) as well as CysM which converts H₂S back into cysteine, and MetC, which has also been proposed to have a H₂S production function in *S. aureus* (Chang et al., 2006, Wolf et al., 2008). CymR acts as a transcriptional repressor for each of it's target genes and is sensitive to oxidative stress (Ji et al., 2012). It has also been suggested that CymR may form a regulatory complex with CysM in the same manner as the related proteins in *Bacillus subtilis* (Tanous et al., 2008, Soutourina et al., 2010). The role of CysM in oxidative stress has been previously investigated and this revealed that a *cysM* mutant is more sensitive to tellurite than wildtype *S. aureus* (Lithgow et al., 2004). However, the links between cysteine

3.2 Aims

The previous work summarised above led to the following research questions:

- Is the claim that H₂S is a universal defence against oxidative stress and antibiotics valid for a clinically relevant strain of *S. aureus*?
- What is the link between cysteine metabolism, H₂S production and oxidative and antibiotic stress resistance?

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Effect of excess cysteine on growth and H₂S production

Previous H₂S production experiments in bacteria were carried out with excess cysteine added to the medium (Shatalin et al., 2011). In order to investigate the effect this excess cysteine may have on growth and H₂S production *S. aureus* Je2 growth curves in the presence of different concentrations of cysteine were carried out (Figure 3.1). These growth curves showed that a concentration of cysteine of 31.25 μ g ml⁻¹ slightly increased the growth rate; however, concentrations above this had no positive effect on growth and once the concentration of cysteine reached 1000 μ g ml⁻¹ or above growth was slightly inhibited. Previous work used at most 500 μ g ml⁻¹ cysteine (Shatalin et al., 2011) and so was under the growth inhibition threshold for cysteine. H₂S production was also measured at each concentration of cysteine (Figure 3.1). This showed that cysteine concentrations above 250 μ g ml⁻¹ resulted in increased H₂S production.

3.3.2 Production of H₂S by *S. aureus* SH1000 and Je2

In order to investigate whether there was any significant difference in the production of H₂S between laboratory and clinical strains, the production of H₂S was measured for the laboratory strain SH1000 (a derivative of 8325-4) and the highly pathogenic CA-MRSA strain USA300 Je2 (Figure 3.2). It was revealed that there was no significant difference in H₂S production between the two strains except at intermediate concentrations of external cysteine (250 µg ml⁻¹ – 500 µg ml⁻¹) where the Je2 produced significantly more H₂S than SH1000. Therefore, Je2 was used for the majority of the following experiments in order to increase clinical relevance.

3.3.3 Growth and resistance to H₂O₂ and gentamicin when grown in defined medium with either cysteine or sodium thiosulfate as the sole sulfur source

Use of chemically defined medium (CDM) enabled the production of H₂S to be controlled by switching the sulfur source. Cultures were grown in CDM with either cysteine or sodium thiosulfate as the sole sulfur source at concentrations where growth was comparable (Figure 3.3). Production of H₂S was measured and there was a



Figure 3.1 Growth and production of H_2S by *S. aureus* Je2 in the presence of excess cysteine

a) Growth of *S. aureus* Je2 in TSB supplemented with the indicated concentrations of L-cysteine. Grown under aerobic conditions at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

b) Production of H₂S by *S. aureus* Je2 grown in TSB supplemented with the indicated concentrations of L-cysteine. H₂S production was measured using the lead acetate paper method (Section 2.15.1). Units represent H₂S production normalised to production of H₂S by *S. aureus* Je2 when no cysteine was added. The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments. **ns** $p \ge 0.05$ * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01 *** p < 0.001



Figure 3.2 Production of H₂S by different strains of *S. aureus*

Production of H_2S by *S. aureus* Je2 and SH1000 grown in BHI medium supplemented with the indicated concentrations of L-cysteine. H_2S production was measured using the lead acetate paper method (Section 2.15.1). Units represent H_2S production normalised to production of H_2S by *S. aureus* Je2 when no cysteine was added. The data are the mean values \pm standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments.

ns $p \ge 0.05$ * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01

marked decrease in production of H_2S when *S. aureus* was grown in CDM with sodium thiosulfate as it's sole sulfur source as compared to when grown with cysteine as it's sole sulfur source or grown in rich medium (TSB) (Figure 3.3). Resistance to oxidative stress in the form of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and bactericidal antibiotics in the form of gentamicin was then ascertained using survival curves based on CFUs (Figure 3.3). These survival curves showed a significant decrease in resistance to both H_2O_2 and gentamicin associated with using sodium thiosulfate as a sole sulfur source, suggesting that cysteine (H_2S) might contribute to enhanced tolerance to oxidative stress.

3.3.4 Resistance to oxidative stress and antibiotics following the addition of sodium hydrosulfide (NaHS) as an external source of H₂S

Next the effect of an external source of H_2S on resistance to H_2O_2 and antibiotics was investigated. Sodium hydrosulfide (NaHS) was added to *S. aureus* Je2 cultures at increasing concentrations and the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) for H_2O_2 and gentamicin was measured (Figure 3.4). The results showed that above 4 mg ml⁻¹ NaHS was toxic. However, some NaHS concentrations below the toxic threshold increased resistance to H_2O_2 but decreased resistance to gentamicin.

3.3.5 Cysteine metabolism mutants and production of H₂S

A number of cysteine metabolism transposon mutants were transduced from the Nebraska Transposon Mutant Library (NTML) back into the *S. aureus* Je2 background and the production of H₂S measured using the lead acetate paper method (Figure 3.6). Additionally a *cysM* mutant (Lithgow et al., 2004) was transduced from a *S. aureus* SH1000 background into *S. aureus* Je2, as there is no *cysM* transposon mutant available in the NTML. When these mutants were grown with no additional cysteine added to the medium *mccA*, *mccB* and *metC* strains showed no significant change in the production of H₂S compared to WT (Figure 3.6). However, when these three strains were grown with 500 μ g ml⁻¹ cysteine (Figure 3.6) *mccB* showed significantly lower production of H₂S compared to WT.



Figure 3.3 H_2S production and survival curves in CDM with cysteine and thiosulfate as sole sulfur sources

a) Growth of *S. aureus* Je2 grown in CDM (Section 2.1.2) supplemented with 2 mM sodium thiosulfate (NaThio), 500 μg ml⁻¹ L-cysteine or with no sulfur source. Grown under aerobic conditions at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking. Data shown are representative of three independent experiments.

b) Production of H_2S by *S. aureus* Je2 grown in TSB or CDM supplemented with either 2 mM NaThio or 500 µg ml⁻¹ L-cysteine. H_2S production was measured using the lead acetate paper method (Section 2.15.1). Units represent H_2S production normalised to production of H_2S by *S. aureus* Je2 grown in TSB. The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments.

c and **d**) Survival curves for *S. aureus* Je2 grown in CDM supplemented with either 2 mM NaThio or 500 μ g ml⁻¹ L-cysteine. Exponentially growing cultures were challenged with either **c**) 6.25x10⁻⁴ % H₂O₂ or **d**) 2.5 μ g ml⁻¹ gentamicin. Survival (%) was calculated following CFU measurements. The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments.

ns
$$p \ge 0.05$$
 * $p < 0.05$ ** $p < 0.01$







Figure 3.5 Production of H₂S by cysteine metabolism mutants

Production of H_2S by the indicated *S. aureus* Je2 mutants grown in **a and b)** TSB medium or **c)** TSB medium supplemented with 500 µg ml⁻¹ L-cysteine. H_2S production was measured using the lead acetate paper method (Section 2.15.1). Units represent H_2S production normalised to production of H_2S by WT.

a) Data shown are representative of three independent experiments.

b and c) The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments.

ns $p \ge 0.05$ * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01

Interestingly the most dramatic contrast in H₂S production was observed for *cymR*: when no excess cysteine was present the production of H₂S was reduced 30% compared to WT; however, when 500 μ g ml⁻¹ cysteine was present the *cymR* strain exhibited enhanced H₂S production (130%). On the other hand, the *cysM* mutant had a consistent increase in H₂S production, irrespective of excess cysteine concentration, of between 100%–200% increase compared to WT (Figure 3.6).

3.3.6 Production of H₂S by *cysM* mutants measured using Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR)

The use of FT-IR to measure the production of H₂S more quantitatively was investigated (Figure 3.6). Preliminary experiments were carried out using *Escherichia coli* due to safety restrictions. *Escherichia coli* K12 and an equivalent *cysM* strain were used. Production of H₂S was measured over time and showed that the *cysM* mutant produced 50% more H₂S under the conditions of the experiment. Unfortunately, the FT-IR technique is not very sensitive for H₂S measurement and so high biomass suspensions were required to produce a detectable level of H₂S. Even following improvements to the technique it proved impossible to get reliable results under normal culture conditions with *S. aureus*.

3.3.7 Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of cysteine metabolism mutants for H₂O₂ and gentamicin

In order to investigate the resistance of the cysteine metabolism mutants to H_2O_2 and gentamicin, MICs were measured for each mutant (Figure 3.7). The *mccA*, *mccB* and *metC* and *cymR* mutants showed no significant change in resistance to H_2O_2 and gentamicin; whereas the *cysM* mutant was significantly more resistant to both H_2O_2 and gentamicin.

3.3.8 Growth inhibition zone (GIZ) assays for investigating resistance of cysteine mutants on solid medium

Cysteine metabolism mutants were seeded as lawns on agar plates and challenged with discs containing either H_2O_2 or gentamicin (Figure 3.8). This was in order to



Figure 3.6 Production of H₂S by *E. coli* K12 and *cysM* mutant measured using FT-IR Production of H₂S by *E. coli* K12 and *cysM* mutant. The strains were grown overnight under aerobic conditions at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking in 2YT medium and then concentrated to an OD₆₀₀ of 30 in LB supplemented with 130 mM cysteine hydrochloride. H₂S production was then measured using the FT-IR method over a period of 6 hours (Section 2.15.2).









The indicated *S. aureus* Je2 mutants were seeded as lawns onto tryptic soy agar (TSA), supplemented with 500 μ g ml⁻¹ L-cysteine where indicated, and challenged with 6 mm paper discs containing either **a**) 10 μ l 0.35% H₂O₂ or **b**) 3 mg ml⁻¹ gentamicin. The growth inhibition zones were measured after 24 hours growth under aerobic conditions at 37°C. The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments.

ns $p \ge 0.05$ * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01 *** p < 0.001

investigate the resistance of the cysteine metabolism mutants to H_2O_2 and gentamicin in an alternative environment. Under these conditions, the *mccA*, *mccB*, *metC* and *cymR* mutants all behaved in much the same way as in the liquid culture MIC experiments. However, the *cysM* mutant only showed significantly increased resistance to H_2O_2 but not to gentamicin.

The effect of excess cysteine under these conditions was also investigated because it was not possible to accurately measure the concentration of H_2S on solid medium (Figure 3.8). This showed that excess cysteine increased resistance to both H_2O_2 and gentamicin. This may highlight a difference between internally produced H_2S and an external source of H_2S with regards to resistance to gentamicin (Figure 3.5 and Figure 3.8).

Experiments were also carried out under anaerobic conditions for *S. aureus* Je2 and the *cysM* mutant in order to simulate more closely the centre of an abscess. Under anaerobic conditions the ability of the *cysM* mutant to display increased resistance to H_2O_2 was reversed (Figure 3.9) with the mutant actually being less resistant to H_2O_2 than the WT. Resistance to gentamicin remained the same under aerobic or anaerobic conditions.



Figure 3.9 H_2O_2 and gentamicin GIZ assays for *S. aureus* Je2 and *cysM* mutant under aerobic and anaerobic conditions

Staphylococcus aureus Je2 and the *cysM* mutant were seeded as lawns onto TSA and challenged with 6 mm paper discs containing either **a** and **b**) 10 μ l 0.35% H₂O₂ or **c** and **d**) 3 mg ml⁻¹ gentamicin. The growth inhibition zones were measured after 24 hours grown under either **a** and **c**) aerobic or **b** and **d**) anaerobic conditions at 37°C. **a**) Data shown are representative of three independent experiments.

a, **b**, **c** and **d**) The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments.

ns $p \ge 0.05$ * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01

3.4 Discussion

Previous studies (Soutourina et al., 2009, Soutourina et al., 2010, Shatalin et al., 2011) that have investigated the role of H₂S in stress resistance have tended to supplement the medium with excess cysteine or cystine. An increasing cysteine concentration results in increased H₂S production (Figure 3.2) but might not be physiologically relevant. High concentrations of cysteine also impair bacterial growth. Therefore, the medium used in subsequent experiments did not have excess cysteine added.

It has been previously stated that MccAB is responsible for H_2S production in *S. aureus* (Shatalin et al., 2011), with some suggestion that MetC may be involved (Soutourina et al., 2010). However, *mccA*, *mccB* and *metC* mutants showed no significant reduction in H_2S production as compared to WT, except for a slight reduction in H_2S production for the *mccB* strain when grown in the presence of 500 µg ml⁻¹ cysteine. Consequently, it is possible that there are other important genes involved in the production of H_2S that have yet to be identified. A transposon library screen is reported in Chapter 5 in attempt to identify these genes. However, it is most likely that there is a level of functional redundancy occurring for H_2S production and that a combination mutant is required in order to observe a reduction in H_2S production. Unfortunately, attempts to produce such a strain were unsuccessful during the project.

It is also possible that an alternative H₂S detection method to the very sensitive but qualitative lead acetate paper technique method could be utilised. FT-IR showed some promise but ultimately proved too cumbersome and time consuming. Methylene blue assay (Fogo and Popowsky, 1949) and H₂S probe (Li et al., 2008) were also investigated as options but proved to be too unreliable. Of them the methylene blue assay had the most promise. Therefore, future experiments could use the methylene blue assay, perhaps with a modified method, to facilitate more sensitive detection of H₂S.

The production of H_2S by the *cymR* mutant was significantly lowered in rich medium but increased when excess cysteine was used (Figure 3.6). This might simply be as a result of the de-repression of the cysteine transporters TcyP and TcyABC, resulting in a more efficient transportation of cysteine into the bacterial cells (Figure 1.1). The *cysM* mutant reliably produced more H_2S irrespective of cysteine concentration (Figure 3.6). This is consistent with CysM being responsible for the conversion of H_2S into cysteine.

Overall there was no meaningful change in resistance to H_2O_2 and gentamicin observed for the *mccA*, *mccB*, *metC* or *cymR* mutants. However, as previously stated this may be due to functional redundancies and future work with multi-knockout strains might yield more significant results.

On the other hand, the *cysM* mutant consistently showed an increased resistance to H_2O_2 under aerobic conditions. This was consistent with the results observed when external NaHS was used and when increased H_2S production was enhanced with excess cysteine. These observations are consistent with the hypothesis that increased H_2S production can offer a defence against oxidative stress. However, the link with antibiotic resistance is not so clear because under certain conditions the *cysM* mutant was more resistant to gentamicin, such as in liquid media MICs, not in others, namely the solid media GIZ assays, it was not (Figure 3.7, Figure 3.8 and Figure 3.9). Previous work had shown the production of H_2S to be defensive against gentamicin in *S. aureus*, *Bacillus anthracis, Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Escherichia coli* using survival curves in liquid media (Shatalin et al., 2011). It would be interesting to investigate the effect of H_2S production on antibiotic resistance under different results to the survival curves in liquid media.

When NaHS was used as an external source of H_2S there was an inverse relationship between H_2S and antibiotic resistance (Figure 3.4). This starts to question the assertion that H_2S is a universal defence against antibiotics and also undermines the theories that bactericidal antibiotics cause cell death via oxidative stress. Alternatively, this could highlight the importance of internal production of H_2S , as opposed to a high external concentration of H_2S , in promoting increased resistance to gentamicin.

80

3.4.1 Future work

The study of H₂S production levels and oxidative and antibiotic resistance in other strains of clinically relevant strains of *S. aureus* would be a simple way of checking how important H₂S production is to clinical resistance generally. Other follow up work *in vivo* would be invaluable for understanding the role of H₂S production in infection. Animal work with the *cysM* mutant would be valuable in ascertaining if increased production of H₂S increases pathogenicity. The creation of a full H₂S negative production levels has an effect on pathogenicity. The discovery of other related H₂S production genes would also be valuable and this is explored in Chapter 5. A better understanding of sulfur metabolism and redox control could also inform studies into H₂S mediated resistance and these ideas are explored in Chapters 4 and 5.

Chapter 4: The response of *S. aureus* to a sudden reduction in redox potential

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 Intracellular S. aureus

Staphylococcus aureus is able to survive and proliferate inside professional and nonprofessional phagocytes (Rogers and Tompsett, 1952, Kapral and Shayegani, 1959, Hudson et al., 1995, Gresham et al., 2000, Anwar et al., 2009, Fraunholz and Sinha, 2012). When *S. aureus* is engulfed by phagocytic cells the majority of the bacteria are destroyed; however, when incomplete clearance occurs *S. aureus* is able to survive inside the host cells (Garzoni and Kelley, 2011, Thwaites and Gant, 2011). Through this mechanism intracellular *S. aureus* is able to avoid the host immune system, and antibiotics, leading to wide dissemination and persistent infections (Garzoni and Kelley, 2011, Thwaites and Gant, 2011). Intracellular *S. aureus* is also responsible for persistent infections in a wide range of non-professional phagocytic cell types including in recurrent rhinosinusitis, pulmonary infections, osteomyelitis and endocarditis (Bosse et al., 2005, Clement et al., 2005, Que et al., 2005, Jarry et al., 2008). Understanding how *S. aureus* survives and proliferates intracellularly is key to preventing and treating these serious conditions.

4.1.2 The intracellular life style

Staphylococcus aureus enters cells either by engulfment by professional phagocytes or through the invasion of non-professional phagocytes via a fibronectin binding protein (FnBP) and host $\alpha 5\beta 1$ integrin mediated zipper-type mechanism (Sinha et al., 2000). Other surface factors may also be involved in host phagocytosis including: wall teichoic acids (WTA) (Weidenmaier et al., 2008), clumping factor B (ClfB) (Wertheim et al., 2008, Haim et al., 2010), extracellular adherence protein (Eap) (Harraghy et al., 2003), autolysin (Atl) (Hirschhausen et al., 2010) and protein A (Claro et al., 2011); however, the extent to which each of these contribute to the engulfment of *S. aureus* is ambiguous. Once a *S. aureus* bacterium is engulfed it must first survive in the harsh environment of the host phagosome and it has a number of mechanisms for successfully doing this (Section 1.8.3) (Schroder et al., 2006, Olivier et al., 2009).

However, in order to avoid lysosomal fusion and to carry on proliferating the *S. aureus* cells must escape from the phagosome (Schnaith et al., 2007). This has been shown to be an *agr* dependent process (Qazi et al., 2001, Shompole et al., 2003), with *agr*-strains completely unable to escape from phagosomal compartments (Schnaith et al., 2007). Phagosomal escape seems to be primarily mediated via α -toxin (Kahl et al., 2000, Jarry and Cheung, 2006) and possibly by the synergistic action of δ -toxin and β -toxin (Giese et al., 2011).

This escape into the cytoplasm can then lead to apoptotic or necrotic cell death (Bayles et al., 1998, Krut et al., 2003) or in other cases *S. aureus* survives and proliferates inside the cytoplasm (Kubica et al., 2008, Fraunholz and Sinha, 2012). Adaption to the new environment of the cytosol and the expression of toxins are likely to be key in determining the fate of the host cell. The production of very low doses of α -toxin (Bantel et al., 2001, Haslinger et al., 2003) and PVL (Genestier et al., 2005) can both induce apoptosis in leukocytes following the breakdown of mitochondrial membranes, and so in order to survive in the cytosol the expression of these toxins must be decreased. Better understanding of the factors that contribute to determining if an escape from a host phagosome results in immediate cell death or longer term intracellular survival is key in the fight against persistent *S. aureus* infections.

4.1.3 Intracellular S. aureus gene expression

An *in vitro* transcriptomic study of *S. aureus* 6850 internalised in lung epithelial cells has shown that there are significant changes in *S. aureus* gene expression following internalisation (Garzoni et al., 2007). Initially, two hours post-internalisation, there is a significant reduction in the transcription of genes related to metabolism, nutrient transport and cell wall synthesis and an increase in the transcription of genes related

to oxidative stress resistance and toxin production; however, the gene expression profile started to reverse 6 hours post-internalisation (Garzoni et al., 2007).

4.1.4 Small colony variants

Small colony variants (SCVs) are characterised by their having a smaller colony size than wildtype *S. aureus* and by their slower growth rate, increased expression of cell surface proteins and decreased expression of virulence factors and toxins, under aerobic conditions (Proctor et al., 2006). It has been hypothesised that SCVs may be induced by the intracellular environment (Vesga et al., 1996) and that they play a crucial role in intracellular persistence (Proctor et al., 2006, Kahl et al., 2016). SCVs can be caused by mutations in the electron transport chain, such as *hemB* mutants (von Eiff et al., 1997), but clinical SCVs mostly lack defined mutations and rapidly revert to wild-type phenotype (Kriegeskorte et al., 2011, Tuchscherr et al., 2011). It has been suggested that a SCV phenotype may be a temporary state that enables *S. aureus* to survive intracellularly and that they emerge and disappear dynamically through the course of a chronic infection (Tuchscherr et al., 2011, Horst et al., 2012)

The regulation of the SCV phenotype has been extensively investigated with a clear association between low *agr* expression and SCVs discovered (Vaudaux et al., 2002, Kohler et al., 2003, Kahl et al., 2005, Kohler et al., 2008), as well as, a clear link with SigB (Tuchscherr et al., 2015, Tuchscherr and Loffler, 2016). Better understanding the regulation of SCV phenotype formation and the links with regulators is key to preventing and treating persistent *S. aureus* infections.

4.1.5 Redox potential

Redox potential (E_h), the availability of electrons, is a key environmental parameter that can have a profound effect on bacterial phenotypes. The *E. coli* redox sensing two component ArcBA system has been shown to have profound effect on global gene expression (Bekker et al., 2010) and the *S. aureus agr* system has been shown to be down-regulated at low redox potentials (around –180 mV), with associated extensive

85

changes in gene expression, following co-culture with *Lactococcus lactis* (Nouaille et al., 2014).

The redox potential of an exponentially growing *S. aureus* culture is around 50 mV (Nouaille et al., 2014) and phagosomes tend to have a redox potential (Eh) of between 60 to 180 mV (Go and Jones, 2008). Whereas, when *S. aureus* enters the host cytoplasm it immediately finds itself in an aerobic environment with a low E_h (-220 to -286 mV) due to the presence of high (30:1 to 100:1) ratios of glutathione to oxidised glutathione (GSH:GSSG) (Hwang et al., 1992). Therefore, redox potential has the possibility to be an important trigger for gene expression for internal *S. aureus* as it moves between compartments with vastly different redox potentials.

4.1.6 Continuous culture

In order to investigate the effect of a sudden redox potential change, as experienced by *S. aureus* as it escapes from a phagosome into host cytoplasm, with accuracy and reliability it is important to control all other environmental factors. An effective tool to create reliable culture conditions is to use continuous culture in a chemostat (Rolfe et al., 2011, Denby et al., 2015). Under these conditions medium is added to the chemostat at a constant rate, whilst culture medium is being removed at the same rate, allowing a specific growth rate to be maintained (Novick and Szilard, 1950).

Staphylococcus aureus continuous culture has recently been used to simulate aspects of the host environment whilst maintaining a high level of control over environmental parameters. This has facilitated investigation into chronic *S. aureus* infection and SCV formation (Bui et al., 2015), as well as, creating an alternative model for testing antibiotic effectiveness against *S. aureus* infections (Udekwu and Levin, 2012)

86

4.2 Aims

- Develop a *S. aureus* continuous culture model in order to examine the effect of a sudden reduction in redox potential, as experienced following the escape of *S. aureus* from a phagosome in the host cytosol.
- Study the transcriptomic response of *S. aureus* to a sudden reduction in redox potential using this continuous culture model.
- Investigate the metabolomics, pathogenic and physiological responses of *S. aureus*, in response to low redox potential environments.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Continuous culture and sudden redox shift experiment design

In order to investigate the effect of redox change, as faced by *S. aureus* as it escapes from the phagosome into the cytoplasm, a model for investigating the effect of redox potential (Eh) on *S. aureus* in aerobic chemostat continuous culture was used. A clinical relevant community acquired MRSA strain (USA300 LAC Je2) in chemically defined medium (CDM) was used and in order to reduce the effect of factors other than redox potential (Eh) confounding the results there was constant air flow (1 L min⁻¹), medium feed (0.2 L hr⁻¹), stirring (200 rpm) and pH (7.0) (Figure 4.1). Redox potential was controlled by allowing the culture to first reach a steady state with an optimal redox potential (E_h = 61.7 mV ± 14.2 (SD)) (Figure 4.2) close to the previously observed value of E_h ≈ 50 mV (Nouaille et al., 2014)) before rapidly reducing the redox potential by adding the potent reducing agent dithiothreitol (DTT) to the medium and feedstock. DTT was used at it was able to maintain the culture at a stable redox potential over the 24 hour course of the experiment. Samples were taken during the baseline steadystate culture and then at 2, 5, 10, 15, 30, 60 and 1440 minutes (24 hours) following the addition of DTT.

The concentration of DTT used (9.7 mM) was determined to be sufficient to lower the redox potential to around that found in mammalian cytosol ($E_h = -214.0 \text{ mV} \pm 59.6$ (SD) in 10 minutes and then to maintain that redox potential for the full 24 hour experiment (at 24 hours $E_h = -274 \pm 40.0$ (SD)) (Figure 4.2). This concentration of DTT did have an inhibitory effect on growth rate for USA300 LAC Je2 (Figure 4.3); however, the dilution rate of the chemostat (0.2 h^{-1} or a doubling time of around 3.5 hours) was lower than the maximum specific growth rate (μ_{max}) when Je2 was grown in the presence of 9.7 mM in batch ($\mu_{max} = 1.14 \text{ h}^{-1}$, which was 33% less than with 0 mM DTT where $\mu_{max} = 1.71 \text{ h}^{-1}$). Also, there was a delayed lag phase observed indicating that there was some level of adaptation taking place (Figure 4.3).

During the course of the experiment bacterial density (OD_{600}) was measured (Figure 4.4) and it showed that bacterial density stayed stable throughout the experiment


Figure 4.1 Diagram of S. aureus in continuous culture

The environment of the chemostat vessel was maintained at 37° C and pH 7 with 200 rpm stirring and constant aeration at 1 L min⁻¹ airflow. Continuous growth was maintained through the addition of 0.2 L hr⁻¹ fresh medium (CDM) to the 1 litre vessel and the draining of effluent at the same rate.



Figure 4.2 Redox potential following addition of DTT to *S. aureus* **continuous culture** The redox potential of *S. aureus* grown in continuous culture following the addition of 9.7 mM DTT to *S. aureus* continuous culture. *Staphylococcus aureus* was grown in CDM at 37°C and pH 7 with 200 rpm stirring and constant aeration at 1 L min⁻¹ airflow. Continuous growth was maintained through the addition of 0.2 L hr⁻¹ fresh medium (CDM) to the 1 litre vessel and the draining of effluent at the same rate. The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments.



Figure 4.3 Growth of *S. aureus* in CDM supplemented with DTT

Growth of *S. aureus* grown in CDM supplemented with the indicated concentrations of DTT. Grown under aerobic conditions at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking. Data shown are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 4.4 Optical density and dry cell weight (DCW) following addition of DTT to *S. aureus* continuous culture

a) Bacterial density (OD_{600}) **b)** DCW following the addition of 9.7 mM DTT to *S. aureus* continuous culture. *Staphylococcus aureus* was grown in CDM at 37°C and pH 7 with 200 rpm stirring and constant aeration at 1 L min⁻¹ airflow. Continuous growth was maintained through the addition of 0.2 L hr⁻¹ fresh medium (CDM) to the 1 litre vessel and the draining of effluent at the same rate. The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments.

 $(OD_{600} = 5.5 \pm 1.1 \text{ (SD)})$. Dry cell weight was also measured during the course of the experiment at 0, 60 and 1440 minutes following the addition of DTT and this revealed a significant increase in dry cell weight of 22% ± 11% (SD) by 60 minutes and 58% ± 30% (SD) by 24 hours (Figure 4.4).

4.3.2 Sudden redox shift and respiration

Following the addition of DTT to the steady state culture the percentage of dissolved oxygen fluctuated considerably (Figure 4.5). Before the addition of DTT the dissolved oxygen concentration was stable at around 10% but 5 minutes following the addition of DTT the dissolved oxygen concentration had increased 3-fold. Thirty minutes following the addition of DTT the dissolved oxygen concentration had returned to steady state levels (Figure 4.5). When DTT was added to the chemostat when no cells were present with aeration limited to create an initial 10% dissolved oxygen saturation, there was no change to the dissolved oxygen concentration suggesting that DTT was not affecting the oxygen probe but instead inhibiting respiration in the *S. aureus* culture when it was initial added. Furthermore, the oxygen saturation returning to, and remaining at, around 10% until the end of the 24 hour experiment (Figure 4.5), whilst the biomass increased (Figure 4.4), indicates that less oxygen was being used by each cell by the end of the experiment and suggests a switch to non-aerobic forms of respiration.

In order to investigate the hypothesis that DTT was inhibiting respiration a Clark-type oxygen electrode was used. Using this method DTT appeared to have a slight negative effect on the probe when no cells were present. Taking this into account there seemed to be a small, but insignificant, inhibition of respiration caused by DTT at concentrations similar to those used in the chemostat. When reduced glutathione (GSH), the naturally occurring reducing agent found in mammalian cytosol, was used as the reducing agent in the experiments a significant inhibition of respiration was measured (32.1% ±8.1% (SD)) (Figure 4.6).

93



Figure 4.5 Dissolved oxygen concentration following the addition of DTT to sterile medium or *S. aureus* continuous culture

Dissolved oxygen concentration following the addition of 9.7 mM DTT to **a**) CDM with no bacteria added or **b**) *S. aureus* continuous culture. Conditions were maintained at 37° C and pH 7 with 200 rpm stirring and with **a**) aeration limited to create an initial 10% dissolved oxygen saturation or **b**) constant aeration at 1 L min⁻¹ airflow. Continuous growth was maintained through the addition of 0.2 L hr⁻¹ fresh medium (CDM) to the 1 litre vessel and the draining of effluent at the same rate. The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments.



Figure 4.6 Effect of DTT and reduced glutathione (GSH) on *S. aureus* respiration, measured using a Clark-type oxygen electrode

PBS was added to the 2 ml chamber and stabilised for 2 minutes. Then 50 μ l 1 M glucose was added, containing *S. aureus* in PBS, to initiate respiration. Then after a further 1 minute 50 μ l of either PBS, KCN, GSH or DTT, at the indicted concentrations, was added and the effect on oxygen consumption noted. **a**) Units represent dissolved oxygen concentration (nmol) and data shown are representative of three independent experiments. **b**) Units represent the inhibition of respiration (%) and the data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments. **ns** $p \ge 0.05$ ****** $p \le 0.01$ ******* $p \le 0.001$

4.3.3 Sudden redox shift and SCVs

In order to see if there was an effect on the proportion of SCVs following the sudden negative redox switch, samples were taken from steady state culture and 5, 30, 60 and 1440 minutes after the addition of DTT. There was no observed change in the proportion of SCV colonies (Figure 4.7). Also the stability of SCVs from each time point was determined and no significant change was observed. However there does appear to be a slight trend from stable SCVs towards unstable ones over the 24 hour experiment (Figure 4.7).

To investigate the longer term effect of a reduced redox potential on the formation of SCVs a longer term experiment was carried out on solid medium. This was due to the limitations of the chemostat culture consistently forming biofilms during longer experiments. After 48 hours on solid medium supplemented with DTT the proportion of SCVs had increased dramatically (Figure 4.8) suggesting that a switch to a SCV phenotype may occur over a longer time period than the 24 hour chemostat experiment was able to accommodate.

4.3.4 Sudden redox shift and extracellular metabolite production

Extracellular metabolite production was measured using proton-NMR. Against the complex background of CDM, it was possible to identify and measure peaks relating to DTT and glucose, as well as, key metabolites acetate and lactate (Figure 4.9). The measurement of DTT in the medium confirmed the accuracy of the NMR with the concentration of DTT being measured close to the expected level (9.7 mM) for the first 60 minutes and then falling to 6.2 mM ±0.1mM (SD) after 24 hours (Figure 4.10). There was no significant change to acetate production throughout the experiment. However, there was a sustained increase in the production of lactate, consistent with inhibited respiratory activity.

In addition to the NMR a lactate dehydrogenase enzyme assay was carried out and showed that lactate dehydrogenase activity increased following the addition of DTT (Figure 4.11). Thus, 24 hours after the addition of DTT lactate dehydrogenase activity had increased 12.6 – fold compared to before the addition of DTT.





Frequency of SCVs following addition of 9.7 mM DTT to *S. aureus* continuous culture. Conditions were maintained at 37°C and pH 7 with 200 rpm stirring and with constant aeration at 1 L min⁻¹ airflow. Continuous growth was maintained through the addition of 0.2 L hr⁻¹ fresh medium (CDM) to the 1 litre vessel and the draining of effluent at the same rate. Samples were taken at 0, 5, 30, 60 and 1440 minutes and diluted on MacConkey blood agar containing 2 μ g ml⁻¹ gentamicin before being incubated at 37°C for 24 hours. **a**) SCV were identified as being ten times smaller than WT with less pigmentation and with limited haemolytic activity. **b**) SCVs as a percentage of all cells. **c**, **d & e**) Around 10 SCVs from each time point were plated onto rich medium (TSB) and after 24 hours at 37°C is determined if the colony had **c**) retained a SCV phenotype **d**) partially retained a SCV phenotype but also partially reverted to WT phenotype or **e**) fully reverted to a WT phenotype. The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments. **ns** $p \ge 0.05$



Figure 4.8 Frequency of small colony variants (SCVs) following growth on solid medium with or without the addition of DTT

Staphylococcus aureus was grown on rich medium (TSB) and MacConkey blood agar containing 2 μ g ml⁻¹ gentamicin. Both sets of plates either contained no DTT or were supplemented with 9.7 mM DTT as indicated. The plates were incubated at 37°C for 48 hours. **a)** The total number of colony forming units (CFUs) was determined from the rich medium plates. **b)** the total number of SCVs was determined from the MacConkey blood agar plates. SCV were identified as being ten times smaller than WT with less pigmentation and with limited haemolytic activity. **c)** SCVs as a percentage of total CFUs. The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments.

ns *p* ≥ 0.05 *** p ≤ 0.001





Supernatant samples from *S. aureus* continuous culture following the addition of 9.7 mM DTT were evaluated using proton NMR (Section 2.21). 1 mM trimethylislyl propionate (TSP) was used for calibration. Data shown are representative of three independent experiments.





Proton-NMR was used to measure the concentration of metabolites in supernatant following the addition of DTT to *S. aureus* continuous culture. The concentration of **a**) DTT, **b**) acetate and **c**) lactate are shown. The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments.

ns *p* ≥ 0.05 * p ≤ 0.05



Figure 4.11 Lactate dehydrogenase activity following the addition of DTT to *S. aureus* continuous culture

The lactate dehydrogenase activity was measured in supernatant samples from *S. aureus* continuous culture following the addition of 9.7 mM DTT. The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments. **ns** $p \ge 0.05$ ** $p \le 0.01$

4.3.5 Sudden redox shift transcriptomics and gene regulation

In order to investigate the effect a sudden negative redox shift was having on transcriptional reprogramming, microarrays were used to determine changes in transcription over the course of the experiment. Cluster analysis showed that the three repeats had similar transcriptional profiles (Figure 4.12). This was particularly clear at time 0 and 1440 minutes after the addition of DTT with more clustering around the repeats, as opposed to the intermediate samples (2, 5, 10, 15, 30 and 60 minutes after DTT addition) where the dynamics of adaptation are greatest.

4.3.6 Transcriptional regulators (TFinfer)

Before analysis of the transcription of individual genes was undertaken the entire raw dataset was analysed using the open access TFinfer programme (Asif et al., 2010). The TFinfer programme reveals changes in transcription factors that are responsible for driving transcriptional reprogramming and has been used to characterise such responses in *E. coli* (Rolfe et al., 2012, Denby et al., 2015). In order to use the TFinfer programme it is necessary to construct a matrix which contains known connections between genes and regulators. As such a matrix was constructed for *S. aureus* that contained 11 transcription factors that had previously been associated with some level of redox sensing ability. The regulators that were included were AirR, AgrA, CymR, MgrA, NreABC, Rex, Rot, SarZ, SarA, CstR and CtsR (Table 4.1).

The TFinfer software predicted four responses for these transcriptional regulators to the sudden redox drop (Figure 4.13). AgrA and Rex showed a rapid decrease in the first 2-5 minutes after the addition followed by a much slower decrease for the rest of the experiment. On the other hand, Air, CymR, CtsR and SarZ all increased drastically in the first 2-5 minutes after adding DTT before increasing at a slower rate until the end of the experiment. Rot, MgrA and SarA also increased in the first 2-5 minutes after addition of DTT; however, then decreased between 5-30 minutes before levelling off for the rest of the experiment. Finally, CstR and NreABC showed no significant change to the sudden redox potential change.



Figure 4.12 Cluster analysis of transcriptomics data

Genespring cluster analysis tool was used to compare the relationship between the different microarray data sets. Microarray data sets that show similar transcriptomic profiles are shown clustered together. **Blue)** gene down-regulated relative to time 0

Red) gene up-regulated relative to time 0

Transcription Factor	Mode of action	References
AirR	Binds DNA under reducing conditions. The sensor AirS exhibits kinase activity in reduced [2Fe-2S] ²⁺ but not oxidised [2Fe-2S] ⁺ form	(Sun et al., 2012)
AgrA	DNA binding affected by intramolecular dithiol- disulfide switch and AIPs. AIPs positively regulate Agr and inactivated by thiolysis of thiolactone ring	(Dunman et al., 2001, Wang et al., 2015)
CymR	Contains single cysteine residue that inhibits DNA binding when oxidized	(Ji et al., 2012)
MgrA	Contains single cysteine residue that inhibits DNA binding when oxidized	(Luong et al., 2006)
SarA	Contains single cysteine residue that inhibits DNA binding when oxidized	(Dunman et al., 2001)
SarZ	Contains single cysteine residue that inhibits DNA binding when oxidized	(Tamber and Cheung, 2009)
Rot	Part of SarA family but has no cysteine residues. Linked to Agr. RNAIII cleaves the <i>rot</i> transcript	(Boisset et al., 2007, Killikelly et al., 2015)
NreABC	NreC responds to oxygen through NreB [4Fe-4S] cluster. Responds to nitrate availability through action of NreA.	(Kamps et al., 2004, Schlag et al., 2008)
Rex	Binds DNA when NADH:NAD $^{+}$ ratio is low	(Pagels et al., 2010)
CstR	Responds to sulfide stress	(Luebke et al., 2014)
CtsR	When thiols of molecular redox switch McsA are oxidised then McsB is realised, which inactivates CtsR	(Elsholz et al., 2011)

Table 4.1 TFinfer transcription factors matrix



Figure 4.13 Relative concentrations of transcription factor proteins following addition of DTT to *S. aureus* continuous culture calculated using TFinfer software The whole microarray data set was analysed using TFinfer (Section 2.12.3). a) CstR and NreABC remain mostly unchanged. b) Air, CymR, CtsR and SarZ increase immediately and stay high over 24 hours. c) AgrA and Rex decrease immediately and continue to decrease over 24 hours d) MgrA, Rot and SarA increase immediately but then decrease and stabilise between 30 minutes and 24 hours.



Figure 4.14 Overview of transcriptomics following the addition of DTT to *S. aureus* continuous culture

a) \log_{10} fold change in genes significantly (\geq 5-fold, p < 0.05) up or down-regulated following the addition of 9.7 mM DTT are shown in grey and the top ten most significant results are coloured. **b)** Up or down-regulation of operons shown for 1440 minutes following DTT addition, divided by operon class (Table 4.2).

robic steady state ^b Function ^c	60 min 1440 min	2.3 5.7 N-Acetylmuramoyl-L-alanine amidase	16.54 35.27 Putative lipoprotein; hypothetical proteins	citization in the constraint of the constraint o	-9.3 - 14.0 Typouneucal protein	2.2 7.6 Hypothetical protein. Ado-Met methyltransferas	superfamily	-3.9 -5.6 Fucose O-acetylase or related acetyltransferas	Tamiy	8.2 13.9 Hypothetical protein	17.2 47.2 Hypothetical protein	-5.2 -5.4 Hypothetical protein	-5.2 -5.4 Hypothetical protein	14.1 13.8 Hypothetical protein	-9.6 -11.8 Hypothetical protein, MAP domain (found in	extracellular matrix proteins)	33.8 143.6 Hypothetical protein	-4.7 -7.2 Hypothetical membrane protein	4.3 6.6 Hypothetical protein, DUF3147 superfamily	•	7.1 4.9 SarS: Staphylococcal accessory regulator	3.2 6.1 ROK family DNA- and/or sugar-binding family p	4.5 8.7 α -D-1,4-glucosidase; MalR: maltose operon	transcriptional repressor	6.7 4.0 Rot: repressor of toxins	-84.3 -232.5 RNAIII and δ-toxin	-9.7 -12.9 AgrBD: accessory gene regulator system	-6.5 -11.9 AgrCA: accessory gene regulator system	7.5 23.4 NirR: nitrite reductase regulator	
e initial aeı	30 min	2.2	13.99		- 6.0 7	2.2		4.1		6.9	19.1	-4.1	-4.1	13.7	-8.4		30.4	-3.7	3.0		5.6	3.2	4.3		4.8	-52.7	-8.8	-6.7	4.5	0
lative to th	15 min	2.9	12.93	0	5.1- 2.4	3.7		-4.0	1	5.6	17.9	-3.9	-3.9	13.7	-6.8		27.0	-3.7	2.9		6.7	2.8	4.7		3.0	-29.5	-7.4	-5.8	4.1	1
indance re	10 min	3.5	12.58	5	-0.0 -	4.1 6.2		-5.1	1	5.8	17.2	-3.7	-3.7	21.7	-5.7		25.2	-4.2	2.6		7.9	2.4	4.9		4.0	-21.1	-7.5	-4.8	4.5	0
nge in abu	5 min	2.8	11.77	с Ц	ο. υ. α	3.2		-5.2	I	7.1	14.4	-2.8	-2.8	19.2	-3.8		19.7	-4.1	2.6		7.3	2.5	8.1		4.0	-12.9	-6.2	-3.9	6.2	
Fold cha	2 min	9 .6	7.76	al proteins	- - - -	2.4		-4.7		5.1	17.9	-4.4	-4.4	10.7	-3.8		18.2	-4.2	2.2		6.2	3.1	7.5		3.2	-11.0	-5.2	-4.9	7.4	
Transcriptional	2	Class 1: Cell surface 0438	1741-1743	Class 2: Hypothetic:	0179	0261		0953		1224	1739*	1997	1998	2132	2164*		2423	2448	2641	Class 3: Regulators	0114*	0316	1457-1456		1708	1988	1989-1990*	1991-1992*	2347	

Table 4.2 Transcripts that were altered in response to the addition of dithiothreitol to aerobic respiratory steady-state cultures of *S. aureus* USA300

Class 4: Transport		1	1	1				
0117-0115	3.2	5.7	7.5	7.6	4.7	3.9	6.8	SirABC: ABC iron-compound transporter
0173-0177	-5.4	-5.3	-6.6	-7.9	-9.0	-9.2	-14.7	ABC transporter ATP-binding protein similar to MetN; ABC transporter Zn(II)-binding protein; ABC
								transporter permease; hypothetical protein, acylCoA dehvdrogenase
0191*	2.0	3.2	4.4	6.4	6.7	4.7	5.1	PtsG: PTS system glucose-specific IIBC subunit;
0208-0211	5.7	7.2	5.3	4.8	4.3	4.3	4.8	Maltose ABC transporter
0216*	7.8	8.1	6.2	4.9	3.7	5.2	4.4	UhpT: sugar phosphate antiiporter
0231	-8.5	-5.3	-4.9	-5.0	-4.7	-5.5	-9.8	NikA: ABC transporter Ni(II)-binding protein (PBP_2
								fold)
0333-0330	9.3	8.5	6.0	4.4	2.5	2.0	3.7	BgIG family transcriptional antiterminator; PTS
								system, IIA component; hypothetical protein; UlaA: PTS system. IIC component 0333 numbers?
0337*	4.3	5.8	4.6	4.0	4.8	5.0	4.4	GlpT: glycerol-3-phosphate transporter
0382	-4.3	-5.0	-4.7	-4.2	-4.0	-4.5	-8.6	Sodium-dicaboxylate symporter family
0435-0437	1.3	-2.4	-4.9	-5.7	-5.3	-4.6	-4.7	ABC transporter ATP-binding protein; ABC
								transporter permease; dipeptide-binding NLPA linoncriain 0435 numbers?
0448	6.1	12.1	10.8	9.1	5.6	5.7	6.6	TreP: trehalose-specifc IIBC component
0887-0891*	14.1	4.8	1.5	1.2	1.1	2.4	2.4	OppB: oligopeptide ABC transporter permease;
								OppC: oligopeptide ABC transporter permease;
								Uppu. Ungupeptite ADU italispotiel ATF-bilitating
								protein; UppE: סוופסטפטומפ אםט ודמוזאסינופו או ר- binding protein: OppA: oligopeptide ABC transporter
								substrate-binding protein
0914	12.2	5.3	1.8	1.4	1.2	2.0	2.0	Alanine or glycine: cation symporter, AGCS family
0934-0936	5.4	2.1	1.0	-1.23	-1.7	-1.1	1.1	Membrane protein; Hypothetical protein; ABC
								transporter ATP-binding protein
1005*	-2.2	-2.0	-2.4	-3.1	-3.5	-3.3	-5.6	MntH: Manganese transporter
1191*	7.3	7.9	6.6	6.2	5.3	6.0	9.3	GlpF: glycerol uptake facilitator
2270	4.3	4.5	3.7	3.6	3.7	3.8	5.4	GlvC: arbutin-like IIBC component
2291	2.8	3.5	3.9	4.7	5.7	4.7	2.8	GltS: sodium-glutamate transporter
2313	9.2	13.9	10.1	10.3	13.4	16.1	35.2	L-lactate permease
2359-2357	-3.1	-3.0	-3.5	-3.7	-4.3	-4.6	-5.8	Cystine ABC transporter substrate-binding protein;
								Cystine ABC transporter permease protein; Cystine
0000	0 01	10 5	0.01	7 0 1	10 6	0 7	20 5	
C002	0.7	0.0 7 A	C.2	7.0	0.0	c	0.02	
2442	5.4	0.7	4.D	7.1	2.4	Z.1	ן א	GntP: gluconate permease

Putative MFS transporter	PtsG: PTS system glucoside-specific IIABC subunit		Exfoliative toxin A	3 Phenol soluble modulin β1	4 Phenol soluble modulin β2	Aur: aureolysin (zinc metalloprotease)	•	HutH: Histidine ammonia Iyase	SerS: Seryl-tRNA synthetase	Carbon-oxygen lyase (myosin-cross-reactive antigen)	PfIB: pyruvate formate-lyase; PfIA: pyruvate formate-	lyase activating enzyme		syntnetase; Fadu: acyl-CoA genyarogenase; J- hydroxyacylCoA debydroxenase: FadA: nytatatiya	iryuroxyacyrcox derryurogenase, r aux. pulalanye acvICoA acetvItransferase	5 L-lactate dehydrogenase	PfkB: carbohydrate kinase	NanA: N-acetylneuraminate lyase; sodium:solute	symporter family protein	MccA: cysteine synthase/cystathionine-β-synthase;	MccB: cystathionine- γ -synthase	HchA: chaperone protein and glyoxalase	NAD-dependent epimerase/dehydratase family	protein	Adh: alcohol dehydronase	alpha-beta fold family hydrolase	DhaKL: dihydroxyacetone kinase subunits;	phosphotransferase mannnose-specific family	component IIA	RocD: ornithineoxo-acid transaminase	GlpQ: glycerophosphoryl diester phosphodiesterase	QoxCBA: quinol oxidase	Cytochrome D ubiquinol oxidase, subunit I and II	CtaA: cytochrome oxidase assembly protein	CyoE: protoheme IX farnesyltransferase; DUF420,	predicted membrane protein	GlnK diverni kinase
5.4	6.7		6.1	-329.3	-210.4	-5.0		3.1	1.1	10.2	337.4		9.0			123.5	28.0	32.7		-11.3		-11.9	1.9		20.5	4.1	5.7			5.7	35.0	8.7	7.4	4.9	6.3		5.1
5.1	6.1		3.6	-132.6	-88.9	-3.1		5.2	1.2	4.7	63.1		10.2			25.3	11.1	12.5		-8.5		-12.1	4.5		8.2	3.6	2.6			3.6	10.0	5.7	7.3	5.1	5.2		5.6
4.8	8.1		2.4	-90.6	-49.5	-2.8		4.5	1.0	2.8	59.4	C L	0.9			21.6	5.4	10.7		-6.2		-12.8	5.6		4.2	2.8	2.6			3.3	9.3	4.8	6.1	4.2	4.2		4.0
4.6	8.7		2.6	-62.2	-49.9	-2.6		5.7	1.2	3.1	75.6		17.1			15.2	7.0	10.4		-7.5		-11.7	5.1		4.7	3.3	2.5			3.2	10.0	4.0	7.0	3.4	4.0		4.8
6.6	8.6		2.7	-44.3	-22.4	-2.1		8.3	2.2	3.5	81.1		0.01			18.9	3.9	9.8		-8.9		-9.9	6.4		5.2	4.5	2.4			3.2	10.8	3.7	7.0	3.4	3.7		4.4
11.0	8.1		2.7	-25.1	-20.2	-2.3		13.1	4.5	3.5	56.0		4.07			18.6	5.0	12.7		-8.7		-5.5	5.0		5.3	6.8	2.4			4.0	10.4	2.8	3.7	2.8	2.9		6.5
8.4	4.0		2.7	-22.7	-23.5	-2.3		12.8	5.8	2.0	23.0		C.02			13.8	5.3	9.9		-7.6		-4.3	1.8		2.9	7.0	1.9			5.3	8.3	2.6	1.8	1.7	2.3		4.0
2449	2476*	Class 5: Toxins	1065	1067	1068	2572	Class 6: Enzymes	0008	*6000	0108	0220-0221*		6770-6770			0235*	0311*	0315-0314		0433-0434*		0536	0538		0594*	0604*	0636-0638*			0860*	0862	0963-0960*	0986-0987	1015	1016-1017*		1192*

110

S. aureus strain. υ

*Indicates transcription units that exhibited similar transcriptional regulation 6 h post-internalization of S. aureus in human epithelial cells, a period during which S. aureus appears in the cytosol of infected cells (Garzoni et al., 2007; Menzies and Kourteva, 1998).

4.3.7 Global transcriptional reprogramming

Global transcriptional reprogramming was analysed and 122 operons were judged to be significantly (\geq 5-fold and p < 0.05) regulated. There were 91 operons up-regulated and 31 operons down-regulated (Figure 4.14 and Table 4.2). The operons were grouped into six classes according to function: cell surface, hypothetical proteins, regulators, transport, toxins and enzymes.

4.3.7.1 Class 1: Cell surface

Contains two operons that both had increased transcription 2 minutes after DTT was added and continued to increase transcription for the full 24 hour experiment. The operon SAUSA300_1741-1743, a lipoprotein and two hypothetical proteins, increased dramatically with a 35.3 – fold increase in transcription by the final time point. The upregulation of SAUSA300_0438, an N-acetylmuramoyl-L-alanine amidase autolysin, suggests an altered peptidoglycan structure or increased turnover.

4.3.7.2 Class 2: Hypothetical proteins

Consists of 5 operons that were up-regulated and 8 operons that were down-regulated following the negative redox shift. However, they are largely uncharacterised and require further investigation before conclusions can be made about them.

4.3.7.3 Class 3: Regulators

Contains 9 operons including the various parts of the Agr system: AgrBD, AgrCA and RNAIII/ ∂ -toxin which are all immediately and consistently down-regulated following the addition of DTT. This suggests that there is a pronounced effect of negative redox potential on Agr. This could be through the inactivation of the AIPs through the N-acetyl –cysteamine thiolysis of the thiolactone ring resulting in the breaking of the thiolactone macrocycle bond between the C-terminal carboxyl and the cysteine thiol (Wang et al., 2015). This suggests that the deactivation of Agr observed in intracellular *S. aureus* may be as a result of the low redox potential in the mammalian cytoplasm. Rot (repressor of toxins) transcription is directly related to Agr and RNAIII and so it is no surprise to observe Rot transcription go up in contrast to AgrBD, AgrCA and RNAIII.

Rot regulates a number of virulence factors and biofilm formation through repressing the secretion of certain proteases (Said-Salim et al., 2003, Mootz et al., 2015). SarS (Staphylococcal accessory regulator) is also known to be repressed by Agr (Cheung et al., 2001) and so its de-repression following sudden redox drop is expected. SarS in turn regulates a number of virulence factors including the activation of protein A production (Cheung et al., 2001); NirR is also upregulated following the addition of DTT and as NirR is a regulator of nitrate reductase it suggests that there may be a switch towards anaerobic respiration despite the constant availability of oxygen during the experiment. The final regulators that are significantly up-regulated are MalR and GntR-GntK. MalR is the maltose operon repressor and GntR is a gluconate operon repressor. As such, the increased transcription of both these perhaps indicates a change of carbon metabolism.

4.3.7.4 Class 4: Transport

Contains a number of carbon transporter proteins including 5 phosphotransferase (PTS) system transporters that are upregulated: *glcA, glcB, glvC, treP* and *ulaA* that transport glucose, glucoside, arbutin, trehalose and ascorbate respectively. There is also an ABC transporter for maltose (SAUSA300_0288-0211) that is upregulated and a couple of major facilitator system (MFS) transporters for glycerate (SAUSA300_2449) and glycerol (*glpF*) that are upregulated as well. There are also a number of secondary carbon transporters upregulated: *uhpT, glpT*, SAUSA300_2313 and *gntP* that transport sugar phosphate, glycerol-3-phosphate, lactate and gluconate. Finally, there is one carbon transporter that is down-regulated and that is SAUSA300_0382 which is a secondary transporter for dicarboxylic acid. Overall the trend is towards increased transport of carbon, in line with studies of intracellular *S. aureus* (Garzoni et al., 2007).

There also three metal transporters that have a significant transcription response. Manganese (*mntH*) and nickel (*nikA*) transporters are down-regulated whereas the iron transporter *sirABC* was up-regulated.

The other transporters to be significantly up-regulated or down-regulated were mainly amino acid transporters. ABC transporter of oligopeptides (SAUSA300_0887-0891) was

upregulated as well as the secondary transport systems for glutamate (*gltS*), alanine/glycine (SAUSA300_0914) and an amino acid permease of unknown specificity (SAUSA300_2383). Whereas, the ABC transporters for dipeptides (SAUSA300_0435-0437) and cystine were down-regulated. The down-regulation of cystine transport probably resulting from the low redox environment converting all the cystine in the environment to cysteine. Other sulfur related transport proteins were also downregulated including a sulfonate transporter (SAUSA300_0174-0177) and a Gly-Met dipeptide-binding protein (*glmpC*).

4.3.7.5 Class 5: Toxins

Included in this group are five toxins (the four listed and ∂ -toxin (SAUSA300_1988) which is included in *Class 3: Regulators* because of its being encoded by RNAIII), including three phenol soluble modulins (PSMs): PSM β 1, PSM β 2 and PSM γ (∂ -toxin). All three of these are regulated by Agr and are down-regulated following the addition of DTT. There is a link between ∂ -toxin and phagosome escape (Giese et al., 2011); whereas, PSM β 1 and PSM β 2 have no cytolytic activity but do induce neutrophil chemotaxis and calcium flux (Peschel and Otto, 2013). Aureolysin, a toxin that inhibits the activation of complement and the influx of neutrophils (Laarman et al., 2010), is also down-regulated following the addition of DTT. Finally, expression of exfoliative toxin A, a serine protease that damages desmosomal proteins in the skin (Bukowski et al., 2010), was increased following the addition of DTT.

4.3.7.6 Class 6: Enzymes

The final group consists of 35 enzyme operons that were up-regulated or downregulated following DTT addition. Of these a number were related to respiration. There was increased expression of *qoxABCD, cyoE* and *ctaA*, which code for the major quinol oxidase (Qox) and genes involved in the synthesis of Qox heme cofactors, in order to increase flux through the electron transport chain (Figure 4.15). Expression of cytochrome D oxidase (*cyd*) was also increased further indicating a disruption of the respiratory chain. There was also increased expression of genes involve with anaerobic fermentation. Namely: *adh, ddh, ldh* and *pfIBA* coding for alcohol dehydrogenase, L and D lactate dehydrogenases and pyruvate formate-lyase respectively.

Operons encoding amino acid metabolism enzymes were also significantly upregulated and down-regulated. Alanine (*ald*), histidine (*hutH* and *hutUI*) and proline (*putA*) degradation enzymes were upregulated; whilst, isoleucine (*ilvA*) and threonine (*thrCB*) synthesis enzymes were also upregulated. Cysteine and/or hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) metabolism (*mccAB*) on the other hand was down-regulated in keeping with the role of H₂S a reductant (Shatalin et al., 2011).

4.4 Discussion

Intracellular *S. aureus* are increasingly understood as playing a crucial role in chronic staphylococcal infections (Garzoni and Kelley, 2011, Fraunholz and Sinha, 2012). Understanding how *S. aureus* is able to adapt to the environment of host cytosol is crucial to tackling these persistent *S. aureus* infections. One area which has been potentially overlooked is the response of *S. aureus* to the changing host intracellular redox environment. Changes in redox have been shown to have a profound effect on *S. aureus* metabolism and transcription (Nouaille et al., 2014).

Here it was shown that continuous chemostat culture can be used successfully to investigate the response of *S. aureus* to redox change. The use of a chemostat allowed the parameters of 1 L min⁻¹ air flow, 400 rpm stirring and pH 7 to be maintained throughout the experiment and allowed the response to redox potential to be investigated in isolation. The use of DTT to control redox potential proved a reliable mimic for the drop of redox potential experienced when bacteria escape from mammalian phagosomes into the cytosol (Figure 4.2).

Following the sudden drop in redox potential reduced by the DTT there was an increase in the oxygen concentration suggesting an inhibition of respiration. Then follow up experiments using a Clark-type oxygen electrode indicated a potential inhibition of respiration by GSH, the reducing agent found in mammalian cytosol

114



Figure 4.15 Effect of DTT on expression of genes related to respiration

Genes related to respiration that were identified as having been significantly upregulated following the addition of DTT are highlighted in bold. (Figure 4.6). This combined with the transcriptomics data, that revealed an increase in electron transport associated *qox* and *cyd* genes, suggests that the reducing conditions of the experiment inhibited aerobic respiration by disrupting the electron transport chain (Figure 4.15).

This inhibition of aerobic respiration, despite constant availability of oxygen, led to the initiation of anaerobic fermentation. The transcriptomics revealed the increased expression of anaerobic fermentation related genes with the production of lactate and the activity of lactate dehydrogenase also confirmed. The changes in carbon uptake may be due to this switch to a less efficient form of metabolism. It has also been shown previously that a switch to anaerobic fermentation, particularly pyruvate fermentation, can mitigate the slow growing phenotype of SCVs (Cao et al., 2017).

There was also a shift in the transport and production of amino acids. Glutamate and glycine transport increased and isoleucine and threonine synthesis increased, despite these being available in excess in the medium. Whilst, alanine, histidine and proline degradation increased, and cystine transportation and cysteine synthesis decreased. This would fit with the reduction of disulfide bonds, leading to the majority of the cystine in the medium being converted to cysteine.

Toxin production was generally decreased with PSMs β1, β2 and delta toxin specifically significantly decreased and the expression of Rot (repressor of toxins) increased. Production of beta and delta toxins has been linked to phagosomal escape (Giese et al., 2011); therefore, observing a significant decrease in their production following a reduction in redox potential aids the theory that redox is an important factor in signalling during intracellular S. *aureus* infections. It has already been shown that redox is an important signalling factor in *Listeria monoctogenes*. In *L. monoctogenes* the Crp-Fnr family transcriptional regulator PrfA is activated by binding host cell cytosol glutathione. This leads to the expression of numerous essential virulence factors including the hemolysin listeriolysin (Scortti et al., 2007, Portman et al., 2017).

116

An interesting exception to the pattern of decreased toxin production by *S. aureus* in the presence of DTT was the increased expression of exfoliative toxin A. Exfoliative toxin A actually increased expression in the low redox environment, with potentially intriguing consequences in regards to understanding staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome (SSSS). SSSS is generally an acute condition but there have been reports of persistent SSSS (Shelley et al., 1998) infections. This raises the possibility that SSSS could be induced by intracellular dwelling *S. aureus* following their escape into the low redox potential environment of the host cytoplasm. Production of molecules associated with the cell surface, on the other hand, was generally increased in keeping with regulation by Agr.

The decreased activity of Agr, and the associated phenotype of decreased toxin production and increased cell surface factor expression following the sudden drop in redox potential, links with the transcriptomic profile of *S. aureus* following 6 hours internalisation in lung epithelial cells (in the lung epithelial model the *S. aureus* cells had escaped from the phagosome into the host cytoplasm by 6 hours) (Garzoni et al., 2007). This further corroborates with the hypothesis that redox is a major transcriptional trigger which, following escape from the host phagosome, leads to persistent survival in the host cytosol. This work also reemphasises the importance of Agr in facilitating survival in the host cytosol. This matches with the previous research that found an *agr- S. aureus* strain cannot escape from host phagosomes and survive in host cytosol (Schnaith et al., 2007).

In keeping with the observed Agr profile following growth at a reduced redox potential; the proportion of SCVs observed on solid media containing DTT increased over a period of 48 hours. However, there was no increase in SCVs during the 24 hour course of the main experiment. Agr is known to be important for the production of SCVs and survival intracellularly. However, it may be that this link between SCV formation and Agr is incidental. Intracellular SCV formation could occur because of the disruption of aerobic metabolism by the reduced environment of host cytoplasm. SCV mutants generally have SNPs in metabolic or electron transport chain genes and a key phenotype of all these SCV mutants is a slowed metabolism. It may be the case that *S*.

117

aureus responds to the sudden redox drop and the subsequent inhibition of the electron transport chain by inducing anaerobic respiration and that this less efficient form of respiration is what gives the appearance of SCVs.

The sudden drop in redox potential also had a broader effect on other regulators including increased expression of SarZ (Figure 4.13). It has been postulated that SarZ may play an important role in modulating the expression of Agr, MgrA and SarA with a *sarZ* mutant having reduced Agr and MgrA expression and increased SarA expression (Tamber and Cheung, 2009, Chen et al., 2009). However, in these experiments, although MgrA expression went down, in line with what would be expected from increased SarZ expression, Agr expression went down and SarA expression increased (Figure 4.13). This questions the relationship between these four regulators and suggests that SarZ is not able to modulate the others under the conditions of the experiments detailed in this chapter.

4.4.1 Future work

Future experiments could be conducted using alternative reductants such as GSH. This would improve the accuracy of comparisons to conditions *in vivo* because GSH is an important mediator of the low reduced state of mammalian cytosol. However, because of GSH's relative instability experiments over a 24 hour, or even longer time periods, it may not stay at as stable a redox potential as when DTT was used.

Another approach to increase understanding of aerobic low redox potential environments could be to increase the length of the experiment. The continuous culture could be maintained for a number of days better mimicking a persistent infection. Continuous *S. aureus* cultures have been maintained for up to 60 days, with resulting increases in SCV numbers; however, biofilm formation is a constant problem with such long experiments (Udekwu and Levin, 2012, Bui et al., 2015).

Follow up work to investigate links between intracellular *S. aureus* and scalded skin syndrome would be interesting. Intracellular persistence is normally associated with low virulence and asymptomatic carriage; however, the production of exfoliative toxin

when *S. aureus* was exposed to a low redox environment suggests that there may be a link between intracellular *S. aureus* and scolded skin syndrome.

Chapter 5: Identification of *S. aureus* genes related to redox response

5.1 Introduction

5.1.1 Growth in low redox environment

The ability to grow in low redox potential environments is essential for the proliferation of intracellular *S. aureus* and the establishment of persistent infections (Chapter 4) (Kubica et al., 2008, Fraunholz and Sinha, 2012). Intracellular dwelling *S. aureus* is able to survive and proliferate in mammalian cytosol where the redox potential is kept low by high ratios of reduced glutathione to oxidised glutathione (Hwang et al., 1992). Identifying genes that facilitate growth in such a low redox potential environment could aid in developing new treatments for persistent intracellular *S. aureus* infections.

5.1.2 Sulfur metabolism

Another way by which *S. aureus* encounters different redox potential environments is through the uptake of different sulfur sources. Different sulfur containing compounds encountered by *S. aureus* contain sulfur in different redox states. This may have an effect on the ability of *S. aureus* to utilise these different sulfur sources. Improving understanding of which sulfur sources *S. aureus* readily utilises and identifying genes involved in the process could aid in developing a clearer idea of *S. aureus* sulfur metabolism and redox homeostasis.

5.1.3 Hydrogen sulfide production

Related to both sulfur metabolism and the response to redox environment is the production of H₂S. The production of H₂S by *S. aureus* is thought to be under the control of the master cysteine regulator (CymR) and linked to the actions of MccAB, MetC and CysM (Chapter 3) (Lithgow et al., 2004, Soutourina et al., 2009, Shatalin et al., 2011). However, a clear understanding of how these genes relate to H₂S production and the wider picture of cysteine and sulfur metabolism remains unclear. Identifying

genes that are involved in H_2S production could aid in developing a clearer idea of *S. aureus* H_2S production mechanisms, sulfur metabolism and redox homeostasis.

5.1.4 The Nebraska Transposon Mutant Library (NTML)

The study of individual genes through their disruption is particularly time consuming and costly in *S. aureus*. The construction of plasmids and homologous recombination into the chromosome is required and there is a need to use shuttle plasmids and intermediary *S. aureus* strains because of the extensive restriction modification systems (Vasu and Nagaraja, 2013).

A more efficient way to create specific genetic mutations is to use transposon mutagenesis. Using transposons to interrupt random genes throughout the genome leads to the creation of a library of mutants that can be phenotypically tested. Transposon mutation of S. aureus has been attempted a number of times with varied results. Transposon Tn917, delivered using the temperature sensitive plasmid pTV1ts was used in *S. aureus* Newman to successfully create a transposon mutant library; however, it's overall success was limited by transposon sequence preference leading to the localisation of insertions (McDevitt et al., 1994). Another transposon mutant library was created in Newman, using a two plasmid system, with more success (Bae et al., 2004). The two plasmids used were pFA545, which encodes the mariner transposase and ampicillin and tetracycline resistance cassettes, and pBursa, which encodes a chloramphenicol resistance cassette, a temperature sensitive plasmid replicon and a minimariner transposable element (Bursa aurealis). The Bursa aurealis element contains an erythromycin resistance cassette, a Aequorea victoria green fluorescent protein (gfp) and the mariner terminal inverted repeats (TIR) (Bae et al., 2004). This system proved to be more successful than the Tn917 and no discernible transposon sequence preference was observed.

In order to create a transposon library of more clinical relevance this *Bursa aurealis* based system was recently used to create a library in the community acquired MRSA strain USA300 LAC Je2 (Fey et al., 2013). The location of each transposon has been identified by sequencing the chromosomal DNA adjacent to the inserted transposon

122

and comparison with the USA300_FPR3757 genome. Only mutants with Tn's that were inserted towards the 5' end of genes were included in the final transposon mutant library. The Nebraska Transposon Mutant Library (NTML) contains 1,952 strains and has been made available as part of the Network on Antimicrobial Resistance in *S. aureus* (NARSA) strain repository to registered members (www.beiresources.org). There is also a comprehensive 'genetic toolkit' that allows users to replace the transposon with useful genetic markers or fluorescent reporters (Bose et al., 2013)

The NTML has already been used in many different phenotypic screens in order to identify genes involved in many different functions. The first set of screens looked at, protease activity, pigment formation and mannitol utilization and haemolytic activity on rabbit blood agar (Fey et al., 2013, Bose et al., 2014). These identified a number of novel genes involved in these processes including a new virulence factor regulatory operon (*vfrAB*) (Bose et al., 2014). Subsequent studies have looked at many more topics including activity of hyaluronidase as a virulence factor (Ibberson et al., 2014) and biofilm formation in the presence of low doses of amoxicillin (Mlynek et al., 2016). As such, the NTML is proving to be a valuable tool for identifying new genes involved in interesting phenotypes.

5.2 Aims

- Exploit the NTML to identify genes associated with redox homeostasis in *S. aureus*; specifically, those for H₂S production, growth in low redox potential environments and sulfur metabolism.
- Investigate the ability of *S. aureus* to utilise different sulfur sources.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 H₂S production NTML screen

In order to identify *S. aureus* genes related to the production of H_2S , the production of H_2S by each of the 1952 transposon mutants in the NTML was measured. Lead acetate paper was used to measure H_2S production relative to H_2S production by wildtype (WT). The production of H_2S relative to WT and the *p*-value from a Student's t-test was then used to select the 20 strains with the most significant increase or decrease in H_2S production relative to WT Je2 (Figure 5.1). The 20 strains selected had a *p*-value less than 0.05 and produced either 20% more H_2S than WT or 15% less than WT (Table 5.1).

There were 7 transposon mutants that were selected as having a significantly increased production of H₂S and 13 that were selected as having a significantly decreased production of H₂S. These 20 mutants were then grown from a separate frozen stock and the production of H₂S measured more accurately (Figure 5.2). Following this only two of the strains originally selected as having an increased production of H₂S, and two of the mutants originally selected as having a decreased production of H₂S, had a reproducible phenotype. None of the 4 mutants selected by the second-round screen (Table 5.2) had any previous link with H₂S production or cysteine metabolism. No *cysM* mutant was selected in the screen because there is no *cysM* transposon mutant in the NTML. The four mutants all appeared to have a slight growth defect compared to WT (Figure 5.3); however, this is in keeping with other transposon mutants from the NTML (data not shown).

The two strains that consistently produced more H₂S than WT were SAUSA300_0725 and SAUSA300_1648. SAUSA300_0725 produces twice as much H₂S as WT Je2 is a hypothetical protein that is predicted to be thioredoxin like. Thioredoxins reduce oxidised cysteine and cleave disulfide bonds, they are essential for mitigating oxidative stress and are essential for life in higher eukaryotes (Nakamura et al., 1997). Analysis using BLAST revealed that SAUSA300_0725 is identical to YtxJ and YtxJ is known to interact with the LMW thiol bacillithiol (Perera et al., 2015). Furthermore, analysis using SWISS model revealed that there is a crystal structure for this protein confirming




Accession	Gene	Description	Relative H ₂ S	<i>p</i> -value ^b
	name		production	بله بله بله
SAUSA300_0725	-	hypothetical protein	1.60	* * *
SAUSA300_0011	-	hypothetical protein	1.37	*
SAUSA300_1947	-	phi77 ORF031-like protein	1.35	**
SAUSA300_1747	-	hypothetical protein	1.29	*
SAUSA300_1141	-	endopeptidase resistance gene	1.22	*
SAUSA300_1648	-	putative NADP-dependent malic enzyme	1.22	**
SAUSA300_2499	crtM	squalene desaturase	1.21	* * *
SAUSA300_1346	-	putative DnaQ family exonuclease/DinG family helicase	0.85	*
SAUSA300_2212	-	conserved hypothetical protein	0.84	*
SAUSA300_0870	rexA	exonuclease RexA	0.83	*
SAUSA300_0013		putative membrane protein	0.83	*
SAUSA300_1449	-	MutT/nudix family protein	0.82	*
SAUSA300_1041	-	conserved hypothetical protein	0.82	*
SAUSA300_2470	sdaAB	L-serine dehydratase	0.82	**
SAUSA300_2431	-	putative helicase	0.81	*
SAUSA300_0902	pepF	oligoendopeptidase F	0.80	*
SAUSA300_1693	-	hypothetical protein	0.78	**
SAUSA300_1976	-	succinyl-diaminopimelate desuccinylase	0.76	*
SAUSA300_1537	-	hypothetical protein	0.73	*
SAUSA300_2560	-	hypothetical protein	0.73	*

Table 5.1 Significant results from H₂S screen

^a Units represent H_2S production normalised to production of H_2S by WT. The data are the mean values obtained from three independent experiments.

^b Mutants selected for further analysis produced 20% more or 15% less H_2S than WT and had a *p*-value of less than 0.05.

* p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01 *** p < 0.001





Each of the strains identified in the first round screen (Table 5.1) as producing either **a**) more or **b**) less H_2S than WT were grown in TSB for 24 hours under aerobic conditions at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking and H_2S production was measured using the lead acetate paper method (Section 2.15.1). Units represent H_2S production normalised to production of H_2S by WT. Mutants selected for further analysis had a *p*-value of less than 0.01 and are listed in Table 5.2. The data are the mean values obtained from three independent experiments.

ns *p* ≥ 0.05 * *p* < 0.05 ** *p* < 0.01

Table 5.2 Significant results from the second round H_2S production screen

Accession number	Gene name	Description	Relative H ₂ S production ^a	<i>p</i> -value ^b
SAUSA300_0725	-	hypothetical protein	2.06	**
SAUSA300_1648	-	putative NADP-dependent malic enzyme	1.13	**
SAUSA300_1976	-	succinyl-diaminopimelate desuccinylase	0.55	**
SAUSA300_2470	sdaAB	L-serine dehydratase	0.53	**

^a Units represent H_2S production normalised to production of H_2S by WT. The data are the mean values obtained from three independent experiments.

^b Mutants selected for further analysis had a *p*-value of less than 0.01.

** *p* < 0.01



Figure 5.3 Growth of mutants identified during the second round H_2S production screen

Growth of the indicated *S. aureus* Je2 mutants grown in rich medium (TSB). Grown under aerobic conditions at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking. Data shown are representative of four independent experiments.

that the structure has a thioredoxin fold (Fan et al., 2009). From this it seems that SAUSA300_0725 is important for maintaining reducing conditions inside *S. aureus*. If SAUSA300_0725 is interrupted then more H_2S seems to be produced to compensate. This corroborates previous observation about the role of H_2S in defence against oxidative stress (Chapter 3).

SAUSA300_1648 has a proposed function as a NADP-dependent malate dehydrogenase. This means that it catalyses the conversion of malate and NADP⁺ to oxaloacetate and NADPH. Thus, it is possible that in SAUSA300_1648 there is less NADPH than WT resulting in oxidative stress. Therefore, the observed increase in H₂S production may be as a result of this and be part of the mutants attempts to maintain redox homeostasis.

On the other hand, the two mutants that consistently produced less H₂S, were SAUSA300_1976 and SAUSA300_2470 (*sdaAB*). They both appear to have a slight growth defect that may be a contributing factor (Figure 5.3) but their growth is in line with other transposon mutants from the NTML.

SAUSA300_1976 is predicated to be a succinyl-diaminopimelate desuccinylase. Succinyl-diaminopimelate desuccinylase is an enzyme that catalyses the production of succinate and LL-2,6-diaminoheptanedioate from N-succinyl-LL-2,6diaminoheptanedioate and water. It is a step in the biosynthesis of lysine and so the SAUSA300_1976 mutant could have a shortage of lysine. This could result in a pH imbalance due to lysine's basic properties and this could affect redox homeostasis causing *S. aureus* to produce less H₂S.

SdaAB is a serine dehydrogenase and it therefore catalyses the conversion of serine to pyruvate. Therefore, *sdaAB* may have increased serine levels and decreased pyruvate levels. This increased serine concentration could be converted to O-acetylserine by CysE and then the o-acetyleserine could be combined with H₂S to form cysteine through the action of CysM. This would result in the decreased levels of H₂S observed.

In summary, it appears that H_2S does have a role in defence against oxidative stress and redox balancing but that it is part of a complex relationship involving different related factors. In order to better understand this complex network, investigation into survival in a low redox environment could be illuminating. This would also complement previous work into the adaption of *S. aureus* to low redox environments (Chapter 4).

5.3.2 Growth in a low redox potential environment - NTML screen

In order to investigate genes that might be important for *S. aureus* to grow in low redox environments, like that found in the cytoplasm of mammalian cells during *S. aureus*'s intracellular lifecycle, bacterial cell density of each mutant in the NTML was determined following 24 hour growth in rich medium (TSB) with a high concentration of DTT. DTT was used because of being a potent reducing agent that maintains a low redox potential environment over a reasonable period of time (Chapter 4). The concentration of DTT used (80 mM) was chosen as the highest concentration before growth was significantly inhibited (Figure 5.4). The NTML was then grown in TSB with 80 mM DTT at 37° C and the OD₆₀₀ measured at 24 hours. The growth of each mutant relative to WT was determined for each of the repeats and a Students t-test performed to establish significance (Figure 5.5). Strains with growth less than 20% of WT and a *p*-value of less than 0.05 were selected for further study (Table 5.3). There were 16 strains selected at this stage.

5.3.3 Second round screen - DTT MIC

A second screen was then performed in which the 16 strains that had been previously selected were grown up from individual frozen stocks and resistance to a low redox potential environment was measured using the same method as the first round screen (Figure 5.6 and Table 5.4). This narrowed the number of selected mutants down to just four. Two of these (SAUSA300_0432 and *lipM* (SAUSA300_1494)) were the two mutants from the original screen with the lowest *p*-values.



Figure 5.4 Growth of S. aureus in the presence of DTT

Growth of *S. aureus* Je2 grown in TSB supplemented with the indicated concentrations of DTT. Grown under aerobic conditions at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking for 24 hours. Units represent growth at 24 hours normalised to growth of *S. aureus* Je2 when no DTT was added. The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments.

ns $p \ge 0.05$ * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01 *** p < 0.001



Figure 5.5 Nebraska transposon mutant library (NTML) DTT resistance screen The NTML was grown in rich medium (TSB) with 80 mM DTT for 24 hours under aerobic conditions at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking and growth (OD₆₀₀) was measured. Units represent growth at 24 hours normalised to growth of WT. Mutants selected for further analysis, grew 20% less than WT and had a *p*-value of less than 0.05, are highlighted in red and listed in Table 5.3. The data are the mean values obtained from three independent experiments.

Accession Number	Gene name	Description	Relative growth ^a	<i>p</i> - value ^b
SAUSA300_1494	-	hypothetical protein (lipM)	0.30	**
SAUSA300_1807	-	amino acid ABC transporter	0.41	*
SAUSA300_0432	-	sodium-dependent transporter	0.48	**
SAUSA300_2365	hlgA	gamma-hemolysin component A	0.54	*
SAUSA300_2067	glyA	serine hydroxymethyltransferase	0.59	*
SAUSA300_0305	-	formate/nitrite transporter family protein	0.62	*
SAUSA300_1585	-	conserved hypothetical protein	0.63	**
SAUSA300_2473	-	conserved hypothetical protein	0.67	*
SAUSA300_1015	ctaA	cytochrome oxidase assembly protein	0.71	*
SAUSA300_0620	-	ABC transporter ATP- binding protein	0.72	*
SAUSA300_0988	trkA	potassium uptake protein	0.72	*
SAUSA300_1182	-	pyruvate ferredoxin oxidoreductase, alpha subunit	0.74	*
SAUSA300_2023	rsbW	anti-sigma-B factor, serine-protein kinase	0.75	*
SAUSA300_2325	-	hypothetical protein	0.76	*
SAUSA300_2392	opuCb	glycine betaine/carnitine/choline ABC transporter	0.78	*
SAUSA300_2486	-	putative ATP-dependent Clp proteinase	0.79	*

Table 5.3 Significant results from NTML DTT resistance screen

^a Units represent growth at 24 hours normalised to growth of WT. The data are the mean values obtained from three independent experiments.

^b Mutants selected for further analysis grew 20% less than WT and had a *p*-value of less than 0.05.

* *p* < 0.05 ** *p* < 0.01



Figure 5.6 DTT MIC – second round screen

The MIC of DTT required to prevent growth of the mutants identified in the first round DTT screen (Table 5.3) were measured in rich medium (TSB). The MICs were measured after 24 hours grown under aerobic conditions at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking. Mutants selected for further analysis had a *p*-value of less than 0.01 and are listed in (Table 5.4). The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments.

ns $p \ge 0.05$ * p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01

Table 5.4 Significant results from the second round DTT MIC screen

Accession number	Gene name	Description	MIC DTT (mg ml ⁻¹) ^a	<i>p</i> -value ^b
WT	-	-	82.5	-
SAUSA300_0432	-	sodium-dependent transporter	38.0	**
SAUSA300_1494	-	hypothetical protein (lipM)	28.5	**
SAUSA300_2023	rsbW	anti-sigma-B factor, serine- protein kinase	28.5	**
SAUSA300_2365	hlgA	gamma-hemolysin component A	28.5	**

^a The data are the mean values obtained from three independent experiments. ^b Mutants selected for further analysis had a *p*-value of less than 0.01.

** *p* < 0.01

There was a slight inhibition of growth for the *lipM* transposon mutant compared to WT; this may have resulted in the decreased growth observed in the original screen (Figure 5.7). LipM is an octanoyl transferase which is involved in the biosynthesis of lipoic acid (Zorzoli et al., 2016). Lipoic acid is an important cofactor involved in fatty acid biosynthesis, glycolysis and the Krebs cycle. There are only very low levels of lipoic acid found free in mammalian cells but *S. aureus* is relatively unique in having a diversity of enzymes involved in lipoic acid biosynthesis and salvage (Spalding and Prigge, 2010). There is also a suggested role for lipoic acid in redox defence (Rack et al., 2015).

SAUSA300_0432 is predicted to be a sodium-dependent transporter. Analysis using BLAST and Swiss Model revealed that it is related to neurotransmitter transporters and therefore possibly some form of sodium-dependent small molecule transporter. However, SAUSA300_0432 is also directly upstream of mccAB (Figure 5.8). As such, it was suspected that the transposon in SAUSA300_0432 may be having an effect on the transcription of mccAB, which is known to be involved in the redox response through cysteine and H₂S metabolism (Chapter 3). In order to investigate this qRT-PCR was used to evaluate the transcription of *mccA* and *mccB* in SAUSA300_0432 (Figure 5.9). This clearly showed a reduction in the transcription of mccA and mccB in the SAUSA300_0432 transposon mutant compared to WT. The production of H₂S was also measured for the USA300_0432 transposon mutant revealing an 18% reduction compared to WT (Figure 5.10). As such, the reduced DTT MIC of the SAUSA300_0432 transposon mutant may be due to downstream effects on cysteine and H₂S metabolism. However, even with the reduced transcription of both mccA and mccB the production of H₂S is only slightly reduced. This suggests that *mccAB* is not the primary source of H₂S in S. aureus. This corroborates previous results that showed single transposon mutants of mccA and mccB do not result in a reduction in H₂S production (Chapter 3) This adds weight to the possibility that there are other key sources of H_2S production in S. aureus. Furthermore, previous results where DTT was added to continuous S. aureus culture mccAB was down regulated (Chapter 4) yet SAUSA300_0432 is more sensitive to DTT (Figure 5.6). This suggests that the down



Figure 5.7 Growth of mutants identified during the second round DTT screen Growth of the indicated *S. aureus* Je2 mutants grown in rich medium (TSB). Grown under aerobic conditions at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking. Data shown are representative of four independent experiments.



Figure 5.8 Position of SAUSA300_0432, mccAB and transposon mutants

Diagram showing the relative position of SAUSA300_0432 and *mccAB* in the genome of *S. aureus*. The arrows represent the direction of transcription and the green triangles indicate the position of the NTML transposons.



Figure 5.9 Transcription of *mccA* and *mccB* in SAUSA300_0432

mRNA was extracted from exponential phase cultures of SAUSA300_0432 and WT *S. aureus* that had been grown under aerobic conditions at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking. mRNA levels were measured using qRT-PCR. Units represent mRNA concentration relative to *gyrB*.



Figure 5.10 Production of H_2S by USA300_0432

Production of H₂S by WT and SAUSA300_0432 in rich medium (TSB). H₂S production was measured using the lead acetate paper method (Section 2.15.1). Units represent H₂S production normalised to production of H₂S by WT. The data are the mean values \pm standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments. * p < 0.05 regulation of *mccAB* in SAUSA300_0432 is not the reason for its DTT sensitive phenotype. Instead it is likely that SAUSA300_0432 codes for a transporter that is involved in the H₂S or sulfur homeostasis, or redox regulation.

The other two mutants selected by the DTT resistance screen were *rsbW* and *hlgA*. RsbW is an anti-sigma-B factor that inhibits SigB through protein sequestering (Miyazaki et al., 1999). SigB is crucial for survival of *S. aureus* intracellularly (Tuchscherr et al., 2015, Tuchscherr and Loffler, 2016) and this is usually linked to the role of promoting the formation of small colony varients (SCVs).

It appears that growth is inhibited in the *hlgA* mutant; this could account for the reduced growth observed in the original screen (Figure 5.7). HlgA codes for gamma-haemolysin component A. Gamma haemolysins are bi-component cytolysins that have an erythrocyte specificity (Sugawara et al., 1997) and there are no clear links between gamma haemolysins and redox or intracellular survival.

Not only is *S. aureus* affected by external changes in redox potential but it is also encounters changes in redox potential in many different forms. One way in which the redox homeostasis can be effected is through the intake of sulfur sources in different oxidative states.

5.3.4 Sulfur sources

Sulfur metabolism is the key process underlying H₂S production and is closely linked to redox homeostasis. It has also been shown that respiration rate is increased when *S. aureus* is grown with different sulfur sources. If the sole sulfur source is either methionine sulfoxide or S-methyl L-cysteine then respiration rate appears to be increased compared to when L-cysteine, sodium thiosulfate or a number of other sulfur sources are the sole sulfur source (Figure 5.11) (Bochner - personal correspondence). Each of these sulfur sources has a different oxidative state and this may be having an effect on the ability of *S. aureus* to utilise them. L-cysteine and S-methyl L-cysteine both have an oxidation state of -2, whereas, methionine sulfoxide has an oxidation state of 0 and sodium thiosulfate has an oxidation state of +2.



Figure 5.11 Sulfur sources Biolog assay

Staphylococcus aureus USA300 was grown in Biolog microtiter plates under various different conditions and the respiration rate recorded. Labelled here are the strains grown with different sole sulfur sources. Figure supplied by Barry Bochner (personal correspondence).



Figure 5.12 Growth of S. aureus in CDM with different sole sulfur sources

Growth of *S. aureus* grown in CDM (Section 2.1.2) supplemented with the indicated concentrations of **a**) L-cysteine, **b**) sodium thiosulfate (NaThio-sulfate), **c**) S-methyl L-cysteine or **d**) L-methionine sulfoxide as the sole sulfur source. Grown under aerobic conditions at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking. Data shown are representative of three independent experiments.

5.3.5 Growth of S. aureus with different sole sulfur sources

In order to investigate this further, the growth of *S. aureus* was measured in CDM with different sole sulfur sources (Figure 5.12). Growth with L-cysteine and sodium thiosulfate were compared to S-methyl L-cysteine and L-methionine sulfoxide over a range of concentrations.

As little as 0.1 mM L-cysteine was able to produce a growth rate comparable to rich medium (TSB) with a concentration of cysteine of 6.6 mM or above being toxic. Growth on sodium thiosulfate required slightly higher concentrations to reach a maximum growth rate with 6.6 mM sodium thiosulfate being required for optimal growth. S-methyl L-cysteine also required higher concentrations than L-cysteine for optimal growth with at least 6.6 mM required. Surprisingly L-methionine sulfoxide as a sole sulfur source was unable to support significant growth of *S. aureus* at any concentration. There was no significant growth for concentrations 0.4 mM – 26.4 mM and when 52.8 mM was used it appeared to be toxic.

This suggests that L-methionine sulfoxide is most likely not preferentially used by *S. aureus* as it is unable to grow with it as a sole sulfur source. S-methyl L-cysteine, on the other hand, can be used by *S. aureus* as a sole sulfur source and so may have an interesting role in sulfur metabolism.

5.3.6 S-methyl L-cysteine as a sole sulfur source – NTML screen

In order to try and identify genes involved in the uptake, processing or utilisation of Smethyl L-cysteine a NTML screen was carried out in which the growth of the transposon mutants was measured compared to WT with a low concentration of Smethyl L-cysteine as the sole sulfur source. The NTML was grown in CDM with 1.65 mM S-methyl L-cysteine as the sole sulfur source, the concentration at which growth is slightly inhibited. The OD₆₀₀ was measured at 24 hours post-inoculation and compared to WT. A Students t-test was performed and a *p*-value determined. Then the mutants that had a *p*-value of less than 0.1 and had an OD₆₀₀ at least 15% less than WT Je2 were selected (Figure 5.13 and Table 5.5). There were 7 mutants selected by the screen (Table 5.5) four of which have unknown functions.

145



Figure 5.13 Nebraska transposon mutant library (NTML) S-methyl L-cysteine as a sole sulfur source growth screen

The NTML was grown in CDM with 1.65 mM S-methyl L-cysteine as the sole sulfur source for 24 hours under aerobic conditions at 37° C with 250 rpm shaking and growth (OD₆₀₀) was measured. Units represent growth at 24 hours normalised to growth of WT. Mutants selected for further analysis, grew 15% less than WT and had a *p*-value of less than 0.1, are highlighted in red and listed in Table 5.5. The data are the mean values obtained from four independent experiments.

Table 5.5 Significant results from NTML S-methyl L-cysteine as a sole sulfur source growth screen

Accession Number	Gene name	Description	Relative growth ^a	<i>p</i> -value ^b
SAUSA300_2502	-	hypothetical protein	0.83	**
SAUSA300_0548	-	SdrE protein	0.79	ns
SAUSA300_1482	-	FtsK/SpoIIIE family protein	0.71	ns
SAUSA300_0641	-	putative lipase/esterase	0.68	ns
SAUSA300_1936	-	conserved hypothetical phage protein	0.60	ns
SAUSA300_1506	_	hypothetical protein	0.59	ns
SAUSA300_2252	-	hypothetical protein	0.42	ns

^a Units represent growth at 24 hours normalised to growth of WT. The data are the mean values obtained from four independent experiments.

^b Mutants selected for further analysis grew 15% less than WT and had a *p*-value of less than 0.1.

ns *p* ≥ 0.05 ** *p* < 0.01

5.3.7 Second round screen – growth curves with S-methyl L-cysteine or L-cysteine as the sole sulfur source

In order to investigate the ability of the mutants selected in the NTML S-methyl Lcysteine growth screen, the selected mutants were grown up from individual frozen stocks and growth curves were obtained in CDM with either L-cysteine or S-methyl Lcysteine as the sole sulfur source (Figure 5.14).

None of the mutants had a significant reduction in growth when S-methyl L-cysteine was the sole sulfur source as compared to L-cysteine. However, SAUSA300_1506 seemed to have reduced growth with L-cysteine as sole sulfur source compared to when it was grown with S-methyl L-cysteine as the sole sulfur source. The difference was not significantly different because of the large variation between repeats but could still be an interesting indication of some difference in sulfur metabolism. Comparing the amino acid sequence of SAUSA300_1506 to other genes using BLAST reveals that it contains thiamine binding protein superfamily domains.

5.4 Discussion

5.4.1 The NTML as a tool for researching redox homeostasis

The NTML can be used to successfully screen for genes involved in redox homeostasis. This was most clearly seen in the low redox environment (DTT) growth screen (Table 5.4). The four genes selected by the screen included three that already had established link with redox homeostasis LipM, RsbW and SAUSA300_0432. LipM has been shown to have a link with redox defence and RsbW (the anti-sigma-B factor) is known to link, via SigB and Agr, to a vast array of genes relating to intracellular survival. Also, having established that SAUSA300_0432 is directly upstream of *mccAB* and that the transposon mutant was effecting the transcription of *mccAB* it was found that the production of H₂S was decreased. This suggests a clear link between H₂S production and survival in low redox potential environments. These findings make the decrease in resistance to low redox potential observed for the *hlgA* transposon mutant more reliable. Perhaps a decrease in the production of gamma toxin has some unidentified





Growth of *S. aureus* mutants identified in the first round screen (Table 5.4) **a)** SAUSA300_0548, **b)** SAUSA300_1482, **c)** SAUSA300_0641, **d)** SAUSA300_1936, **e)** SAUSA300_1506, **f)** SAUSA300_2502 and **g)** SAUSA300_2252 grown in CDM (Section 2.1.2) supplemented with either 0.1 mM L-cysteine or 1.65 mM S-methyl L-cysteine as the sole sulfur source. Grown under aerobic conditions at 37°C with 250 rpm shaking. The data are the mean values ± standard deviation obtained from three independent experiments. downstream effects that reduce the ability of *S. aureus* to survive in a low redox potential environment.

5.4.2 Genes related to H₂S production

The H₂S production NTML screen did not select for any genes that are known to be involved in H₂S production (Table 5.2). This raises doubts about the quality of the screen but it could still be useful as a first step to identifying novel genes involved in redox homeostasis. The most promising of these is SAUSA300_0725 that appears to produce twice as much H₂S as WT. It is a thioredoxin-like gene and so could be vital for maintaining redox balance in *S. aureus*. When SAUSA300_0725 was disrupted then more H₂S is produced suggesting that SAUSA300_0725 and H₂S production may be complementary. SAUSA300_1693 could also be interesting with a possible link to beta-lactamase production. A link between H₂S and antibiotic resistance has been previously suggested and SAUSA300_1693 could be part of a novel interaction between H₂S production and antimicrobial resistance.

5.4.3 Investigating sulfur metabolism

Unfortunately attempts to identify genes involved in novel cysteine source metabolism were less successful. Firstly, the BioLog results did not correspond with the growth curve data in the case of L-methionine sulfoxide (Figure 5.11 and Figure 5.12). L-methionine sulfoxide appeared to have increased respiration in the Biolog assay but *S. aureus* was completely unable to grow on L-methionine sulfoxide as a sole sulfur source. This result is particularly surprising because *S. aureus* has four sulfoxide reductases (Singh et al., 2015) and so should be able utilise methionine sulfoxide as a sulfur source. This suggests that *S. aureus* is not able to transport methionine sulfoxide as a sulfoxide as a sulfoxide as a sulfur source.

On the other hand, *S. aureus* could grow on S-methyl L-cysteine at relatively low concentrations and so could utilise this as a source of sulfur. Unfortunately, there were no genes identified in the NTML screen that could be convincingly linked to S-methyl L-cysteine transport or processing.





5.4.4 Future work

The obvious first step for future work would be to transduce each of the transposon mutants into a number of different strain backgrounds. This would help to eliminate confounding effects of any random point mutations.

Other follow up work could be completed with SAUSA300_0725. The involvement of SAUSA300_0725 in H₂S production and the link with thioredoxin-like genes could be an interesting lead. A whole gene knockout and a complemented strain would be invaluable for confirming its H₂S production phenotype. Similar follow up experiments for the other H₂S production mutants could also be carried out, particularly SAUSA300_1693. Investigations into possible links between gamma haemolysin and redox homeostasis could also prove to be interesting.

Chapter 6: Final discussion

6.1 Discussion

6.1.1 A love-hate relationship

Staphylococcus aureus has a close relationship with humanity that has developed over their long shared history of co-evolution. Most of the time this association is friendly with up to two thirds of humans tolerating colonisation by *S. aureus* at any one time. However, *S. aureus* has a sporadic habit of becoming a very unwelcome guest. It can cause a whole host of different diseases ranging from skin and soft tissue infections (SSTIs) to life threating conditions such as bacteraemia, endocarditis and osteomyelitis. Not only that, but *S. aureus* also often refuses to leave when it has clearly outstayed its welcome. Even despite the best efforts of the host immune system and the utilisation of antibiotics, *S. aureus* sometimes simply carries on regardless leading to debilitating persistent infections.

Humans have evolved a vast array of strategies for evicting disease-causing *S. aureus*. These range from relatively nonspecific defences, such as the production of AMPs in mucus, to far more intricate ones, such as the crucial role T-cells plays in recruiting phagocytic cells to sites of infection. These phagocytic cells, mostly neutrophils, then engulf and destroy the offending bacteria. Meanwhile, *S. aureus* has also evolved effective evasion techniques and is able to produce an arsenal of virulence factors to aid it in this endeavour. The production of these virulence factors is the basis of many of *S. aureus* disease pathologies and so research into virulence factors has always been a major focus of *S. aureus* research. However, another important facet of *S. aureus*'s success is its ability to survive in different host environments.

6.1.2 A changing environment

Over the course of an infection *S. aureus* will encounter a whole range of different host environments. Key environmental factors such as nutrient availability, oxygen concentration, pH and redox potential vary dramatically between different sites of infections and are also used by the host immune system to disrupt bacterial growth. For example, high levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) are deployed against bacteria that have been engulfed within professional phagocytes. However, *S. aureus* is able to survive within this hostile environment. It then often escapes into the host cytosol where the environmental conditions change suddenly; including a sudden reduction in redox potential. Determining how *S. aureus* adapts to these changes is a crucial part of developing an understanding of how *S. aureus* is able to persist and why it causes different types of infection.

6.1.3 Oxidative stress

S. aureus is well adapted to surviving in conditions of oxidative stress. It is defined by its ability to produce both catalase and the golden antioxidant pigment staphyloxanthin. It also appears that *S. aureus* is able to utilise the production of H_2S as a ROS defence mechanism. Previous work demonstrated that when production of H_2S was disrupted in *S. aureus* then resistance to ROS decreased (Shatalin et al., 2011); this result has now been complemented by showing that when *S. aureus* produces more H_2S than WT there is increased resistance to H_2O_2 (Chapter 3).

Furthermore, this work revealed a possible link between H₂S production and a thioredoxin like gene SAUSA300_0725 (Chapter 5). It appears that H₂S and 0725 both have a role in lowering redox potential in *S. aureus* and that 0725 interacts with bacillithiol. Therefore, it is likely that they are both part of the wider redox regulatory system alongside cysteine, CoA and bacillithiol.

6.1.4 Production of H₂S

The production of H₂S by *S. aureus* was thought to be under the control of *mccAB*. However, previous work (Shatalin et al., 2011) and this work (Chapter 3) failed to produce a mutant strain that inhibited this operon and resulted in reduced H₂S production. Furthermore, even when USA300_0432, the gene directly before *mccAB*, was interrupted and shown to result in reduced transcription of both *mccA* and *mccB*, H₂S production was still only slightly reduced (Chapter 5). As such, it appears that *mccAB* are not the genes solely responsible for H₂S production in *S. aureus*.

6.1.5 Antibiotic resistance

It has also been suggested that H₂S is utilised by *S. aureus* as a defence against bactericidal antibiotics. However, when the bactericidal antibiotic that had shown the clearest results previously, gentamicin, was used to investigate this claim, increased production of H₂S failed to offer increased resistance (Chapter 3). Therefore, it appears that H₂S produced by *S. aureus* may not offer resistance to bactericidal antibiotics despite offering resistance to ROS. This brings into further question the claims made about the link between bactericidal antibiotics and cell death via ROS (Kohanski et al., 2007, Dwyer et al., 2009). If H₂S offers increased resistance to ROS but not to bactericidal antibiotics then it seems unlikely that ROS is the main cause of bactericidal antibiotic induced cell death. This would appear to uphold the claims made previously, that there is no direct link between ROS and antibiotic induced cell death (Keren et al., 2013).

6.1.6 Persistent infections

This work also characterised the response of *S. aureus* to a sudden drop in redox potential. It was revealed that reducing the redox potential suddenly had profound effects on virulence expression mediated through *agr*. It was also shown to inhibit the electron transport chain, leading to the initiation of less effective anaerobic fermentative metabolism.

Responses to redox environment are crucial for understanding *S. aureus* infections. The switch to a low redox potential environment may be a critical driver behind virulence factor expression and persistent infections. It has been long understood that *agr* is important for controlling virulence factor expression and that it is a quorum sensing system. However, from this work it appears that a sudden change to a low redox potential environment is enough of a switch to dramatically decrease the expression of the *agr* operon. This may be due to the effect of a low redox potential environment on AIP. It is known that oxidation of the C-terminal AIP methionine is responsible for AIP inactivation (Rothfork et al., 2004) so it is possible that a reduced environment may have the opposite effect.

6.1.7 SCVs

Studies have shown that SCVs may be a phenotype brought on by the intracellular environment. From this work, it seems that a drop in redox potential may be enough to produce SCVs through the inhibition of the electron transport chain and the promotion of anaerobic respiration resulting in the key characteristics of SCVs, i.e. slow growth, reduced toxin expression and decreased pigment production. This fits with the phenotype switching model of SCVs whereby SCVs are formed as a temporary phenotype and then generally revert to a WT phenotype. It may simply be that the SCVs are colonies that are respiring anaerobically and that once they return to aerobic respiration are able to grow at the same rate as WT. Stable SCVs that are recovered from clinical isolates tend to have SNPs in genes relating to aerobic metabolism (Proctor et al., 2006) and so it is possible that the SCV phenotype stems from their inability to respire efficiently.

6.2 Future directions of study

Future work could be carried out to investigate the relationship between redox and the changes to metabolism and virulence. In particular it would be interesting to investigate whether the speed of the change in redox is important or if there is an absolute redox potential at which key changes occur. These investigations could be carried out using the chemostat model developed in Chapter 4. The chemostat experiment could be repeated but with a gradient of different concentrations of DTT used or the rate at which the DTT is added could be varied. Understanding if there is a particular redox potential were the effect on the transcriptomic profile changes dramatically, or if the rate of redox potential change is important, could be valuable for understanding why *S. aureus* is sometimes able to persist in the cytoplasm and other times induces host cell lysis.

Another avenue for future work could include investigations *in vivo*. H₂S sensitive probes could be used to improve the understanding of how and when *S. aureus* modulates its production of H₂S as it encounters different environments during the infection lifecycle. An *in vivo* cell model for intracellular survival of *S. aureus* could be

used for example with human lung epithelial cells (Garzoni et al., 2006). There are a number of different fluorescent probes that have been developed that are suitable for the detection and imaging of intracellular H₂S (Yu et al., 2014b). Of these two-photon fluorescent probes show promise and have been used to detect and image real time endogenous H₂S in living cells (Chen et al., 2015). Developing these for use with the intracellular *S. aureus* infection model would allow for real time detection of H₂S as *S. aureus* is engulfed and survives intracellularly.

6.3 Final considerations

Staphylococcus aureus is very adept at making itself at home inside our cells and often outstays its welcome. Improved understanding of how *S. aureus* responds to the environmental conditions it encounters during this intracellular persistence is key to understanding how *S. aureus* can cause chronic infections. Focusing on one environmental condition, redox, has proven fruitful and has shown that an approach that looks closely at an individual environmental factor can be valuable. Further work with a similar approach would assist in piecing together an improved picture of the processes underlining persistent *S. aureus* infection and would aid in the development of more effective treatments.
References

- ABRAHAM, E. P. & CHAIN, E. 1940. An enzyme from bacteria able to destroy penicillin. *Nature*, 146, 837-837.
- AKERSTROM, B. & BJORCK, L. 2009. Bacterial surface protein L binds and inactivates neutrophil proteins. *Journal of Immunology*, 183, 4583-4592.
- ALONZO, F., KOZHAYA, L., RAWLINGS, S. A., REYES-ROBLES, T., DUMONT, A. L., MYSZKA, D. G., LANDAU, N. R., UNUTMAZ, D. & TORRES, V. J. 2013. CCR5 is a receptor for Staphylococcus aureus leukotoxin ED. *Nature*, 493, 51-55.
- AMULIC, B., CAZALET, C., HAYES, G. L., METZLER, K. D. & ZYCHLINSKY, A. 2012. Neutrophil function: from mechanisms to disease. *In:* PAUL, W. E. (ed.) *Annual Review of Immunology, Vol 30.* Palo Alto: Annual Reviews.
- ANDREINI, C., BANCI, L., BERTINI, I. & ROSATO, A. 2006. Zinc through the three domains of life. *Journal of Proteome Research*, **5**, 3173-3178.
- ANDREWS, S. C., ROBINSON, A. K. & RODRIGUEZ-QUINONES, F. 2003. Bacterial iron homeostasis. *Fems Microbiology Reviews*, 27, 215-237.
- ANWAR, S., PRINCE, L. R., FOSTER, S. J., WHYTE, M. K. B. & SABROE, I. 2009. The rise and rise of Staphylococcus aureus: laughing in the face of granulocytes. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, 157, 216-224.
- ARCHER, N. K., MAZAITIS, M. J., COSTERTON, J. W., LEID, J. G., POWERS, M. E. & SHIRTLIFF, M. E. 2011. Staphylococcus aureus biofilms Properties, regulation and roles in human disease. *Virulence*, 2, 445-459.
- ASIF, H. M. S., ROLFE, M. D., GREEN, J., LAWRENCE, N. D., RATTRAY, M. & SANGUINETTI, G. 2010. TFInfer: a tool for probabilistic inference of transcription factor activities. *Bioinformatics*, 26, 2635-2636.
- ASNIS, R. E. 1955. A glutathione reductase from Escherichia-coli. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 213, 77-85.
- AYALA-CASTRO, C., SAINI, A. & OUTTEN, F. W. 2008. Fe-s cluster assembly pathways in bacteria. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 72, 110-+.
- BABA, T., ARA, T., HASEGAWA, M., TAKAI, Y., OKUMURA, Y., BABA, M., DATSENKO, K.
 A., TOMITA, M., WANNER, B. L. & MORI, H. 2006. Construction of Escherichia coli K-12 in-frame, single-gene knockout mutants: the Keio collection.
 Molecular Systems Biology, 2, 11.
- BABIOR, B. M. 1999. NADPH oxidase: an update. *Blood*, 93, 1464-1476.
- BAE, T., BANGER, A. K., WALLACE, A., GLASS, E. M., ASLUND, F., SCHNEEWIND, O. & MISSIAKAS, D. M. 2004. Staphylocloccus aureus virulence genes identified by bursa aurealis mutagenesis and nematode killing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101, 12312-12317.
- BAIRD-PARKER, A. C. 1962. An improved diagnostic and selective medium for isolating coagulase positive staphylococci. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*, 25, 12-& & amp;.
- BALABAN, N. & RASOOLY, A. 2000. Staphylococcal enterotoxins. *International Journal* of Food Microbiology, 61, 1-10.
- BANTEL, H., SINHA, B., DOMSCHKE, W., PETERS, G., SCHULZE-OSTHOFF, K. & JANICKE, R. U. 2001. alpha-toxin is a mediator of Staphylococcus aureus-induced cell death and activates caspases via the intrinsic death pathway independently of death receptor signaling. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 155, 637-647.

- BAYLES, K. W., WESSON, C. A., LIOU, L. E., FOX, L. K., BOHACH, G. A. & TRUMBLE, W. R. 1998. Intracellular Staphylococcus aureus escapes the endosome and induces apoptosis in epithelial cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 66, 336-342.
- BEARDEN, S. E., BEARD, R. S. & PFAU, J. C. 2010. Extracellular transsulfuration generates hydrogen sulfide from homocysteine and protects endothelium from redox stress. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 299, H1568-H1576.
- BEKKER, M., ALEXEEVA, S., LAAN, W., SAWERS, G., DE MATTOS, J. T. & HELLINGWERF, K. 2010. The ArcBA Two-Component System of Escherichia coli Is Regulated by the Redox State of both the Ubiquinone and the Menaquinone Pool. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 192, 746-754.
- BERA, A., HERBERT, S., JAKOB, A., VOLLMER, W. & GOTZ, F. 2005. Why are pathogenic staphylococci so lysozyme resistant? The peptidoglycan O-acetyltransferase OatA is the major determinant for lysozyme resistance of Staphylococcus aureus. *Molecular Microbiology*, 55, 778-787.
- BERENDS, E. T. M., HORSWILL, A. R., HASTE, N. M., MONESTIER, M., NIZET, V. & VON KOCKRITZ-BLICKWEDE, M. 2010. Nuclease Expression by Staphylococcus aureus Facilitates Escape from Neutrophil Extracellular Traps. *Journal of Innate Immunity*, 2, 576-586.
- BHAVE, D. P., MUSE, W. B. & CARROLL, K. S. 2007. Drug targets in Mycobacterial sulfur metabolism. *Infectious Disorders Drug Targets*, **7**, 140-158.
- BISCHOFF, M., DUNMAN, P., KORMANEC, J., MACAPAGAL, D., MURPHY, E., MOUNTS, W., BERGER-BACHI, B. & PROJAN, S. 2004. Microarray-based analysis of the Staphylococcus aureus sigma(B) regulon. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 186, 4085-4099.
- BODEN, M. K. & FLOCK, J. I. 1994. Cloning and characterization of a gene for a 19 KDA fibrinogen-binding protein from Staphylococcus aureus. *Molecular Microbiology*, 12, 599-606.
- BOGDAN, J. A., NAZARIO-LARRIEU, J., SARWAR, J., ALEXANDER, P. & BLAKE, M. S. 2001. Bordetella pertussis autoregulates pertussis toxin production through the metabolism of cysteine. *Infection and Immunity*, 69, 6823-6830.
- BOISSET, S., GEISSMANN, T., HUNTZINGER, E., FECHTER, P., BENDRIDI, N., POSSEDKO, M., CHEVALIER, C., HELFER, A. C., BENITO, Y., JACQUIER, A., GASPIN, C., VANDENESCH, F. & ROMBY, P. 2007. Staphylococcus aureus RNAIII coordinately represses the synthesis of virulence factors and the transcription regulator Rot by an antisense mechanism. *Genes & Development*, 21, 1353-1366.
- BOKAREWA, M. I., JIN, T. & TARKOWSKI, A. 2006. Staphylococcus aureus: Staphylokinase. International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 38, 504-509.
- BOSE, J. L., DALY, S. M., HALL, P. R. & BAYLESA, K. W. 2014. Identification of the Staphylococcus aureus vfrAB Operon, a Novel Virulence Factor Regulatory Locus. *Infection and Immunity*, 82, 1813-1822.
- BOSE, J. L., FEY, P. D. & BAYLES, K. W. 2013. Genetic Tools To Enhance the Study of Gene Function and Regulation in Staphylococcus aureus. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 79, 2218-2224.

- BOSSE, M. J., GRUBER, H. E. & RAMP, W. K. 2005. Internalization of bacteria by osteoblasts in a patient with recurrent, long-term osteomyelitis A case report. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery-American Volume*, 87A, 1343-1347.
- BRADFORD, M. M. 1976. Rapid and sensitive method for quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing principle of protein-dye binding. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 72, 248-254.
- BRINKMANN, V., REICHARD, U., GOOSMANN, C., FAULER, B., UHLEMANN, Y., WEISS, D. S., WEINRAUCH, Y. & ZYCHLINSKY, A. 2004. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science*, 303, 1532-1535.
- BROOK, I. 2011. Antimicrobial treatment of anaerobic infections. *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy*, 12, 1691-1707.
- BROWN, D. F. J. & REYNOLDS, P. E. 1980. Intrinsic resistance to beta-lactam antibiotics in Staphylococcus aureus. *Febs Letters*, 122, 275-278.
- BRÖKER, B. M., MROCHEN, D. & PETON, V. 2016. The T Cell Response to Staphylococcus aureus. *Pathogens*, 5, 23.
- BUI, L. M. G., HOFFMANN, P., TURNIDGE, J. D., ZILM, P. S. & KIDD, S. P. 2015.
 Prolonged Growth of a Clinical Staphylococcus aureus Strain Selects for a Stable Small-Colony-Variant Cell Type. *Infection and Immunity*, 83, 470-481.
- BUKOWSKI, M., WLADYKA, B. & DUBIN, G. 2010. Exfoliative Toxins of Staphylococcus aureus. *Toxins*, 2, 1148-1165.
- BURKE, F. M., DI POTO, A., SPEZIALE, P. & FOSTER, T. J. 2011. The A domain of fibronectin-binding protein B of Staphylococcus aureus contains a novel fibronectin binding site. *Febs Journal*, 278, 2359-2371.
- BURKE, K. A. & LASCELLES, J. 1975. Nitrate reductase system in Staphylococcus aureus wild-type and mutants. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 123, 308-316.
- CADIEUX, B., VIJAYAKUMARAN, V., BERNARDS, M. A., MCGAVIN, M. J. & HEINRICHS, D.
 E. 2014. Role of Lipase from Community-Associated Methicillin-Resistant
 Staphylococcus aureus Strain USA300 in Hydrolyzing Triglycerides into Growth-Inhibitory Free Fatty Acids. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 196, 4044-4056.
- CAO, S., HUSEBY, D. L., BRANDIS, G. & HUGHES, D. 2017. Alternative Evolutionary Pathways for Drug-Resistant Small Colony Variant Mutants in Staphylococcus aureus. *Mbio*, 8, 15.
- CARTRON, M. L., ENGLAND, S. R., CHIRIAC, A. I., JOSTEN, M., TURNER, R., RAUTER, Y., HURD, A., SAHL, H. G., JONES, S. & FOSTER, S. J. 2014. Bactericidal Activity of the Human Skin Fatty Acid cis-6-Hexadecanoic Acid on Staphylococcus aureus. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 58, 3599-3609.
- CHAFFIN, D. O., TAYLOR, D., SKERRETT, S. J. & RUBENS, C. E. 2012. Changes in the Staphylococcus aureus Transcriptome during Early Adaptation to the Lung. *Plos One*, 7, 21.
- CHAIBENJAWONG, P. & FOSTER, S. J. 2011. Desiccation tolerance in Staphylococcus aureus. *Archives of Microbiology*, 193, 125-135.
- CHAMBERS, H. F. 1997. Methicillin resistance in staphylococci: Molecular and biochemical basis and clinical implications. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 10, 781-&.
- CHAMBERS, H. F. & DELEO, F. R. 2009. Waves of resistance: Staphylococcus aureus in the antibiotic era. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, **7**, 629-641.

- CHANG, W., SMALL, D. A., TOGHROL, F. & BENTLEY, W. E. 2006. Global transcriptome analysis of Staphylococcus aureus response to hydrogen peroxide. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 188, 1648-1659.
- CHAPMAN, G. H., BERENS, C., PETERS, A. & CURCIO, L. 1934. Coagulase and hemolysin tests as measures of the pathogenicity of staphylococci. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 28, 343-363.
- CHATTERJEE, S. S., JOO, H. S., DUONG, A. C., DIERINGER, T. D., TAN, V. Y., SONG, Y., FISCHER, E. R., CHEUNG, G. Y. C., LI, M. & OTTO, M. 2013. Essential Staphylococcus aureus toxin export system. *Nature Medicine*, **19**, 364-367.
- CHAVAKIS, T., HUSSAIN, M., KANSE, S. M., PETERS, G., BRETZEL, R. G., FLOCK, J. I., HERRMANN, M. & PREISSNER, K. T. 2002. Staphylococcus aureus extracellular adherence protein serves as anti-inflammatory factor by inhibiting the recruitment of host leukocytes. *Nature Medicine*, **8**, 687-693.
- CHEMALY, R. F., HACHEM, R. Y., HUSNI, R. N., BAHNA, B., ABOU RJAILI, G., WAKED, A., GRAVISS, L., BEKELE, B. N., SHAH, J. N. & RAAD, II 2010. Characteristics and Outcomes of Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus Surgical-Site Infections in Patients with Cancer: a Case-Control Study. *Annals of Surgical Oncology*, 17, 1499-1506.
- CHEN, P. R., NISHIDA, S., POOR, C. B., CHENG, A., BAE, T., KUECHENMEISTER, L., DUNMAN, P. M., MISSIAKAS, D. & HE, C. 2009. A new oxidative sensing and regulation pathway mediated by the MgrA homologue SarZ in Staphylococcus aureus. *Molecular Microbiology*, 71, 198-211.
- CHEN, Q., YANG, J. F., LI, Y. H., ZHENG, J. & YANG, R. H. 2015. Sensitive and rapid detection of endogenous hydrogen sulfide distributing in different mouse viscera via a two-photon fluorescent probe. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 896, 128-136.
- CHENG, A. G., KIM, H. K., BURTS, M. L., KRAUSZ, T., SCHNEEWIND, O. & MISSIAKAS, D.
 M. 2009. Genetic requirements for Staphylococcus aureus abscess formation and persistence in host tissues. *Faseb Journal*, 23, 3393-3404.
- CHEUNG, A. L., NISHINA, K. A., TROTONDA, M. P. & TAMBER, S. 2008. The SarA protein family of Staphylococcus aureus. *International Journal of Biochemistry & amp; Cell Biology*, 40, 355-361.
- CHEUNG, A. L., SCHMIDT, K., BATEMAN, B. & MANNA, A. C. 2001. SarS, a SarA homolog repressible by agr, is an activator of protein a synthesis in Staphylococcus aureus. *Infection and Immunity*, 69, 2448-2455.
- CHEUNG, J., BEASLEY, F. C., LIU, S. Y., LAJOIE, G. A. & HEINRICHS, D. E. 2009. Molecular characterization of staphyloferrin B biosynthesis in Staphylococcus aureus. *Molecular Microbiology*, 74, 594-608.
- CLARKE, S. R. & FOSTER, S. J. 2008. IsdA protects Staphylococcus aureus against the bactericidal protease activity of apolactoferrin. *Infection and Immunity*, 76, 1518-1526.
- CLARKE, S. R., MOHAMED, R., BIAN, L., ROUTH, A. F., KOKAI-KUN, J. F., MOND, J. J., TARKOWSKI, A. & FOSTER, S. J. 2007. The Staphylococcus aureus surface protein IsdA mediates resistance to innate Defenses of human skin. *Cell Host & amp; Microbe,* 1, 199-212.

- CLARO, T., WIDAA, A., O'SEAGHDHA, M., MIAJLOVIC, H., FOSTER, T. J., O'BRIEN, F. J. & KERRIGAN, S. W. 2011. Staphylococcus aureus protein A binds to osteoblasts and triggers signals that weaken bone in osteomyelitis. *Plos One*, *6*, 10.
- CLAUDITZ, A., RESCH, A., WIELAND, K. P., PESCHEL, A. & GOTZ, F. 2006. Staphyloxanthin plays a role in the fitness of Staphylococcus aureus and its ability to cope with oxidative stress. *Infection and Immunity*, 74, 4950-4953.
- CLEMENT, S., VAUDAUX, P., FRANCOIS, P., SCHRENZEL, J., HUGGLER, E., KAMPF, S., CHAPONNIER, C., LEW, D. & LACROIX, J. S. 2005. Evidence of an intracellular reservoir in the nasal mucosa of patients with recurrent Staphylococcus aureus rhinosinusitis. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 192, 1023-1028.
- CLEMENTS, M. O., WATSON, S. P. & FOSTER, S. J. 1999. Characterization of the major superoxide dismutase of Staphylococcus aureus and its role in starvation survival, stress resistance, and pathogenicity. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 181, 3898-3903.
- COATES, A. R. M., HALLS, G. & HU, Y. M. 2011. Novel classes of antibiotics or more of the same? *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 163, 184-194.
- COLLINS, L. V., KRISTIAN, S. A., WEIDENMAIER, C., FAIGLE, M., VAN KESSEL, K. P. M., VAN STRIJP, J. A. G., GOTZ, F., NEUMEISTER, B. & PESCHEL, A. 2002. Staphylococcus aureus strains lacking D-alanine modifications of teichoic acids are highly susceptible to human neutrophil killing and are virulence attenuated in mice. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 186, 214-219.
- COONEY, J., KIENLE, Z., FOSTER, T. J. & OTOOLE, P. W. 1993. The gamma-hemolysin locus of Staphylococcus aureus comprises 3 linked genes, 2 of which are identical to the genes for the F and S components of leukocidin. *Infection and Immunity*, 61, 768-771.
- COOPER, C. E. & BROWN, G. C. 2008. The inhibition of mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase by the gases carbon monoxide, nitric oxide, hydrogen cyanide and hydrogen sulfide: chemical mechanism and physiological significance. *Journal* of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes, 40, 533-539.
- CORBIN, B. D., SEELEY, E. H., RAAB, A., FELDMANN, J., MILLER, M. R., TORRES, V. J., ANDERSON, K. L., DATTILO, B. M., DUNMAN, P. M., GERADS, R., CAPRIOLI, R. M., NACKEN, W., CHAZIN, W. J. & SKAAR, E. P. 2008. Metal chelation and inhibition of bacterial growth in tissue abscesses. *Science*, 319, 962-965.
- CORRIGAN, R. M., MIAJLOVIC, H. & FOSTER, T. J. 2009. Surface proteins that promote adherence of Staphylococcus aureus to human desquamated nasal epithelial cells. *Bmc Microbiology*, 9, 10.
- COULTER, S. N., SCHWAN, W. R., NG, E. Y. W., LANGHORNE, M. H., RITCHIE, H. D., WESTBROCK-WADMAN, S., HUFNAGLE, W. O., FOLGER, K. R., BAYER, A. S. & STOVER, C. K. 1998. Staphylococcus aureus genetic loci impacting growth and survival in multiple infection environments. *Molecular Microbiology*, 30, 393-404.
- CUNNINGHAM, R., COCKAYNE, A. & HUMPHREYS, H. 1996. Clinical and molecular aspects of the pathogenesis of Staphylococcus aureus bone and joint infections. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 44, 157-164.
- CURNUTTE, J. T., WHITTEN, D. M. & BABIOR, B. M. 1974. Defective superoxide production by granulocytes from patients with chronic granulomatous disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 290, 593-597.

- DALE, S. E., DOHERTY-KIRBY, A., LAJOIE, G. & HEINRICHS, D. E. 2004. Role of siderophore biosynthesis in virulence of Staphylococcus aureus: Identification and characterization of genes involved in production of a siderophore. *Infection and Immunity*, 72, 29-37.
- DAUM, R. S. & SPELLBERG, B. 2012. Progress toward a Staphylococcus aureus vaccine. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 54, 560-567.
- DAVID, M. Z. & DAUM, R. S. 2010. Community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: epidemiology and clinical consequences of an emerging epidemic. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 23, 616-+.
- DAYARAM, Y. K., TALAUE, M. T., CONNELL, N. D. & VENKETARAMAN, V. 2006. Characterization of a glutathione metabolic mutant of Mycobacterium tuberculosis and its resistance to glutathione and nitrosoglutathione. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 188, 1364-1372.
- DE HAAS, C. J. C., VELDKAMP, K. E., PESCHEL, A., WEERKAMP, F., VAN WAMEL, W. J. B., HEEZIUS, E., POPPELIER, M., VAN KESSEL, K. P. M. & VAN STRIJP, J. A. G. 2004. Chemotaxis inhibitory protein of Staphylococcus aureus, a bacterial antiinflammatory agent. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 199, 687-695.
- DEISENHOFER, J. 1981. Crystallographic refinement and atomic models of a human Fc fragment and it's complex with fragment-B of protein-A from Staphylococcus aureus at 2.9-A and 2.8A resolution. *Biochemistry*, 20, 2361-2370.
- DEIVANAYAGAM, C. C. S., WANN, E. R., CHEN, W., CARSON, M., RAJASHANKAR, K. R., HOOK, M. & NARAYANA, S. V. L. 2002. A novel variant of the immunoglobulin fold in surface adhesins of Staphylococcus aureus: crystal structure of the fibrinogen-binding MSCRAMM, clumping factor A. *Embo Journal*, 21, 6660-6672.
- DENBY, K. J., ROLFE, M. D., CRICK, E., SANGUINETTI, G., POOLE, R. K. & GREEN, J. 2015. Adaptation of anaerobic cultures of Escherichia coliK-12 in response to environmental trimethylamine-N-oxide. *Environmental Microbiology*, 17, 2477-2491.
- DEOTALE, V., MENDIRATTA, D. K., RAUT, U. & NARANG, P. 2010. Inducible clindamycin resistance in Staphylococcus aureus isolated from clinical samples. *Indian Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 28, 124-126.
- DI PALMA, A. A., PEREYRA, C. M., RAMIREZ, L. M., VAZQUEZ, M. L. X., BACA, B. E., PEREYRA, M. A., LAMATTINA, L. & CREUS, C. M. 2013. Denitrification-derived nitric oxide modulates biofilm formation in Azospirillum brasilense. *Fems Microbiology Letters*, 338, 77-85.
- DIEP, B. A. & OTTO, M. 2008. The role of virulence determinants in communityassociated MRSA pathogenesis. *Trends in Microbiology*, 16, 361-369.
- DING, Y., LIU, X., CHEN, F. F., DI, H. X., XU, B., ZHOU, L., DENG, X., WU, M., YANG, C. G.
 & LAN, L. F. 2014. Metabolic sensor governing bacterial virulence in Staphylococcus aureus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111, E4981-E4990.
- DUBIN, G. 2002. Extracellular proteases of Staphylococcus spp. *Biological Chemistry*, 383, 1075-1086.
- DUMONT, A. L., YOONG, P., DAY, C. J., ALONZO, F., MCDONALD, W. H., JENNINGS, M.
 P. & TORRES, V. J. 2013. Staphylococcus aureus LukAB cytotoxin kills human neutrophils by targeting the CD11b subunit of the integrin Mac-1. *Proceedings*

of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 110, 10794-10799.

- DUNMAN, P. M., MURPHY, E., HANEY, S., PALACIOS, D., TUCKER-KELLOGG, G., WU, S., BROWN, E. L., ZAGURSKY, R. J., SHLAES, D. & PROJAN, S. J. 2001. Transcription profiling-based identification of Staphylococcus aureus genes regulated by the agr and/or sarA loci. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 183, 7341-7353.
- DUNYACH-REMY, C., ESSEBE, C. N., SOTTO, A. & LAVIGNE, J. P. 2016. Staphylococcus aureus toxins and diabetic foot ulcers: role in pathogenesis and interest in diagnosis. *Toxins*, 8, 20.
- DWYER, D. J., BELENKY, P. A., YANG, J. H., MACDONALD, I. C., MARTELL, J. D., TAKAHASHI, N., CHAN, C. T. Y., LOBRITZ, M. A., BRAFF, D., SCHWARZ, E. G., YE, J. D., PATI, M., VERCRUYSSE, M., RALIFO, P. S., ALLISON, K. R., KHALIL, A. S., TING, A. Y., WALKER, G. C. & COLLINS, J. J. 2014. Antibiotics induce redoxrelated physiological alterations as part of their lethality. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111, E2100-E2109.
- DWYER, D. J., KOHANSKI, M. A. & COLLINS, J. J. 2009. Role of reactive oxygen species in antibiotic action and resistance. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 12, 482-489.
- DZIEWANOWSKA, K., PATTI, J. M., DEOBALD, C. F., BAYLES, K. W., TRUMBLE, W. R. & BOHACH, G. A. 1999. Fibronectin binding protein and host cell tyrosine kinase are required for internalization of Staphylococcus aureus by epithelial cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 67, 4673-4678.
- EDWARDS, A. 2012. Phenotype switching is a natural consequence of Staphylococcus aureus replication. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 194, 5404-5412.
- ELSHOLZ, A. K. W., HEMPEL, K., POTHER, D. C., BECHER, D., HECKER, M. & GERTH, U. 2011. CtsR inactivation during thiol-specific stress in low GC, Gram plus bacteria. *Molecular Microbiology*, 79, 772-785.
- ELSTON, J. W. T. & BARLOW, G. D. 2009. Community-associated MRSA in the United Kingdom. *Journal of Infection*, 59, 149-155.
- FAN, Y., XU, X., CUI, H., NG, J., SAVCHENKO, A., JOACHIMIAK, A. & EDWARDS, A. 2009. The crystal structure of a putative oxidoreductase with a thioredoxin fold. <u>www.rcsb.org/pdb/explore/explore.do?structureId=3IV4</u>.
- FANG, F. C. 2004. Antimicrobial reactive oxygen and nitrogen species: Concepts and controversies. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2, 820-832.
- FATTOM, A. I., HORWITH, G., FULLER, S., PROPST, M. & NASO, R. 2004. Development of StaphVAX (TM), a polysaccharide conjugate vaccine against S-aureus infection: from the lab bench to phase III clinical trials. *Vaccine*, 22, 880-887.
- FERRERAS, M., HOPER, F., DALLA SERRA, M., COLIN, D. A., PREVOST, G. & MENESTRINA, G. 1998. The interaction of Staphylococcus aureus bi-component gamma-hemolysins and leucocidins with cells and lipid membranes. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Biomembranes*, 1414, 108-126.
- FEY, P. D., ENDRES, J. L., YAJJALA, V. K., WIDHELM, T. J., BOISSY, R. J., BOSE, J. L. & BAYLES, K. W. 2013. A genetic resource for rapid and comprehensive phenotype screening of non-essential Staphylococcus aureus genes. *Mbio*, 4, 8.
- FIEBELKORN, K. R., CRAWFORD, S. A., MCELMEEL, M. L. & JORGENSEN, J. H. 2003. Practical disk diffusion method for detection of inducible clindamycin

resistance in Staphylococcus aureus and coagulase-negative staphylococci. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, **41**, 4740-4744.

- FILLAT, M. F. 2014. The FUR (ferric uptake regulator) superfamily: Diversity and versatility of key transcriptional regulators. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 546, 41-52.
- FLEMING, A. 1929. On the antibacterial action of cultures of a penicillium, with special reference to their use in the isolation of B. influenzae. *British Journal of Experimental Pathology*, 10, 226-236.
- FOGO, J. K. & POPOWSKY, M. 1949. Spectrophotometric determination of hydrogen sulfide methylene blue method. *Analytical Chemistry*, 21, 732-734.
- FOSTER, T. J. 2017. Antibiotic resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. Current status and future prospects. *Fems Microbiology Reviews*, 41, 430-449.
- FOSTER, T. J., GEOGHEGAN, J. A., GANESH, V. K. & HOOK, M. 2014. Adhesion, invasion and evasion: the many functions of the surface proteins of Staphylococcus aureus. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 12, 49-62.
- FOTI, J. J., DEVADOSS, B., WINKLER, J. A., COLLINS, J. J. & WALKER, G. C. 2012. Oxidation of the guanine nucleotide pool underlies cell death by bactericidal antibiotics. *Science*, 336, 315-319.
- FOWLER, V. G., ALLEN, K. B., MOREIRA, E. D., MOUSTAFA, M., ISGRO, F., BOUCHER, H. W., COREY, G. R., CARMELI, Y., BETTS, R., HARTZEL, J. S., CHAN, I. S. F., MCNEELY, T. B., KARTSONIS, N. A., GURIS, D., ONORATO, M. T., SMUGAR, S. S., DINUBILE, M. J. & SOBANJO-TER MEULEN, A. 2013. Effect of an investigational vaccine for preventing Staphylococcus aureus infections after cardiothoracic surgery a randomized trial. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association*, 309, 1368-1378.
- FOWLER, V. G. & PROCTOR, R. A. 2014. Where does a Staphylococcus aureus vaccine stand? *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 20, 66-75.
- FRAUNHOLZ, M. & SINHA, B. 2012. Intracellular Staphylococcus aureus: live-in and let die. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 2, 10.
- FREITAS, F. I. S., GUEDES-STEHLING, E. & SIQUEIRA-JUNIOR, J. P. 1999. Resistance to gentamicin and related aminoglycosides in Staphylococcus aureus isolated in Brazil. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 29, 197-201.
- FRITZ, S. A., TIEMANN, K. M., HOGAN, P. G., EPPLIN, E. K., RODRIGUEZ, M., AL-ZUBEIDI, D. N., WARDENBURG, J. B. & HUNSTAD, D. A. 2013. A serologic correlate of protective immunity against community-onset Staphylococcus aureus infection. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 56, 1554-1561.
- FUCHS, S., PANE-FARRE, J., KOHLER, C., HECKER, M. & ENGELMANN, S. 2007. Anaerobic gene expression in Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 189, 4275-4289.
- GARDETE, S. & TOMASZ, A. 2014. Mechanisms of vancomycin resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 124, 2836-2840.
- GARZONI, C., FRANCOIS, P., HUYGHE, A., COUZINET, S., TAPPAREL, C., CHARBONNIER,
 Y., RENZONI, A., LUCCHINI, S., LEW, D. P., VAUDAUX, P., KELLEY, W. L. &
 SCHRENZEL, J. 2007. A global view of Staphylococcus aureus whole genome expression upon internalization in human epithelial cells. *Bmc Genomics*, 8, 14.

- GARZONI, C. & KELLEY, W. L. 2011. Return of the Trojan horse: intracellular phenotype switching and immune evasion by Staphylococcus aureus. *Embo Molecular Medicine*, 3, 115-117.
- GEIGER, T., FRANCOIS, P., LIEBEKE, M., FRAUNHOLZ, M., GOERKE, C., KRISMER, B., SCHRENZEL, J., LALK, M. & WOLZ, C. 2012. The Stringent Response of Staphylococcus aureus and Its Impact on Survival after Phagocytosis through the Induction of Intracellular PSMs Expression. *Plos Pathogens*, 8, 15.
- GENESTIER, A. L., MICHALLET, M. C., PREVOST, G., BELLOT, G., CHALABREYSSE, L.,
 PEYROL, S., THIVOLET, F., ETIENNE, J., LINA, G., VALLETTE, F. M., VANDENESCH,
 F. & GENESTIER, L. 2005. Staphylococcus aureus Panton-Valentine leukocidin
 directly targets mitochondria and induces Bax-independent apoptosis of
 human neutrophils. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 115, 3117-3127.
- GIESE, B., GLOWINSKI, F., PAPROTKA, K., DITTMANN, S., STEINER, T., SINHA, B. & FRAUNHOLZ, M. J. 2011. Expression of delta-toxin by Staphylococcus aureus mediates escape from phago-endosomes of human epithelial and endothelial cells in the presence of beta-toxin. *Cellular Microbiology*, 13, 316-329.
- GIRAUDO, A. T., RASPANTI, C. G., CALZOLARI, A. & NAGEL, R. 1994. Characterization of a TN551-mutant of Staphylococcus aureus defective in the production of several exoproteins. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 40, 677-681.
- GO, Y. M. & JONES, D. P. 2008. Redox compartmentalization in eukaryotic cells. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-General Subjects, 1780, 1271-1290.
- GOERKE, C., CAMPANA, S., BAYER, M. G., DORING, G., BOTZENHART, K. & WOLZ, C.
 2000. Direct quantitative transcript analysis of the agr regulon of
 Staphylococcus aureus during human infection in comparison to the expression
 profile in vitro. *Infection and Immunity*, 68, 1304-1311.
- GRAHAM, P. L., LIN, S. X. & LARSON, E. L. 2006. A US population-based survey of Staphylococcus aureus colonization. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 144, 318-325.
- GRAILLE, M., STURA, E. A., CORPER, A. L., SUTTON, B. J., TAUSSIG, M. J., CHARBONNIER, J. B. & SILVERMAN, G. J. 2000. Crystal structure of a Staphylococcus aureus protein A domain complexed with the Fab fragment of a human IgM antibody: Structural basis for recognition of B-cell receptors and superantigen activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97, 5399-5404.
- GREER, R. B., ROSENBERG, A. E., ROSENTHAL, D. I., PARSONS, T. W., LEE, J. & RYAN, E.
 T. 1993. A 69-year-old woman with a sclerotic lesion of the femur and pulmonary nodules late reactivation of acute hematogenous osteomyelitis (Staphylococcus-aureus) of femur (with pulmonary abscesses). New England Journal of Medicine, 328, 422-428.
- GRESHAM, H. D., LOWRANCE, J. H., CAVER, T. E., WILSON, B. S., CHEUNG, A. L. & LINDBERG, F. P. 2000. Survival of Staphylococcus aureus inside neutrophils contributes to infection. *Journal of Immunology*, 164, 3713-3722.
- GRIGG, J. C., UKPABI, G., GAUDIN, C. F. M. & MURPHY, M. E. P. 2010. Structural biology of heme binding in the Staphylococcus aureus Isd system. *Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry*, 104, 341-348.
- GUSAROV, I. & NUDLER, E. 2005. NO-mediated cytoprotection: Instant adaptation to oxidative stress in bacteria. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102, 13855-13860.

- HAGGAR, A., HUSSAIN, M., LONNIES, H., HERRMANN, M., NORRBY-TEGLUND, A. & FLOCK, J. I. 2003. Extracellular adherence protein from Staphylococcus aureus enhances internalization into eukaryotic cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 71, 2310-2317.
- HAHN, F. E. & SARRE, S. G. 1969. MECHANISM OF ACTION OF GENTAMICIN. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 119, 364-&.
- HAIM, M., TROST, A., MAIER, C. J., ACHATZ, G., FEICHTNER, S., HINTNER, H., BAUER, J.
 W. & ONDER, K. 2010. Cytokeratin 8 interacts with clumping factor B: a new possible virulence factor target. *Microbiology-Sgm*, 156, 3710-3721.
- HAIR, P. S., WARD, M. D., SEMMES, O. J., FOSTER, T. J. & CUNNION, K. M. 2008.
 Staphylococcus aureus clumping factor A binds to complement regulator factor I and increases factor I cleavage of C3b. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 198, 125-133.
- HALSEY, C. R., LEI, S. L., WAX, J. K., LEHMAN, M. K., NUXOLL, A. S., STEINKE, L., SADYKOV, M., POWERS, R. & FEY, P. D. 2017. Amino Acid Catabolism in Staphylococcus aureus and the Function of Carbon Catabolite Repression. *Mbio*, 8, 19.
- HAMMEL, M., SFYROERA, G., RICKLIN, D., MAGOTTI, P., LAMBRIS, J. D. & GEISBRECHT,
 B. V. 2007. A structural basis for complement inhibition by Staphylococcus aureus. *Nature Immunology*, 8, 430-437.
- HAMMER, N. D. & SKAAR, E. P. 2011. Molecular Mechanisms of Staphylococcus aureus Iron Acquisition. *In:* GOTTESMAN, S. & HARWOOD, C. S. (eds.) *Annual Review of Microbiology, Vol 65.* Palo Alto: Annual Reviews.
- HAMPTON, M. B., KETTLE, A. J. & WINTERBOURN, C. C. 1998. Inside the neutrophil phagosome: Oxidants, myeloperoxidase, and bacterial killing. *Blood*, 92, 3007-3017.
- HARRAGHY, N., HUSSAIN, M., HAGGAR, A., CHAVAKIS, T., SINHA, B., HERRMANN, M. & FLOCK, J. I. 2003. The adhesive and immunomodulating properties of the multifunctional Staphylococcus aureus protein Eap. *Microbiology-Sgm*, 149, 2701-2707.
- HARTMANN, T., ZHANG, B., BARONIAN, G., SCHULTHESS, B., HOMEROVA, D., GRUBMULLER, S., KUTZNER, E., GAUPP, R., BERTRAM, R., POWERS, R., EISENREICH, W., KORMANEC, J., HERRMANN, M., MOLLE, V., SOMERVILLE, G. A. & BISCHOFF, M. 2013. Catabolite Control Protein E (CcpE) Is a LysR-type Transcriptional Regulator of Tricarboxylic Acid Cycle Activity in Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288, 36116-36128.
- HASLINGER, B., STRANGFELD, K., PETERS, G., SCHULZE-OSTHOFF, K. & SINHA, B. 2003. Staphylococcus aureus alpha-toxin induces apoptosis in peripheral blood mononuclear cells: role of endogenous tumour necrosis factor-alpha and the mitochondrial death pathway. *Cellular Microbiology*, **5**, 729-741.
- HENTZE, M. W., MUCKENTHALER, M. U. & ANDREWS, N. C. 2004. Balancing acts: Molecular control of mammalian iron metabolism. *Cell*, 117, 285-297.
- HIRAMATSU, K., CUI, L., KURODA, M. & ITO, T. 2001. The emergence and evolution of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Trends in Microbiology*, 9, 486-493.
- HIRAMATSU, K., HANAKI, H., INO, T., YABUTA, K., OGURI, T. & TENOVER, F. C. 1997. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus clinical strain with reduced vancomycin susceptibility. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 40, 135-136.

- HIRSCHHAUSEN, N., SCHLESIER, T., SCHMIDT, M. A., GOTZ, F., PETERS, G. & HEILMANN, C. 2010. A novel staphylococcal internalization mechanism involves the major autolysin Atl and heat shock cognate protein Hsc70 as host cell receptor. *Cellular Microbiology*, 12, 1746-1764.
- HOLTFRETER, S., KOLATA, J. & BROKER, B. M. 2010. Towards the immune proteome of Staphylococcus aureus - The anti-S. aureus antibody response. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 300, 176-192.
- HORSBURGH, M. J., AISH, J. L., WHITE, I. J., SHAW, L., LITHGOW, J. K. & FOSTER, S. J.
 2002a. sigma(B) modulates virulence determinant expression and stress resistance: Characterization of a functional rsbU strain derived from Staphylococcus aureus 8325-4. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 184, 5457-5467.
- HORSBURGH, M. J., CLEMENTS, M. O., CROSSLEY, H., INGHAM, E. & FOSTER, S. J. 2001. PerR controls oxidative stress resistance and iron storage proteins and is required for virulence in Staphylococcus aureus. *Infection and Immunity*, 69, 3744-3754.
- HORSBURGH, M. J., WHARTON, S. J., COX, A. G., INGHAM, E., PEACOCK, S. & FOSTER, S. J. 2002b. MntR modulates expression of the PerR regulon and superoxide resistance in Staphylococcus aureus through control of manganese uptake. *Molecular Microbiology*, 44, 1269-1286.
- HORST, S. A., HOERR, V., BEINEKE, A., KREIS, C., TUCHSCHERR, L., KALINKA, J., LEHNE, S., SCHLEICHER, I., KOHLER, G., FUCHS, T., RASCHKE, M. J., ROHDE, M., PETERS, G., FABER, C., LOFFLER, B. & MEDINA, E. 2012. A Novel Mouse Model of Staphylococcus aureus Chronic Osteomyelitis That Closely Mimics the Human Infection An Integrated View of Disease Pathogenesis. *American Journal of Pathology*, 181, 1206-1214.
- HOSKINS, J., ALBORN, W. E., ARNOLD, J., BLASZCZAK, L. C., BURGETT, S., DEHOFF, B. S., ESTREM, S. T., FRITZ, L., FU, D. J., FULLER, W., GERINGER, C., GILMOUR, R., GLASS, J. S., KHOJA, H., KRAFT, A. R., LAGACE, R. E., LEBLANC, D. J., LEE, L. N., LEFKOWITZ, E. J., LU, J., MATSUSHIMA, P., MCAHREN, S. M., MCHENNEY, M., MCLEASTER, K., MUNDY, C. W., NICAS, T. I., NORRIS, F. H., O'GARA, M., PEERY, R. B., ROBERTSON, G. T., ROCKEY, P., SUN, P. M., WINKLER, M. E., YANG, Y., YOUNG-BELLIDO, M., ZHAO, G. S., ZOOK, C. A., BALTZ, R. H., JASKUNAS, S. R., ROSTECK, P. R., SKATRUD, P. L. & GLASS, J. I. 2001. Genome of the bacterium Streptococcus pneumoniae strain R6. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 183, 5709-5717.
- HOWDEN, B. P., DAVIES, J. K., JOHNSON, P. D. R., STINEAR, T. P. & GRAYSON, M. L.
 2010. Reduced Vancomycin Susceptibility in Staphylococcus aureus, Including Vancomycin-Intermediate and Heterogeneous Vancomycin-Intermediate Strains: Resistance Mechanisms, Laboratory Detection, and Clinical Implications. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 23, 99-+.
- HUANG, S. S. & PLATT, R. 2003. Risk of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infection after previous infection or colonization. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 36, 281-285.
- HUDSON, M. C., RAMP, W. K., NICHOLSON, N. C., WILLIAMS, A. S. & NOUSIAINEN, M. T.
 1995. Internalization of Staphylococcus aureus by cultured osteoblasts.
 Microbial Pathogenesis, 19, 409-419.

- HUSSAIN, M., HASTINGS, J. G. M. & WHITE, P. J. 1991. Isolation and composition of the extracellular slime made by coagulase-negative Staphylococci in a chemically defined medium. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 163, 534-541.
- HWANG, C., SINSKEY, A. J. & LODISH, H. F. 1992. Oxidized redox state of glutathione in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Science*, 257, 1496-1502.
- HYNES, W. L. & WALTON, S. L. 2000. Hyaluronidases of Gram-positive bacteria. *Fems Microbiology Letters*, 183, 201-207.
- IBBERSON, C. B., JONES, C. L., SINGH, S., WISE, M. C., HART, M. E., ZURAWSKI, D. V. & HORSWILL, A. R. 2014. Staphylococcus aureus Hyaluronidase Is a CodY-Regulated Virulence Factor. *Infection and Immunity*, 82, 4253-4264.
- INOSHIMA, I., INOSHIMA, N., WILKE, G. A., POWERS, M. E., FRANK, K. M., WANG, Y. & WARDENBURG, J. B. 2011. A Staphylococcus aureus pore-forming toxin subverts the activity of ADAM10 to cause lethal infection in mice. *Nature Medicine*, 17, 1310-U196.
- JABADO, N., JANKOWSKI, A., DOUGAPARSAD, S., PICARD, V., GRINSTEIN, S. & GROS, P. 2000. Natural resistance to intracellular infections: Natural resistanceassociated macrophage protein 1 (NRAMP1) functions as a pH-dependent manganese transporter at the phagosomal membrane. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 192, 1237-1247.
- JAKUBOVICS, N. S. & JENKINSON, H. F. 2001. Out of the iron age: new insights into the critical role of manganese homeostasis in bacteria. *Microbiology-Sgm*, 147, 1709-1718.
- JARRY, T. M. & CHEUNG, A. L. 2006. Staphylococcus aureus escapes more efficiently from the phagosome of a cystic fibrosis bronchial epithelial cell line than from its normal counterpart. *Infection and Immunity*, 74, 2568-2577.
- JARRY, T. M., MEMMI, G. & CHEUNG, A. L. 2008. The expression of alpha-haemolysin is required for Staphylococcus aureus phagosomal escape after internalization in CFT-1 cells. *Cellular Microbiology*, 10, 1801-1814.
- JELSCH, C., MOUREY, L., MASSON, J. M. & SAMAMA, J. P. 1993. CRYSTAL-STRUCTURE OF ESCHERICHIA-COLI TEM1 BETA-LACTAMASE AT 1.8-ANGSTROM RESOLUTION. *Proteins-Structure Function and Genetics*, 16, 364-383.
- JEVONS, M. P., ROLINSON, G. N. & KNOX, R. 1961. Celbenin resistant Staphylococci. British Medical Journal, 1, 124-& amp;.
- JI, Q. J., ZHANG, L., SUN, F., DENG, X., LIANG, H. H., BAE, T. O. & HE, C. 2012. Staphylococcus aureus CymR Is a New Thiol-based Oxidation-sensing Regulator of Stress Resistance and Oxidative Response. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287, 21102-21109.
- JIN, T., BOKAREWA, M., FOSTER, T., MITCHELL, J., HIGGINS, J. & TARKOWSKI, A. 2004. Staphylococcus aureus resists human defensins by production of staphylokinase, a novel bacterial evasion mechanism. *Journal of Immunology*, 172, 1169-1176.
- JOHNSON, J. K., KHOIE, T., SHURLAND, S., KREISEL, K., STINE, O. C. & ROGHMANN, M.
 C. 2007. Skin and soft tissue infections caused by methicillin-resistant
 Staphylococcus aureus USA300 clone. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 13, 1195-1200.

- JONES, S. M., MORGAN, M., HUMPHREY, T. J. & LAPPIN-SCOTT, H. 2001. Effect of vancomycin and rifampicin on meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus biofilms. *Lancet*, 357, 40-41.
- KAHL, B. C., BECKER, K. & LOFFLER, B. 2016. Clinical Significance and Pathogenesis of Staphylococcal Small Colony Variants in Persistent Infections. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 29, 401-427.
- KAHL, B. C., BELLING, G., BECKER, P., CHATTERJEE, I., WARDECKI, K., HILGERT, K., CHEUNG, A. L., PETERS, G. & HERRMANN, M. 2005. Thymidine-dependent Staphylococcus aureus small-colony variants are associated with extensive alterations in regulator and virulence gene expression profiles. *Infection and Immunity*, 73, 4119-4126.
- KAHL, B. C., GOULIAN, M., VAN WAMEL, W., HERRMANN, M., SIMON, S. M., KAPLAN, G., PETERS, G. & CHEUNG, A. L. 2000. Staphylococcus aureus RN6390 replicates and induces apoptosis in a pulmonary epithelial cell line. *Infection and Immunity*, 68, 5385-5392.
- KAMPS, A., ACHEBACH, S., FEDTKE, I., UNDEN, G. & GOTZ, F. 2004. Staphylococcal NreB: an O-2-sensing histidine protein kinase with an O-2-labile iron-sulphur cluster of the FNR type. *Molecular Microbiology*, 52, 713-723.
- KANEKO, J., KIMURA, T., NARITA, S., TOMITA, T. & KAMIO, Y. 1998. Complete nucleotide sequence and molecular characterization of the temperate staphylococcal bacteriophage phi PVL carrying Panton-Valentine leukocidin genes. *Gene*, 215, 57-67.
- KANG, M. S., KO, Y. P., LIANG, X. W., ROSS, C. L., LIU, Q., MURRAY, B. E. & HOOK, M.
 2013. Collagen-binding Microbial Surface Components Recognizing Adhesive Matrix Molecule (MSCRAMM) of Gram-positive Bacteria Inhibit Complement Activation via the Classical Pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288, 20520-20531.
- KAPRAL, F. A. & SHAYEGANI, M. G. 1959. Intracellular survival of Staphylococci. *Journal* of Experimental Medicine, 110, 123-138.
- KASHFI, K. & OLSON, K. R. 2013. Biology and therapeutic potential of hydrogen sulfide and hydrogen sulfide-releasing chimeras. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 85, 689-703.
- KEANE, F. M., LOUGHMAN, A., VALTULINA, V., BRENNAN, M., SPEZIALE, P. & FOSTER, T. J. 2007. Fibrinogen and elastin bind to the same region within the A domain of fibronectin binding protein A, an MSCRAMM of Staphylococcus aureus. *Molecular Microbiology*, 63, 711-723.
- KEHL-FIE, T. E., CHITAYAT, S., HOOD, M. I., DAMO, S., RESTREPO, N., GARCIA, C., MUNRO, K. A., CHAZIN, W. J. & SKAAR, E. P. 2011. Nutrient Metal Sequestration by Calprotectin Inhibits Bacterial Superoxide Defense, Enhancing Neutrophil Killing of Staphylococcus aureus. *Cell Host & Camp; Microbe*, 10, 158-164.
- KEIRE, D. A., ROBERT, J. M. & RABENSTEIN, D. L. 1992. Microscopic protonation equilibria and solution conformations of Coenzyme-A and Coenzyme-A disulfides. *Journal of Organic Chemistry*, 57, 4427-4431.
- KELLY, B. & O'NEILL, L. A. J. 2015. Metabolic reprogramming in macrophages and dendritic cells in innate immunity. *Cell Research*, 25, 771-784.

- KELSEY, J. A., BAYLES, K. W., SHAFII, B. & MCGUIRE, M. A. 2006. Fatty acids and Monoacylglycerols inhibit growth of Staphylococcus aureus. *Lipids*, 41, 951-961.
- KEREN, I., WU, Y. X., INOCENCIO, J., MULCAHY, L. R. & LEWIS, K. 2013. Killing by Bactericidal Antibiotics Does Not Depend on Reactive Oxygen Species. *Science*, 339, 1213-1216.
- KILLIKELLY, A., BENSON, M. A., OHNECK, E. A., SAMPSON, J. M., JAKONCIC, J., SPURRIER, B., TORRES, V. J. & KONG, X. P. 2015. Structure-Based Functional Characterization of Repressor of Toxin (Rot), a Central Regulator of Staphylococcus aureus Virulence. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 197, 188-200.
- KIM, H. K., THAMMAVONGSA, V., SCHNEEWIND, O. & MISSIAKAS, D. 2012. Recurrent infections and immune evasion strategies of Staphylococcus aureus. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 15, 92-99.
- KING, G. M. & WEBER, C. F. 2007. Distribution, diversity and ecology of aerobic Cooxidizing bacteria. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, **5**, 107-118.
- KIPP, F., ZIEBUHR, W., BECKER, K., KRIMMER, V., HOSS, N., PETERS, G. & VON EIFF, C.
 2003. Detection of Staphylococcus aureus by 16S rRNA directed in situ
 hybridisation in a patient with a brain abscess caused by small colony variants.
 Journal of Neurology Neurosurgery and Psychiatry, 74, 1000-1002.
- KLEBANOFF, S. J. 2005. Myeloperoxidase: friend and foe. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 77, 598-625.
- KLOOS, W. E. & BANNERMAN, T. L. 1994. Update on clinical-significance of coagualsenegative Staphylococci. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 7, 117-140.
- KOHANSKI, M. A., DWYER, D. J., HAYETE, B., LAWRENCE, C. A. & COLLINS, J. J. 2007. A common mechanism of cellular death induced by bactericidal antibiotics. *Cell*, 130, 797-810.
- KOHLER, C., VON EIFF, C., LIEBEKE, M., MCNAMARA, P. J., LALK, M., PROCTOR, R. A., HECKER, M. & ENGELMANN, S. 2008. A defect in menadione biosynthesis induces global changes in gene expression in Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 190, 6351-6364.
- KOHLER, C., VON EIFF, C., PETERS, G., PROCTOR, R. A., HECKER, M. & ENGELMANN, S. 2003. Physiological characterization of a heme-deficient mutant of Staphylococcus aureus by a proteomic approach. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 185, 6928-6937.
- KREISWIRTH, B., KORNBLUM, J., ARBEIT, R. D., EISNER, W., MASLOW, J. N., MCGEER, A., LOW, D. E. & NOVICK, R. P. 1993. EVIDENCE FOR A CLONAL ORIGIN OF METHICILLIN RESISTANCE IN STAPHYLOCOCCUS-AUREUS. *Science*, 259, 227-230.
- KRIEGESKORTE, A., KONIG, S., SANDER, G., PIRKL, A., MAHABIR, E., PROCTOR, R. A., VON EIFF, C., PETERS, G. & BECKER, K. 2011. Small colony variants of Staphylococcus aureus reveal distinct protein profiles. *Proteomics*, 11, 2476-2490.
- KRISMER, B., LIEBEKE, M., JANEK, D., NEGA, M., RAUTENBERG, M., HORNIG, G., UNGER, C., WEIDENMAIER, C., LALK, M. & PESCHEL, A. 2014. Nutrient Limitation Governs Staphylococcus aureus Metabolism and Niche Adaptation in the Human Nose. *Plos Pathogens*, 10, 17.

- KRUT, O., UTERMOHLEN, O., SCHLOSSHERR, X. & KRONKE, M. 2003. Strain-specific association of cytotoxic activity and virulence of clinical Staphylococcus aureus isolates. *Infection and Immunity*, 71, 2716-2723.
- KUBICA, M., GUZIK, K., KOZIEL, J., ZAREBSKI, M., RICHTER, W., GAJKOWSKA, B., GOLDA, A., MACIAG-GUDOWSKA, A., BRIX, K., SHAW, L., FOSTER, T. & POTEMPA, J.
 2008. A Potential New Pathway for Staphylococcus aureus Dissemination: The Silent Survival of S. aureus Phagocytosed by Human Monocyte-Derived Macrophages. *Plos One*, 3, 16.
- KURODA, M., OHTA, T., UCHIYAMA, I., BABA, T., YUZAWA, H., KOBAYASHI, I., CUI, L. Z., OGUCHI, A., AOKI, K., NAGAI, Y., LIAN, J. Q., ITO, T., KANAMORI, M., MATSUMARU, H., MARUYAMA, A., MURAKAMI, H., HOSOYAMA, A., MIZUTANI-UI, Y., TAKAHASHI, N. K., SAWANO, T., INOUE, R., KAITO, C., SEKIMIZU, K., HIRAKAWA, H., KUHARA, S., GOTO, S., YABUZAKI, J., KANEHISA, M., YAMASHITA, A., OSHIMA, K., FURUYA, K., YOSHINO, C., SHIBA, T., HATTORI, M., OGASAWARA, N., HAYASHI, H. & HIRAMATSU, K. 2001. Whole genome sequencing of meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Lancet*, 357, 1225-1240.
- LAARMAN, A., MILDER, F., VAN STRIJP, J. & ROOIJAKKERS, S. 2010. Complement inhibition by gram-positive pathogens: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic implications. *Journal of Molecular Medicine-Jmm*, 88, 115-120.
- LAARMAN, A. J., RUYKEN, M., MALONE, C. L., VAN STRIJP, J. A. G., HORSWILL, A. R. & ROOIJAKKERS, S. H. M. 2011. Staphylococcus aureus Metalloprotease Aureolysin Cleaves Complement C3 To Mediate Immune Evasion. *Journal of Immunology*, 186, 6445-6453.
- LAUPLAND, K. B., ROSS, T. & GREGSON, D. B. 2008. Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream infections: Risk factors, outcomes, and the influence of methicillin resistance in Calgary, Canada, 2000-2006. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 198, 336-343.
- LEE, L. Y. L., LIANG, X. W., HOOK, M. & BROWN, E. L. 2004. Identification and characterization of the C3 binding domain of the Staphylococcus aureus extracellular fibrinogen-binding protein (Efb). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279, 50710-50716.
- LI, L., WHITEMAN, M., GUAN, Y. Y., NEO, K. L., CHENG, Y., LEE, S. W., ZHAO, Y., BASKAR, R., TAN, C. H. & MOORE, P. K. 2008. Characterization of a novel, water-soluble hydrogen sulfide - Releasing molecule (GYY4137): New insights into the biology of hydrogen sulfide. *Circulation*, 117, 2351-2360.
- LI, M., DIEP, B. A., VILLARUZ, A. E., BRAUGHTON, K. R., JIANG, X. F., DELEO, F. R., CHAMBERS, H. F., LU, Y. & OTTO, M. 2009. Evolution of virulence in epidemic community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 106, 5883-5888.
- LI, Z. G., PERES, A. G., DAMIAN, A. C. & MADRENAS, J. 2015. Immunomodulation and Disease Tolerance to Staphylococcus aureus. *Pathogens*, **4**, 793-815.
- LIM, D. & STRYNADKA, N. C. J. 2002. Structural basis for the beta-lactam resistance of PBP2a from methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Nature Structural Biology*, 9, 870-876.

- LIMBAGO, B., FOSHEIM, G. E., SCHOONOVER, V., CRANE, C. E., NADLE, J., PETIT, S., HELTZEL, D., RAY, S. M., HARRISON, L. H., LYNFIELD, R., DUMYATI, G., TOWNES, J. M., SCHAFFNER, W., MU, Y., FRIDKIN, S. K. & ACTIVE BACTERIAL CORE, S.
 2009. Characterization of Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus Isolates Collected in 2005 and 2006 from Patients with Invasive Disease: a Population-Based Analysis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 47, 1344-1351.
- LINA, G., BOHACH, G. A., NAIR, S. P., HIRAMATSU, K., JOUVIN-MARCHE, E., MARIUZZA, R. & INT NOMENCLATURE COMM, S. 2004. Standard nomenclature for the superantigens expressed by Staphylococcus. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 189, 2334-2336.
- LINDER, M. C. & HAZEGHAZAM, M. 1996. Copper biochemistry and molecular biology. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 63, 797-811.
- LINDSAY, J. A. & FOSTER, S. J. 2001. zur: a Zn2+-responsive regulatory element of Staphylococcus aureus. *Microbiology-Sgm*, 147, 1259-1266.
- LITHGOW, J. K., HAYHURST, E. J., COHEN, G., AHARONOWITZ, Y. & FOSTER, S. J. 2004. Role of a cysteine synthase in Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 186, 1579-1590.
- LIU, C. & CHAMBERS, H. F. 2003. Staphylococcus aureus with heterogeneous resistance to vancomycin: Epidemiology, clinical significance, and critical assessment of diagnostic methods. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 47, 3040-3045.
- LIU, Y. H., YAN, C. D. & BIAN, J. S. 2011. Hydrogen Sulfide: A Novel Signaling Molecule in the Vascular System. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology*, 58, 560-569.
- LIU, Y. Y. & IMLAY, J. A. 2013. Cell Death from Antibiotics Without the Involvement of Reactive Oxygen Species. *Science*, 339, 1210-1213.
- LOFFLER, B., HUSSAIN, M., GRUNDMEIER, M., BRUCK, M., HOLZINGER, D., VARGA, G., ROTH, J., KAHL, B. C., PROCTOR, R. A. & PETERS, G. 2010. Staphylococcus aureus Panton-Valentine Leukocidin Is a Very Potent Cytotoxic Factor for Human Neutrophils. *Plos Pathogens*, 6, 12.
- LONE, A. G., ATCI, E., RENSLOW, R., BEYENAL, H., NOH, S., FRANSSON, B., ABU-LAIL, N., PARK, J. J., GANG, D. R. & CALL, D. R. 2015. Staphylococcus aureus Induces Hypoxia and Cellular Damage in Porcine Dermal Explants. *Infection and Immunity*, 83, 2531-2541.
- LOWY, F. D. 1998. Medical progress Staphylococcus aureus infections. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 339, 520-532.
- LUEBKE, J. L., SHEN, J. C., BRUCE, K. E., KEHL-FIE, T. E., PENG, H., SKAAR, E. P. & GIEDROC, D. P. 2014. The CsoR-like sulfurtransferase repressor (CstR) is a persulfide sensor in Staphylococcus aureus. *Molecular Microbiology*, 94, 1343-1360.
- LUNDBERG, J. O., WEITZBERG, E., COLE, J. A. & BENJAMIN, N. 2004. Opinion Nitrate, bacteria and human health. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, **2**, 593-602.
- LUONG, T. T., DUNMAN, P. M., MURPHY, E., PROJAN, S. J. & LEE, C. Y. 2006. Transcription profiling of the mgrA regulon in Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 188, 1899-1910.
- MAH, R. A., FUNG, D. Y. C. & MORSE, S. A. 1967. Nutritional requirements of Staphylococcus aureus S-6. *Applied Microbiology*, 15, 866-&.
- MARTY, F. M., YEH, W. W., WENNERSTEN, C. B., VENKATARAMAN, L., ALBANO, E., ALYEA, E. P., GOLD, H. S., BADEN, L. R. & PILLAI, S. K. 2006. Emergence of a

clinical daptomycin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus isolate during treatment of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia and osteomyelitis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 44, 595-597.

- MASSIMI, I., PARK, E., RICE, K., MULLER-ESTERL, W., SAUDER, D. & MCGAVIN, M. J. 2002. Identification of a novel maturation mechanism and restricted substrate specificity for the SspB cysteine protease of Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 41770-41777.
- MAZMANIAN, S. K., SKAAR, E. P., GASPAR, A. H., HUMAYUN, M., GORNICKI, P., JELENSKA, J., JOACHMIAK, A., MISSIAKAS, D. M. & SCHNEEWIND, O. 2003. Passage of heme-iron across the envelope of Staphylococcus aureus. *Science*, 299, 906-909.
- MCCORMICK, J. K., YARWOOD, J. M. & SCHLIEVERT, P. M. 2001. Toxic shock syndrome and bacterial superantigens: An update. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, 55, 77-104.
- MCDEVITT, D., FRANCOIS, P., VAUDAUX, P. & FOSTER, T. J. 1994. Molecular characterization of the clumping factor (fibrinogen receptor) of Staphylococcusaureus. *Molecular Microbiology*, 11, 237-248.
- MCDOUGAL, L. K., STEWARD, C. D., KILLGORE, G. E., CHAITRAM, J. M., MCALLISTER, S. K. & TENOVER, F. C. 2003. Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis typing of oxacillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus isolates from the United States: Establishing a national database. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 41, 5113-5120.
- MCGAVIN, M. H., KRAJEWSKAPIETRASIK, D., RYDEN, C. & HOOK, M. 1993. Identification of a Staphylococcus-aureus extracellular matrix-binding protein with broad specificity. *Infection and Immunity*, 61, 2479-2485.
- MIKAMI, Y., SHIBUYA, N., KIMURA, Y., NAGAHARA, N., OGASAWARA, Y. & KIMURA, H. 2011. Thioredoxin and dihydrolipoic acid are required for 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase to produce hydrogen sulfide. *Biochemical Journal*, 439, 479-485.
- MILES, A. A. 1941. Some problems of wound infection. *Lancet*, 2, 507-510.
- MILLER, L. G., EELLS, S. J., DAVID, M. Z., ORTIZ, N., TAYLOR, A. R., KUMAR, N., CRUZ, D., BOYLE-VAVRA, S. & DAUM, R. S. 2015. Staphylococcus aureus Skin Infection Recurrences Among Household Members: An Examination of Host, Behavioral, and Pathogen-Level Predictors. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 60, 753-763.
- MILLER, L. G., QUAN, C., SHAY, A., MOSTAFAIE, K., BHARADWA, K., TAN, N., MATAYOSHI, K., CRONIN, J., TAN, J., TAGUDAR, G. & BAYER, A. S. 2007. A prospective investigation of outcomes after hospital discharge for endemic, community-acquired methicillin-resistant and -susceptible Staphylococcus aureus skin infection. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 44, 483-492.
- MIYAZAKI, E., CHEN, J. M., KO, C. & BISHAI, W. R. 1999. The Staphylococcus aureus rsbW (orf159) gene encodes an anti-sigma factor of SigB. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 181, 2846-2851.
- MLYNEK, K. D., CALLAHAN, M. T., SHIMKEVITCH, A. V., FARMER, J. T., ENDRES, J. L., MARCHAND, M., BAYLES, K. W., HORSWILL, A. R. & KAPLAN, J. B. 2016. Effects of Low-Dose Amoxicillin on Staphylococcus aureus USA300 Biofilms. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 60, 2639-2651.
- MONTGOMERY, C. P., DANIELS, M., ZHAO, F., ALEGRE, M. L., CHONG, A. S. & DAUM, R. S. 2014. Protective Immunity against Recurrent Staphylococcus aureus Skin

Infection Requires Antibody and Interleukin-17A. *Infection and Immunity*, 82, 2125-2134.

- MOOTZ, J. M., BENSON, M. A., HEIM, C. E., CROSBY, H. A., KAVANAUGH, J. S., DUNMAN, P. M., KIELIAN, T., TORRES, V. J. & HORSWILL, A. R. 2015. Rot is a key regulator of Staphylococcus aureus biofilm formation. *Molecular Microbiology*, 96, 388-404.
- MORALES, G., PICAZO, J. J., BAOS, E., CANDEL, F. J., ARRIBI, A., PELAEZ, B., ANDRADE, R., DE LA TORRE, M. A., FERERES, J. & SANCHEZ-GARCIA, M. 2010. Resistance to Linezolid Is Mediated by the cfr Gene in the First Report of an Outbreak of Linezolid-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 50, 821-825.
- MORAN, G. J., KRISHNADASAN, A., GORWITZ, R. J., FOSHEIM, G. E., MCDOUGAL, L. K., CAREY, R. B., TALAN, D. A. & GRP, E. M. I. N. S. 2006. Methicillin-resistant Saureus infections among patients in the emergency department. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 355, 666-674.
- MORRISON, J. M., ANDERSON, K. L., BEENKEN, K. E., SMELTZER, M. S. & DUNMAN, P. M. 2012. The staphylococcal accessory regulator, SarA, is an RNA-binding protein that modulates the mRNA turnover properties of late-exponential and stationary phase Staphylococcus aureus cells. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 2, 11.
- MOTTERLINI, R. & OTTERBEIN, L. E. 2010. The therapeutic potential of carbon monoxide. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 9, 728-U24.
- MULCAHY, M. E., GEOGHEGAN, J. A., MONK, I. R., O'KEEFFE, K. M., WALSH, E. J., FOSTER, T. J. & MCLOUGHLIN, R. M. 2012. Nasal Colonisation by Staphylococcus aureus Depends upon Clumping Factor B Binding to the Squamous Epithelial Cell Envelope Protein Loricrin. *Plos Pathogens*, 8, 14.
- MURAD, F. 1999. Discovery of some of the biological effects of nitric oxide and its role in cell signaling. *Bioscience Reports*, 19, 133-154.
- MUSHER, D. M. 1992. Infections caused by Streptococcus-pneumoniae clinical spectrum, pathogenesis, immunity, and treatment. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 14, 801-809.
- MUYZER, G. & STAMS, A. J. M. 2008. The ecology and biotechnology of sulphatereducing bacteria. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 6, 441-454.
- NAKAMURA, H., NAKAMURA, K. & YODOI, J. 1997. Redox regulation of cellular activation. *Annual Review of Immunology*, **15**, 351-369.
- NEWTON, G. L., BUCHMEIER, N. & FAHEY, R. C. 2008. Biosynthesis and functions of mycothiol, the unique protective thiol of Actinobacteria. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 72, 471-474.
- NEWTON, G. L., FAHEY, R. C. & RAWAT, M. 2012. Detoxification of toxins by bacillithiol in Staphylococcus aureus. *Microbiology-Sgm*, 158, 1117-1126.
- NEWTON, G. L., RAWAT, M., LA CLAIR, J. J., JOTHIVASAN, V. K., BUDIARTO, T., HAMILTON, C. J., CLAIBORNE, A., HELMANN, J. D. & FAHEY, R. C. 2009. Bacillithiol is an antioxidant thiol produced in Bacilli. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 5, 625-627.
- NGUYEN, D. M., MASCOLA, L. & BANCROFT, E. 2005. Recurring methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections in a football team. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 11, 526-532.

- NICKERSON, N., IP, J., PASSOS, D. T. & MCGAVIN, M. J. 2010. Comparison of Staphopain A (ScpA) and B (SspB) precursor activation mechanisms reveals unique secretion kinetics of proSspB (Staphopain B), and a different interaction with its cognate Staphostatin, SspC. *Molecular Microbiology*, 75, 161-177.
- NICKERSON, N. N., PRASAD, L., JACOB, L., DELBAERE, L. T. & MCGAVIN, M. J. 2007. Activation of the SspA serine protease zymogen of Staphylococcus aureus proceeds through unique variations of a trypsinogen-like mechanism and is dependent on both autocatalytic and metalloprotease-specific processing. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282, 34129-34138.
- NOUAILLE, S., RAULT, L., JEANSON, S., LOUBIERE, P., LE LOIR, Y. & EVEN, S. 2014. Contribution of Lactococcus lactis Reducing Properties to the Downregulation of a Major Virulence Regulator in Staphylococcus aureus, the agr System. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 80, 7028-7035.
- NOVICK, A. & SZILARD, L. 1950. Description of the Chemostat. Science, 112, 715-716.
- NOVICK, R. P. 1991. Genetic Systems in Staphylococci. *Methods in Enzymology*, 204, 587-636.
- NOVICK, R. P., ROSS, H. F., PROJAN, S. J., KORNBLUM, J., KREISWIRTH, B. & MOGHAZEH, S. 1993. Synthesis of Staphylococcal Virulence Factors is Controlled by a Regulatory RNA Molecule. *Embo Journal*, 12, 3967-3975.
- NOVICK, R. P., SCHLIEVERT, P. & RUZIN, A. 2001. Pathogenicity and resistance islands of staphylococci. *Microbes and Infection*, **3**, 585-594.
- NUCIFORA, G., CHU, L., MISRA, T. K. & SILVER, S. 1989. Cadmium Resistance from Staphylococcus-aureus Plasmid PI258 cadA Gene Results From a Cadmium-Efflux ATPase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 86, 3544-3548.
- NYGAARD, T. K., PALLISTER, K. B., DUMONT, A. L., DEWALD, M., WATKINS, R. L., PALLISTER, E. Q., MALONE, C., GRIFFITH, S., HORSWILL, A. R., TORRES, V. J. & VOYICH, J. M. 2012. Alpha-Toxin Induces Programmed Cell Death of Human T cells, B cells, and Monocytes during USA300 Infection. *Plos One*, **7**, 11.
- O'NEIL, J. 2014. Antimicrobial Resistance: Tackling a Crisis for the Health and Wealth of Nations. London: HM Government.
- O'RIORDAN, K. & LEE, J. C. 2004. Staphylococcus aureus capsular polysaccharides. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 17, 218-+.
- O'SEAGHDHA, M., VAN SCHOOTEN, C. J., KERRIGAN, S. W., EMSLEY, J., SILVERMAN, G. J., COX, D., LENTING, P. J. & FOSTER, T. J. 2006. Staphylococcus aureus protein A binding to von Willebrand factor A1 domain is mediated by conserved IgG binding regions. *Febs Journal*, 273, 4831-4841.
- OGSTON, A. 1881. Report upon Micro-Organisms in Surgical Diseases. *British Medical Journal*, 1, 369-375.
- OGSTON, A. 1882. Micrococcus Poisoning. *Journal of Anatomy and Physiology*, 17, 24–58.
- OLIVIER, A. C., LEMAIRE, S., VAN BAMBEKE, F., TULKENS, P. M. & OLDFIELD, E. 2009. Role of rsbU and Staphyloxanthin in Phagocytosis and Intracellular Growth of Staphylococcus aureus in Human Macrophages and Endothelial Cells. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 200, 1367-1370.

- OTTO, M. 2010. Basis of Virulence in Community-Associated Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *In:* GOTTESMAN, S. & HARWOOD, C. S. (eds.) *Annual Review of Microbiology, Vol 64, 2010.* Palo Alto: Annual Reviews.
- OTTO, M. 2012. Molecular basis of Staphylococcus epidermidis infections. *Seminars in Immunopathology*, 34, 201-214.
- OTTO, M. 2014. Staphylococcus aureus toxins. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 17, 32-37.
- PAGELS, M., FUCHS, S., PANE-FARRE, J., KOHLER, C., MENSCHNER, L., HECKER, M., MCNAMARRA, P. J., BAUER, M. C., VON WACHENFELDT, C., LIEBEKE, M., LALK, M., SANDER, G., VON EIFF, C., PROCTOR, R. A. & ENGELMANN, S. 2010. Redox sensing by a Rex-family repressor is involved in the regulation of anaerobic gene expression in Staphylococcus aureus. *Molecular Microbiology*, 76, 1142-1161.
- PAHARIK, A. E., SALGADO-PABON, W., MEYERHOLZ, D. K., WHITE, M. J., SCHLIEVERT, P.
 M. & HORSWILL, A. R. 2016. The Spl Serine Proteases Modulate Staphylococcus aureus Protein Production and Virulence in a Rabbit Model of Pneumonia. *Msphere*, 1, 16.
- PAINTER, K. L., STRANGE, E., PARKHILL, J., BAMFORD, K. B., ARMSTRONG-JAMES, D. & EDWARDS, A. M. 2015. Staphylococcus aureus Adapts to Oxidative Stress by Producing H2O2-Resistant Small-Colony Variants via the SOS Response. Infection and Immunity, 83, 1830-1844.
- PALMA, M., HAGGAR, A. & FLOCK, J. I. 1999. Adherence of Staphylococcus aureus is enhanced by an endogenous secreted protein with broad binding activity. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 181, 2840-2845.
- PARFENTJEV, I. A. & CATELLI, A. R. 1964. Tolerance of Staphylococcus aureus to sodium chloride. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 88, 1-& amp;.
- PARK, M. K., MYERS, R. A. M. & MARZELLA, L. 1992. Oxygen-tensions and infections modulation of Microbial-growth, activity of antimicrobial agents, and immunological responses. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 14, 720-740.
- PARK, R. Y., SUN, H. Y., CHOI, M. H., BAI, Y. H. & SHIN, S. H. 2005. Staphylococcus aureus siderophore-mediated iron-acquisition system plays a dominant and essential role in the utilization of transferrin-bound iron. *Journal of Microbiology*, 43, 183-190.
- PARK, S. & IMLAY, J. A. 2003. High levels of intracellular cysteine promote oxidative DNA damage by driving the Fenton reaction. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 185, 1942-1950.
- PATEL, M. P. & BLANCHARD, J. S. 1999. Expression, purification, and characterization of Mycobacterium tuberculosis mycothione reductase. *Biochemistry*, 38, 11827-11833.
- PAULANDER, W., WANG, Y., FOLKESSON, A., CHARBON, G., LOBNER-OLESEN, A. & INGMER, H. 2014. Bactericidal Antibiotics Increase Hydroxyphenyl Fluorescein Signal by Altering Cell Morphology. *Plos One*, 9, 4.
- PEARSON, A., CHRONIAS, A. & MURRAY, M. 2009. Voluntary and mandatory surveillance for methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) and methicillin-susceptible S-aureus (MSSA) bacteraemia in England. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 64, 11-17.

- PERERA, V. R., NEWTON, G. L. & POGLIANO, K. 2015. Bacillithiol: a key protective thiol in Staphylococcus aureus. *Expert Review of Anti-Infective Therapy*, 13, 1089-1107.
- PESCHEL, A., JACK, R. W., OTTO, M., COLLINS, L. V., STAUBITZ, P., NICHOLSON, G., KALBACHER, H., NIEUWENHUIZEN, W. F., JUNG, G., TARKOWSKI, A., VAN KESSEL, K. P. M. & VAN STRIJP, J. A. G. 2001. Staphylococcus aureus resistance to human defensins and evasion of neutrophil killing via the novel virulence factor MprF is based on modification of membrane lipids with L-lysine. *Journal* of Experimental Medicine, 193, 1067-1076.
- PESCHEL, A. & OTTO, M. 2013. Phenol-soluble modulins and staphylococcal infection. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 11, 667-673.
- PHE. 2016. *Public Health England. MSSA bacteraemia: annual data* [Online]. [Accessed 19.05.2017 2017].
- POGLIANO, J., POGLIANO, N. & SILVERMAN, J. A. 2012. Daptomycin-Mediated Reorganization of Membrane Architecture Causes Mislocalization of Essential Cell Division Proteins. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 194, 4494-4504.
- POMPOSELLI, J. J., BAXTER, J. K., BABINEAU, T. J., POMFRET, E. A., DRISCOLL, D. F., FORSE, R. A. & BISTRIAN, B. R. 1998. Early postoperative glucose control predicts nosocomial infection rate in diabetic patients. *Journal of Parenteral* and Enteral Nutrition, 22, 77-81.
- PORTMAN, J. L., DUBENSKY, S. B., PETERSON, B. N., WHITELEY, A. T. & PORTNOY, D. A. 2017. Activation of the Listeria monocytogenes Virulence Program by a Reducing Environment. *Mbio*, 8, 13.
- POSADA, A. C., KOLAR, S. L., DUSI, R. G., FRANCOIS, P., ROBERTS, A. A., HAMILTON, C. J., LIU, G. Y. & CHEUNG, A. 2014. Importance of Bacillithiol in the Oxidative Stress Response of Staphylococcus aureus. *Infection and Immunity*, 82, 316-332.
- POSTMA, B., POPPELIER, M. J., VAN GALEN, J. C., PROSSNITZ, E. R., VAN STRIJP, J. A. G., DE HAAS, C. J. C. & VAN KESSEL, K. P. M. 2004. Chemotaxis inhibitory protein of Staphylococcus aureus binds specifically to the c5a and formylated peptide receptor. *Journal of Immunology*, 172, 6994-7001.
- POTHERA, D. C., GIEROK, P., HARMS, M., MOSTERTZ, J., HOCHGAFE, F., ANTELMANN, H., HAMILTON, C. J., BOROVOK, I., LALK, M., AHARONOWITZ, Y. & HECKER, M. 2013. Distribution and infection-related functions of bacillithiol in Staphylococcus aureus. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 303, 114-123.
- POTTER, A. J., TRAPPETTI, C. & PATON, J. C. 2012. Streptococcus pneumoniae Uses Glutathione To Defend against Oxidative Stress and Metal Ion Toxicity. *Journal* of Bacteriology, 194, 6248-6254.
- POZZI, C., WILK, K., LEE, J. C., GENING, M., NIFANTIEV, N. & PIER, G. B. 2012. Opsonic and Protective Properties of Antibodies Raised to Conjugate Vaccines Targeting Six Staphylococcus aureus Antigens. *Plos One*, **7**, **1**2.
- PRAT, C., BESTEBROER, J., DE HAAS, C. J. C., VAN STRIJP, J. A. G. & VAN KESSEL, K. P. M. 2006. A new staphylococcal anti-inflammatory protein that antagonizes the formyl peptide receptor-like 1. *Journal of Immunology*, 177, 8017-8026.
- PRIEST, N. K., RUDKIN, J. K., FEIL, E. J., VAN DEN ELSEN, J. M. H., CHEUNG, A., PEACOCK, S. J., LAABEI, M., LUCKS, D. A., RECKER, M. & MASSEY, R. C. 2012. From

genotype to phenotype: can systems biology be used to predict Staphylococcus aureus virulence? *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 10, 791-797.

- PROCTOR, R. A., VANLANGEVELDE, P., KRISTJANSSON, M., MASLOW, J. N. & ARBEIT, R.
 D. 1995. Persistant and relapsing infections associated with small-colony variants of Staphylococcus-aureus. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 20, 95-102.
- PROCTOR, R. A., VON EIFF, C., KAHL, B. C., BECKER, K., MCNAMARA, P., HERRMANN, M. & PETERS, G. 2006. Small colony variants: a pathogenic form of bacteria that facilitates persistent and recurrent infections. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 4, 295-305.
- PSYCHOGIOS, N., HAU, D. D., PENG, J., GUO, A. C., MANDAL, R., BOUATRA, S.,
 SINELNIKOV, I., KRISHNAMURTHY, R., EISNER, R., GAUTAM, B., YOUNG, N., XIA,
 J. G., KNOX, C., DONG, E., HUANG, P., HOLLANDER, Z., PEDERSEN, T. L., SMITH,
 S. R., BAMFORTH, F., GREINER, R., MCMANUS, B., NEWMAN, J. W.,
 GOODFRIEND, T. & WISHART, D. S. 2011. The Human Serum Metabolome. *Plos One*, 6, 23.
- QAZI, S. N. A., COUNIL, E., MORRISSEY, J., REES, C. E. D., COCKAYNE, A., WINZER, K., CHAN, W. C., WILLIAMS, P. & HILL, P. J. 2001. agr Expression precedes escape of internalized Staphylococcus aureus from the host endosome. *Infection and Immunity*, 69, 7074-7082.
- QUE, Y. A., HAEFLIGER, J. A., PIROTH, L., FRANCOIS, P., WIDMER, E., ENTENZA, J. M., SINHA, B., HERRMANN, M., FRANCIOLI, P., VAUDAUX, P. & MOREILLON, P. 2005. Fibrinogen and fibronectin binding cooperate for valve infection and invasion in Staphylococcus aureus experimental endocarditis. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 201, 1627-1635.
- RACK, J. G. M., MORRA, R., BARKAUSKAITE, E., KRAEHENBUEHL, R., ARIZA, A., QU, Y.,
 ORTMAYER, M., LEIDECKER, O., CAMERON, D. R., MATIC, I., PELEG, A. Y., LEYS,
 D., TRAVEN, A. & AHEL, I. 2015. Identification of a Class of Protein ADPRibosylating Sirtuins in Microbial Pathogens. *Molecular Cell*, 59, 309-320.
- RAJKARNIKAR, A., STRANKMAN, A., DURAN, S., VARGAS, D., ROBERTS, A. A., BARRETTO, K., UPTON, H., HAMILTON, C. J. & RAWAT, M. 2013. Analysis of mutants disrupted in bacillithiol metabolism in Staphylococcus aureus. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 436, 128-133.
- REED, S. B., WESSON, C. A., LIOU, L. E., TRUMBLE, W. R., SCHLIEVERT, P. M., BOHACH, G. A. & BAYLES, K. W. 2001. Molecular characterization of a novel Staphylococcus aureus serine protease operon. *Infection and Immunity*, 69, 1521-1527.
- RENSING, C. & GRASS, G. 2003. Escherichia coli mechanisms of copper homeostasis in a changing environment. *Fems Microbiology Reviews*, 27, 197-213.
- REYNOLDS, P. E. 1989. Structure, biochemistry and mechanism of action of glycopeptide antibiotics. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & amp; Infectious Diseases*, 8, 943-950.
- RICE, K., PERALTA, R., BAST, D., DE AZAVEDO, J. & MCGAVIN, M. J. 2001. Description of staphylococcus serine protease (ssp) operon in Staphylococcus aureus and nonpolar inactivation of sspA-encoded serine protease. *Infection and Immunity*, 69, 159-169.
- RICH, J. & LEE, J. C. 2005. The pathogenesis of Staphylococcus aureus infection in the diabetic NOD mouse. *Diabetes*, 54, 2904-2910.

- RICHARDSON, A. R., LIBBY, S. J. & FANG, F. C. 2008. A nitric oxide-inducible lactate dehydrogenase enables Staphylococcus aureus to resist innate immunity. *Science*, 319, 1672-1676.
- ROGERS, D. E. & TOMPSETT, R. 1952. The Survival of Staphylococci within Human Leukocytes. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 95, 209-&.
- ROLFE, M. D., OCONE, A., STAPLETON, M. R., HALL, S., TROTTER, E. W., POOLE, R. K., SANGUINETTI, G. & GREEN, J. 2012. Systems analysis of transcription factor activities in environments with stable and dynamic oxygen concentrations. *Open Biology*, 2, 10.
- ROLFE, M. D., TER BEEK, A., GRAHAM, A. I., TROTTER, E. W., ASIF, H. M. S., SANGUINETTI, G., DE MATTOS, J. T., POOLE, R. K. & GREEN, J. 2011. Transcript Profiling and Inference of Escherichia coli K-12 ArcA Activity across the Range of Physiologically Relevant Oxygen Concentrations. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286, 10147-10154.
- ROOIJAKKERS, S. H. M., MILDER, F. J., BARDOEL, B. W., RUYKEN, M., VAN STRIJP, J. A.
 G. & GROS, P. 2007. Staphylococcal complement inhibitor: Structure and active sites. *Journal of Immunology*, 179, 2989-2998.
- ROOIJAKKERS, S. H. M., RUYKEN, M., ROOS, A., DAHA, M. R., PRESANIS, J. S., SIM, R. B., VAN WAMEL, W. J. B., VAN KESSEL, K. P. M. & VAN STRIJP, J. A. G. 2005.
 Immune evasion by a staphylococcal complement inhibitor that acts on C3 convertases. *Nature Immunology*, 6, 920-927.
- ROOIJAKKERS, S. H. M., RUYKEN, M., VAN ROON, J., VAN KESSEL, K. P. M., VAN STRIJP, J. A. G. & VAN WAMEL, W. J. B. 2006. Early expression of SCIN and CHIPS drives instant immune evasion by Staphylococcus aureus. *Cellular Microbiology*, 8, 1282-1293.
- ROOIJAKKERS, S. H. M., WU, J., RUYKEN, M., VAN DOMSELAAR, R., PLANKEN, K. L., TZEKOU, A., RICKLIN, D., LAMBRIS, J. D., JANSSEN, B. J. C., VAN STRIJP, J. A. G. & GROS, P. 2009. Structural and functional implications of the alternative complement pathway C3 convertase stabilized by a staphylococcal inhibitor. *Nature Immunology*, 10, 721-U72.
- ROTHFORK, J. M., TIMMINS, G. S., HARRIS, M. N., CHEN, X., LUSIS, A. J., OTTO, M., CHEUNG, A. L. & GRESHAM, H. D. 2004. Inactivation of a bacterial virulence pheromone by phagocyte-derived oxidants: New role for the NADPH oxidase in host defense. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101, 13867-13872.
- RUBIN, R. J., HARRINGTON, C. A., POON, A., DIETRICH, K., GREENE, J. A. & MOIDUDDIN, A. 1999. The economic impact of Staphylococcus aureus infection in New York City hospitals. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, **5**, 9-17.
- SAID-SALIM, B., DUNMAN, P. M., MCALEESE, F. M., MACAPAGAL, D., MURPHY, E., MCNAMARA, P. J., ARVIDSON, S., FOSTER, T. J., PROJAN, S. J. & KREISWIRTH, B.
 N. 2003. Global regulation of Staphylococcus aureus genes by rot. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 185, 610-619.
- SCHAIBLE, M. E. & KAUFMANN, S. H. E. 2004. Iron and microbial infection. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2, 946-953.
- SCHAUBER, J. & GALLO, R. L. 2008. Antimicrobial peptides and the skin immune defense system. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 122, 261-266.

- SCHLAG, S., FUCHS, S., NERZ, C., GAUPP, R., ENGELMANN, S., LIEBEKE, M., LALK, M., HECKER, M. & GOTZ, F. 2008. Characterization of the Oxygen-Responsive NreABC Regulon of Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 190, 7847-7858.
- SCHMITT, M., SCHULERSCHMID, U. & SCHMIDTLORENZ, W. 1990. Temperature limits of growth, TNase and enterotoxn production of Staphylococcus-aureus strains isolated from foods. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 11, 1-20.
- SCHNAITH, A., KASHKAR, H., LEGGIO, S. A., ADDICKS, K., KRONKE, M. & KRUT, O. 2007. Staphylococcus aureus subvert autophagy for induction of caspaseindependent host cell death. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282, 2695-2706.
- SCHRODER, A., KLAND, R., PESCHEL, A., VON EIFF, C. & AEPFELBACHER, M. 2006. Live cell imaging of phagosome maturation in Staphylococcus aureus infected human endothelial cells: small colony variants are able to survive in lysosomes. *Medical Microbiology and Immunology*, 195, 185-194.
- SCHUTTE, B. C. & MCCRAY, P. B. 2002. beta-defensins in lung host defense. *Annual Review of Physiology*, 64, 709-748.
- SCORTTI, M., MONZO, H. J., LACHARME-LORA, L., LEWIS, D. A. & VAZQUEZ-BOLAND, J. A. 2007. The PrfA virulence regulon. *Microbes and Infection*, 9, 1196-1207.
- SEIDL, K., MULLER, S., FRANCOIS, P., KRIEBITZSCH, C., SCHRENZEL, J., ENGELMANN, S., BISCHOFF, M. & BERGER-BACHI, B. 2009. Effect of a glucose impulse on the CcpA regulon in Staphylococcus aureus. *Bmc Microbiology*, 9, 17.
- SEIDL, K., STUCKI, M., RUEGG, M., GOERKE, C., WOLZ, C., HARRIS, L., BERGER-BACHI, B.
 & BISCHOFF, M. 2006. Staphylococcus aureus CcpA affects virulence determinant production and antibiotic resistance. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 50, 1183-1194.
- SHADYAB, A. H. & CRUM-CIANFLONE, N. F. 2012. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) infections among HIV-infected persons in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy: a review of the literature. *Hiv Medicine*, 13, 319-332.
- SHANDS, K. N., SCHMID, G. P., DAN, B. B., BLUM, D., GUIDOTTI, R. J., HARGRETT, N. T., ANDERSON, R. L., HILL, D. L., BROOME, C. V., BAND, J. D. & FRASER, D. W. 1980. Toxic-shock syndrome in menstruating women - association with tampon use and Staphylococcus-aureus and clinical-features in 52 cases. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 303, 1436-1442.
- SHANNON, O. & FLOCK, J. I. 2004. Extracellular fibrinogen binding protein, Efb, from Staphylococcus aureus binds to platelets and inhibits platelet aggregation. *Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 91, 779-789.
- SHARP, J. A., ECHAGUE, C. G., HAIR, P. S., WARD, M. D., NYALWIDHE, J. O., GEOGHEGAN, J. A., FOSTER, T. J. & CUNNION, K. M. 2012. Staphylococcus aureus Surface Protein SdrE Binds Complement Regulator Factor H as an Immune Evasion Tactic. *Plos One*, 7, 13.
- SHATALIN, K., GUSAROV, I., AVETISSOVA, E., SHATALINA, Y., MCQUADE, L. E., LIPPARD, S. J. & NUDLER, E. 2008. Bacillus anthracis-derived nitric oxide is essential for pathogen virulence and survival in macrophages. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105, 1009-1013.
- SHATALIN, K., SHATALINA, E., MIRONOV, A. & NUDLER, E. 2011. H2S: A Universal Defense Against Antibiotics in Bacteria. *Science*, 334, 986-990.

- SHAW, L., GOLONKA, E., POTEMPA, J. & FOSTER, S. J. 2004. The role and regulation of the extracellular proteases of Staphylococcus aureus. *Microbiology-Sgm*, 150, 217-228.
- SHELLEY, E. D., SHELLEY, W. B. & TALANIN, N. Y. 1998. Chronic staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 139, 319-324.
- SHEPHEARD, M. A., FLEMING, V. M., CONNOR, T. R., CORANDER, J., FEIL, E. J., FRASER, C. & HANAGE, W. P. 2013. Historical Zoonoses and Other Changes in Host Tropism of Staphylococcus aureus, Identified by Phylogenetic Analysis of a Population Dataset. *Plos One*, 8, 9.
- SHOMPOLE, S., HENON, K. T., LIOU, L. E., DZIEWANOWSKA, K., BOHACH, G. A. & BAYLES, K. W. 2003. Biphasic intracellular expression of Staphylococcus aureus virulence factors and evidence for Agr-mediated diffusion sensing. *Molecular Microbiology*, 49, 919-927.
- SIEPRAWSKA-LUPA, M., MYDEL, P., KRAWCZYK, K., WOJCIK, K., PUKLO, M., LUPA, B., SUDER, P., SILBERRING, J., REED, M., POHL, J., SHAFER, W., MCALEESE, F., FOSTER, T., TRAVIS, J. & POTEMPA, J. 2004. Degradation of human antimicrobial peptide LL-37 by Staphylococcus aureus-derived proteinases. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 48, 4673-4679.
- SIEVERT, D. M., RUDRIK, J. T., PATEL, J. B., MCDONALD, L. C., WILKINS, M. J. & HAGEMAN, J. C. 2008. Vancomycin-resistant staphylococcus aureus in the United States, 2002-2006. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 46, 668-674.
- SINGH, V. K., VAISH, M., JOHANSSON, T. R., BAUM, K. R., RING, R. P., SINGH, S., SHUKLA, S. K. & MOSKOVITZ, J. 2015. Significance of Four Methionine Sulfoxide Reductases in Staphylococcus aureus. *Plos One*, 10, 20.
- SINGH, V. K., XIONG, A. M., USGAARD, T. R., CHAKRABARTI, S., DEORA, R., MISRA, T. K. & JAYASWAL, R. K. 1999. ZntR is an autoregulatory protein and negatively regulates the chromosomal zinc resistance operon znt of Staphylococcus aureus. *Molecular Microbiology*, 33, 200-207.
- SINHA, B., FRANCOIS, P., QUE, Y. A., HUSSAIN, M., HEILMANN, C., MOREILLON, P., LEW, D., KRAUSE, K. H., PETERS, G. & HERRMANN, M. 2000. Heterologously expressed Staphylococcus aureus fibronectin-binding proteins are sufficient for invasion of host cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 68, 6871-6878.
- SKAAR, E. P., HUMAYUN, M., BAE, T., DEBORD, K. L. & SCHNEEWIND, O. 2004. Ironsource preference of Staphylococcus aureus infections. *Science*, 305, 1626-1628.
- SMITH, T. C. 2015. Livestock-Associated Staphylococcus aureus: The United States Experience. *Plos Pathogens*, 11, 8.
- SOUTOURINA, O., DUBRAC, S., POUPEL, O., MSADEK, T. & MARTIN-VERSTRAETE, I. 2010. The Pleiotropic CymR Regulator of Staphylococcus aureus Plays an Important Role in Virulence and Stress Response. *Plos Pathogens*, 6, 13.
- SOUTOURINA, O., POUPEL, O., COPPEE, J. Y., DANCHIN, A., MSADEK, T. & MARTIN-VERSTRAETE, I. 2009. CymR, the master regulator of cysteine metabolism in Staphylococcus aureus, controls host sulphur source utilization and plays a role in biofilm formation. *Molecular Microbiology*, 73, 194-211.
- SPAAN, A. N., HENRY, T., VAN ROOIJEN, W. J. M., PERRET, M., BADIOU, C., AERTS, P. C.,
 KEMMINK, J., DE HAAS, C. J. C., VAN KESSEL, K. P. M., VANDENESCH, F., LINA, G.
 & VAN STRIJP, J. A. G. 2013a. The Staphylococcal Toxin Panton-Valentine

Leukocidin Targets Human C5a Receptors. *Cell Host & amp; Microbe,* 13, 584-594.

- SPAAN, A. N., SUREWAARD, B. G. J., NIJLAND, R. & VAN STRIJP, J. A. G. 2013b. Neutrophils Versus Staphylococcus aureus: A Biological Tug of War. In: GOTTESMAN, S. (ed.) Annual Review of Microbiology, Vol 67. Palo Alto: Annual Reviews.
- SPAHICH, N. A., VITKO, N. P., THURLOW, L. R., TEMPLE, B. & RICHARDSON, A. R. 2016. Staphylococcus aureus lactate- and malate-quinone oxidoreductases contribute to nitric oxide resistance and virulence. *Molecular Microbiology*, 100, 759-773.
- SPALDING, M. D. & PRIGGE, S. T. 2010. Lipoic Acid Metabolism in Microbial Pathogens. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 74, 200-+.
- SPINK, W. W., FERRIS, V. & VIVINO, J. J. 1944. Comparative in vitro resistance of staphylococci to penicillin and to sodium sulfathiazole. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 55, 207-210.
- STARR, C. R. & ENGLEBERG, N. C. 2006. Role of hyaluronidase in subcutaneous spread and growth of group A streptococcus. *Infection and Immunity*, 74, 40-48.
- STEINBAKK, M., NAESSANDRESEN, C. F., LINGAAS, E., DALE, I., BRANDTZAEG, P. & FAGERHOL, M. K. 1990. Antimicrobial actions of calcium-binding leukocyte L1 protein, calprotectin. *Lancet*, 336, 763-765.
- STENTZEL, S., TEUFELBERGER, A., NORDENGRUN, M., KOLATA, J., SCHMIDT, F., VAN CROMBRUGGEN, K., MICHALIK, S., KUMPFMULLER, J., TISCHER, S., SCHWEDER, T., HECKER, M., ENGELMANN, S., VOLKER, U., KRYSKO, O., BACHERT, C. & BROKER, B. M. 2017. Staphylococcal serine protease-like proteins are pacemakers of allergic airway reactions to Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 139, 492-+.
- STIPANUK, M. H. 2004. Sulfur amino acid metabolism: Pathways for production and removal of homocysteine and cysteine. *Annual Review of Nutrition,* 24, 539-577.
- STONE, S. P., FULLER, C., SAVAGE, J., COOKSON, B., HAYWARD, A., COOPER, B., DUCKWORTH, G., MICHIE, S., MURRAY, M., JEANES, A., ROBERTS, J., TEARE, L. & CHARLETT, A. 2012. Evaluation of the national Cleanyourhands campaign to reduce Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia and Clostridium difficile infection in hospitals in England and Wales by improved hand hygiene: four year, prospective, ecological, interrupted time series study. *British Medical Journal*, 344, 11.
- SUGAWARA, N., TOMITA, T. & KAMIO, Y. 1997. Assembly of Staphylococcus aureus gamma-hemolysin into a pore-forming ring-shaped complex on the surface of human erythrocytes. *Febs Letters*, 410, 333-337.
- SUN, F., JI, Q. J., JONES, M. B., DENG, X., LIANG, H. H., FRANK, B., TELSER, J., PETERSON,
 S. N., BAE, T. & HE, C. 2012. AirSR, a 2Fe-2S Cluster-Containing Two-Component
 System, Mediates Global Oxygen Sensing and Redox Signaling in
 Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 134, 305-314.
- SUREWAARD, B. G. J., DE HAAS, C. J. C., VERVOORT, F., RIGBY, K. M., DELEO, F. R., OTTO, M., VAN STRIJP, J. A. G. & NIJLAND, R. 2013. Staphylococcal alphaphenol soluble modulins contribute to neutrophil lysis after phagocytosis. *Cellular Microbiology*, 15, 1427-1437.

- SWANEY, S. M., AOKI, H., GANOZA, M. C. & SHINABARGER, D. L. 1998. The oxazolidinone linezolid inhibits initiation of protein synthesis in bacteria. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 42, 3251-3255.
- TALBOT, J. C., THIAUDIERE, E., VINCENT, M., GALLAY, J., SIFFERT, O. & DUFOURCQ, J.
 2001. Dynamics and orientation of amphipathic peptides in solution and bound to membranes: a steady-state and time-resolved fluorescence study of staphylococcal delta-toxin and its synthetic analogues. *European Biophysics Journal with Biophysics Letters*, 30, 147-161.
- TAMBER, S. & CHEUNG, A. L. 2009. SarZ Promotes the Expression of Virulence Factors and Represses Biofilm Formation by Modulating SarA and agr in Staphylococcus aureus. *Infection and Immunity*, 77, 419-428.
- TANOUS, C., SOUTOURINA, O., RAYNAL, B., HULLO, M. F., MERVELET, P., GILLES, A. M., NOIROT, P., DANCHIN, A., ENGLAND, P. & MARTIN-VERSTRAETE, I. 2008. The CymR Regulator in Complex with the Enzyme CysK Controls Cysteine Metabolism in Bacillus subtilis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283, 35551-35560.
- TAYLOR, D. & HOLLAND, K. T. 1989. Amino-acid requirements for the growth and production of some exocellular products of Staphylococcus-aureus. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*, 66, 319-329.

TAYLOR, D. E. 1999. Bacterial tellurite resistance. *Trends in Microbiology*, 7, 111-115.

- TENOVER, F. C., MCALLISTER, S., FOSHEIM, G., MCDOUGAL, L. K., CAREY, R. B., LIMBAGO, B., LONSWAY, D., PATEL, J. B., KUEHNERT, M. J. & GORWITZ, R. 2008. Characterization of Staphylococcus aureus isolates from nasal cultures collected from individuals in the United States in 2001 to 2004. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 46, 2837-2841.
- THIEL, S. 2007. Complement activating soluble pattern recognition molecules with collagen-like regions, mannan-binding lectin, ficolins and associated proteins. *Molecular Immunology*, 44, 3875-3888.
- THWAITES, G. E. & GANT, V. 2011. Are bloodstream leukocytes Trojan Horses for the metastasis of Staphylococcus aureus? *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 9, 215-222.
- TONG, S. Y. C., DAVIS, J. S., EICHENBERGER, E., HOLLAND, T. L. & FOWLER, V. G. 2015. Staphylococcus aureus Infections: Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, Clinical Manifestations, and Management. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 28, 603-661.
- TORRES, V. J., ATTIA, A. S., MASON, W. J., HOOD, M. I., CORBIN, B. D., BEASLEY, F. C., ANDERSON, K. L., STAUFF, D. L., MCDONALD, W. H., ZIMMERMAN, L. J., FRIEDMAN, D. B., HEINRICHS, D. E., DUNMAN, P. M. & SKAAR, E. P. 2010. Staphylococcus aureus Fur Regulates the Expression of Virulence Factors That Contribute to the Pathogenesis of Pneumonia. *Infection and Immunity*, 78, 1618-1628.
- TRABER, K. E., LEE, E., BENSON, S., CORRIGAN, R., CANTERA, M., SHOPSIN, B. & NOVICK, R. P. 2008. agr function in clinical Staphylococcus aureus isolates. *Microbiology-Sgm*, 154, 2265-2274.
- TUCHSCHERR, L., BISCHOFF, M., LATTAR, S. M., LLANA, M. N., PFORTNER, H., NIEMANN, S., GERACI, J., VAN DE VYVER, H., FRAUNHOLZ, M. J., CHEUNG, A. L., HERRMANN, M., VOLKER, U., SORDELLI, D. O., PETERS, G. & LOFFLER, B. 2015.

Sigma Factor SigB Is Crucial to Mediate Staphylococcus aureus Adaptation during Chronic Infections. *Plos Pathogens*, 11, 26.

- TUCHSCHERR, L. & LOFFLER, B. 2016. Staphylococcus aureus dynamically adapts global regulators and virulence factor expression in the course from acute to chronic infection. *Current Genetics*, 62, 15-17.
- TUCHSCHERR, L., MEDINA, E., HUSSAIN, M., VOLKER, W., HEITMANN, V., NIEMANN, S., HOLZINGER, D., ROTH, J., PROCTOR, R. A., BECKER, K., PETERS, G. & LOFFLER, B.
 2011. Staphylococcus aureus phenotype switching: an effective bacterial strategy to escape host immune response and establish a chronic infection. *Embo Molecular Medicine*, 3, 129-141.
- TZAGOLOFF, H. & NOVICK, R. 1977. Geometry of cell-division in Staphylococcusaureus. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 129, 343-350.
- UDEKWU, K. I. & LEVIN, B. R. 2012. Staphylococcus aureus in Continuous Culture: A Tool for the Rational Design of Antibiotic Treatment Protocols. *Plos One*, **7**, 10.
- URBAN, C. F., ERMERT, D., SCHMID, M., ABU-ABED, U., GOOSMANN, C., NACKEN, W., BRINKMANN, V., JUNGBLUT, P. R. & ZYCHLINSKY, A. 2009. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Contain Calprotectin, a Cytosolic Protein Complex Involved in Host Defense against Candida albicans. *Plos Pathogens*, 5, 18.
- UTSUI, Y. & YOKOTA, T. 1985. ROLE OF AN ALTERED PENICILLIN-BINDING PROTEIN IN METHICILLIN-RESISTANT AND CEPHEM-RESISTANT STAPHYLOCOCCUS-AUREUS. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 28, 397-403.
- VALDERAS, M. W. & HART, M. E. 2001. Identification and characterization of a second superoxide dismutase gene (sodM) from Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 183, 3399-3407.
- VALENTINO, M. D., FOULSTON, L., SADAKA, A., KOS, V. N., VILLET, R. A., MARIA, J. S., LAZINSKI, D. W., CAMILLI, A., WALKER, S., HOOPER, D. C. & GILMORE, M. S.
 2014. Genes Contributing to Staphylococcus aureus Fitness in Abscess- and Infection-Related Ecologies. *Mbio*, 5, 10.
- VALERO, A., PEREZ-RODRIGUEZ, F., CARRASCO, E., FUENTES-ALVENTOSA, J. M., GARCIA-GIMENO, R. M. & ZURERA, G. 2009. Modelling the growth boundaries of Staphylococcus aureus: Effect of temperature, pH and water activity. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 133, 186-194.
- VALEVA, A., WALEV, I., PINKERNELL, M., WALKER, B., BAYLEY, H., PALMER, M. & BHAKDI, S. 1997. Transmembrane beta-barrel of staphylococcal alpha-toxin forms in sensitive but not in resistant cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94, 11607-11611.
- VAN BELKUM, A., MELLES, D. C., NOUWEN, J., VAN LEEUWEN, W. B., VAN WAMEL, W., VOS, M. C., WERTHEIM, H. F. L. & VERBRUGH, H. A. 2009. Co-evolutionary aspects of human colonisation and infection by Staphylococcus aureus. *Infection Genetics and Evolution*, 9, 32-47.
- VAN WAMEL, W. J. B., ROOIJAKKERS, S. H. M., RUYKEN, M., VAN KESSEL, K. P. M. & VAN STRIJP, J. A. G. 2006. The innate immune modulators staphylococcal complement inhibitor and chemotaxis inhibitory protein of Staphylococcus aureus are located on beta-hemolysin-converting bacteriophages. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 188, 1310-1315.
- VANDENESCH, F., NAIMI, T., ENRIGHT, M. C., LINA, G., NIMMO, G. R., HEFFERNAN, H., LIASSINE, N., BES, M., GREENLAND, T., REVERDY, M. E. & ETIENNE, J. 2003.

Community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus carrying Panton-Valentine leukocidin genes: Worldwide emergence. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 9, 978-984.

- VASU, K. & NAGARAJA, V. 2013. Diverse Functions of Restriction-Modification Systems in Addition to Cellular Defense. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 77, 53-72.
- VAUDAUX, P., FRANCOIS, P., BISOGNANO, C., KELLEY, W. L., LEW, D. P., SCHRENZEL, J., PROCTOR, R. A., MCNAMARA, P. J., PETERS, G. & VON EIFF, C. 2002. Increased expression of clumping factor and fibronectin-binding proteins by hemB mutants of Staphylococcus aureus expressing small colony variant phenotypes. Infection and Immunity, 70, 5428-5437.
- VESGA, O., GROESCHEL, M. C., OTTEN, M. F., BRAR, D. W., VANN, J. M. & PROCTOR, R. A. 1996. Staphylococcus aureus small colony variants are induced by the endothelial cell intracellular milieu. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 173, 739-742.
- VITKO, N. P., GROSSER, M. R., KHATRI, D., LANCE, T. R. & RICHARDSON, A. R. 2016. Expanded Glucose Import Capability Affords Staphylococcus aureus Optimized Glycolytic Flux during Infection. *Mbio*, 7, 11.
- VON EIFF, C., BECKER, K., MACHKA, K., STAMMER, H., PETERS, G. & STUDY, G. 2001. Nasal carriage as a source of Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 344, 11-16.
- VON EIFF, C., HEILMANN, C., PROCTOR, R. A., WOLTZ, C., PETERS, G. & GOTZ, F. 1997. A site-directed Staphylococcus aureus hemB mutant is a small-colony variant which persists intracellularly. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 179, 4706-4712.
- WALPORT, M. J. 2001. Advances in immunology: Complement (Second of two parts). *New England Journal of Medicine*, 344, 1140-1144.
- WALSH, E. J., MIAJLOVIC, H., GORKUN, O. V. & FOSTER, T. J. 2008. Identification of the Staphylococcus aureus MSCRAMM clumping factor B (ClfB) binding site in the alpha C-domain of human fibrinogen. *Microbiology-Sgm*, 154, 550-558.
- WANG, B. Y., ZHAO, A. S., NOVICK, R. P. & MUIR, T. W. 2015. Key driving forces in the biosynthesis of autoinducing peptides required for staphylococcal virulence. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 112, 10679-10684.
- WANG, R. 2003. The gasotransmitter role of hydrogen sulfide. *Antioxidants & amp; Redox Signaling*, 5, 493-501.
- WANG, R., BRAUGHTON, K. R., KRETSCHMER, D., BACH, T. H. L., QUECK, S. Y., LI, M., KENNEDY, A. D., DORWARD, D. W., KLEBANOFF, S. J., PESCHEL, A., DELEO, F. R. & OTTO, M. 2007. Identification of novel cytolytic peptides as key virulence determinants for community-associated MRSA. *Nature Medicine*, 13, 1510-1514.
- WAXMAN, D. J. & STROMINGER, J. L. 1983. Penicillin-Binding Proteins and the Mechanism of Action of Beta-Lactam Antibiotics. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 52, 825-869.
- WEAVER, L., NOYCE, J. O., MICHELS, H. T. & KEEVIL, C. W. 2010. Potential action of copper surfaces on meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 109, 2200-2205.

- WEIDENMAIER, C., GOERKE, C. & WOLZ, C. 2012. Staphylococcus aureus determinants for nasal colonization. *Trends in Microbiology*, 20, 243-250.
- WEIDENMAIER, C., KOKAI-KUN, J. F., KULAUZOVIC, E., KOHLER, T., THUMM, G., STOLL, H., GOTZ, F. & PESCHEL, A. 2008. Differential roles of sortase-anchored surface proteins and wall teichoic acid in Staphylococcus aureus nasal colonization. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 298, 505-513.
- WERTHEIM, H. F. L., MELLES, D. C., VOS, M. C., VAN LEEUWEN, W., VAN BELKUM, A., VERBRUGH, H. A. & NOUWEN, J. L. 2005. The role of nasal carriage in Staphylococcus aureus infections. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 5, 751-762.
- WERTHEIM, H. F. L., WALSH, E., CHOUDHURRY, R., MELLES, D. C., BOELENS, H. A. M., MIAJLOVIC, H., VERBRUGH, H. A., FOSTER, T. & VAN BELKUM, A. 2008. Key role for clumping factor B in Staphylococcus aureus nasal colonization of humans. *Plos Medicine*, 5, 104-112.
- WHITEMAN, M., LE TRIONNAIRE, S., CHOPRA, M., FOX, B. & WHATMORE, J. 2011. Emerging role of hydrogen sulfide in health and disease: critical appraisal of biomarkers and pharmacological tools. *Clinical Science*, 121, 459-488.
- WILDE, A. D., SNYDER, D. J., PUTNAM, N. E., VALENTINO, M. D., HAMMER, N. D., LONERGAN, Z. R., HINGER, S. A., AYSANOA, E. E., BLANCHARD, C., DUNMAN, P. M., WASSERMAN, G. A., CHEN, J., SHOPSIN, B., GILMORE, M. S., SKAAR, E. P. & CASSAT, J. E. 2015. Bacterial Hypoxic Responses Revealed as Critical Determinants of the Host-Pathogen Outcome by TnSeq Analysis of Staphylococcus aureus Invasive Infection. *Plos Pathogens*, 11, 24.
- WILSON, D. N. 2014. Ribosome-targeting antibiotics and mechanisms of bacterial resistance. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 12, 35-48.
- WILSON, R. & COCKCROFT, W. H. 1952. The Problem of Penicillin Resistant Staphylococcal Infection. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 66, 548-551.
- WOLF, C., HOCHGRAFE, F., KUSCH, H., ALBRECHT, D., HECKER, M. & ENGELMANN, S.
 2008. Proteomic analysis of antioxidant strategies of Staphylococcus aureus: Diverse responses to different oxidants. *Proteomics*, 8, 3139-3153.
- WYLLIE, D. H., CROOK, D. W. & PETO, T. E. A. 2006. Mortality after Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia in two acute hospitals in Oxfordshire, 1997-2003: cohort study. *British Medical Journal*, 333, 281-284.
- XIE, Q. W., CHO, H. J., CALAYCAY, J., MUMFORD, R. A., SWIDEREK, K. M., LEE, T. D., DING, A. H., TROSO, T. & NATHAN, C. 1992. Cloning and characterization of inducible nitric-oxide synthase from mouse macrophages. *Science*, 256, 225-228.
- YARWOOD, J. M. & SCHLIEVERT, P. M. 2000. Oxygen and carbon dioxide regulation of toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 production by Staphylococcus aureus MN8. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 38, 1797-1803.
- YOCUM, R. R., RASMUSSEN, J. R. & STROMINGER, J. L. 1980. THE MECHANISM OF ACTION OF PENICILLIN - PENICILLIN ACYLATES THE ACTIVE-SITE OF BACILLUS-STEAROTHERMOPHILUS D-ALANINE CARBOXYPEPTIDASE. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 255, 3977-3986.
- YOSHIZAWA, S., FOURMY, D. & PUGLISI, J. D. 1998. Structural origins of gentamicin antibiotic action. *Embo Journal*, 17, 6437-6448.

- YU, D. L., PI, B. R., YU, M. H., WANG, Y. F., RUAN, Z., FENG, Y. & YU, Y. S. 2014a. Diversity and evolution of oligopeptide permease systems in staphylococcal species. *Genomics*, 104, 8-13.
- YU, F. B., HAN, X. Y. & CHEN, L. X. 2014b. Fluorescent probes for hydrogen sulfide detection and bioimaging. *Chemical Communications*, 50, 12234-12249.
- ZAPOTOCZNA, M., JEVNIKAR, Z., MIAJLOVIC, H., KOS, J. & FOSTER, T. J. 2013. Ironregulated surface determinant B (IsdB) promotes Staphylococcus aureus adherence to and internalization by non-phagocytic human cells. *Cellular Microbiology*, 15, 1026-1041.
- ZELLER, T. & KLUG, G. 2006. Thioredoxins in bacteria: functions in oxidative stress response and regulation of thioredoxin genes. *Naturwissenschaften*, 93, 259-266.
- ZIEBANDT, A. K., BECHER, D., OHLSEN, K., HACKER, J., HECKER, M. & ENGELMANN, S. 2004. The influence of agr and sigma(B) in growth phase dependent regulation of virulence factors in Staphylococcus aureus. *Proteomics*, **4**, 3034-3047.
- ZONG, Y. N., XU, Y., LIANG, X. W., KEENE, D. R., HOOK, A., GURUSIDDAPPA, S., HOOK, M. & NARAYANA, S. V. L. 2005. A 'collagen hug' model for Staphylococcus aureus CNA binding to collagen. *Embo Journal*, 24, 4224-4236.
- ZORZOLI, A., GRAYCZYK, J. P. & ALONZO, F. 2016. Staphylococcus aureus Tissue Infection During Sepsis Is Supported by Differential Use of Bacterial or Host-Derived Lipoic Acid. *Plos Pathogens*, **12**, 39.